

EMHS

Employee Health Plan Document and Summary Plan Description Effective January 1, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

YOUR MEDICAL COVERAGE	4
ELIGIBILITY AND ENROLLMENT	5
Who Is Eligible	5
Retiree Eligibility	5
Choosing your Coverage Level	7
Paying for Coverage	7
How to Enroll	8
Eligibility – Effective Dates	8
When You Can Change Coverage	8
When Coverage Ends	9
Rescissions	10
HOW THE MEDICAL PLAN WORKS	
Receiving Your Care	10
What to Consider When Selecting Your Plan Option	11
Identification Cards	11
Terms You Should Know	12
HRA CONTRIBUTION(S)	12
QUALIFYING RELIGIOUS ORGANIZATIONS	13
SUMMARY OF COVERED SERVICES	13
A CLOSER LOOK AT COVERED SERVICES	14
More About Prescription Drug Coverage	14
Copay Levels	14
Participating Retail Pharmacies	15
How Preventive Care is Covered	15
MORE ABOUT THE TWO MEDICAL OPTIONS	16
How the Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) Works	17
How Claims are Paid	
Prior Authorization/Pre-Certification	18
COVERED EXPENSES	19
COORDINATION OF BENEFITS (COB)	31
Recovery of Payments	32
HOW TO FILE A CLAIM	32
When You Receive Care from an Out-of-Network Provider	32

If Your Claim is Denied	32
WHAT'S NOT COVERED	33
PLAN ADMINISTRATION	39
Administration Information	39
Plan Year	39
Plan Identification Numbers	40
Plan Sponsor and Administrator	40
Agent for the Service of Legal Process	40
Plan Insurance and Funding	40
Plan Documents	40
Future of the Plan	41
Subrogation and Reimbursement of Claims	41
Limitations on Assignment	41
Payment of Administrative Expenses	41
YOUR COBRA RIGHTS	41
About COBRA Coverage	41
Notification of COBRA Rights	42
Electing and Paying for COBRA Coverage	43
Cost	43
When COBRA Ends	44
Initial COBRA Notice	45
WOMEN'S HEALTH AND CANCER RIGHTS ACT OF 1998	48
STATEMENT OF RIGHTS UNDER THE NEWBORNS'	
AND MOTHERS' HEALTH PROTECTION ACT	49
MEDICAL COVERAGE WHILE ON LEAVE	49
Coverage Under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA)	49
Coverage Under USERRA	50
COORDINATION WITH MEDICARE	50
QUALIFIED MEDICAL CHILD SUPPORT ORDER (QMCSOS)	51
COMPLIANCE WITH HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNT- ABILITY ACT (HIPAA) PRIVACY AND SECURITY REGULATIONS	51
Special Enrollment Period	
HIPAA Certificate of Creditable Coverage	
· ··· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Permitted Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information	53
Premium Assistance Under Medicaid & the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)	54
YOUR RIGHT TO APPEAL CLAIMS	
YOUR ERISA RIGHTS	57
Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits	57
Continue Group Medical Plan Coverage	57
Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries	58
Enforce Your Rights	58
Assistance with Your Questions	58
KEY BENEFIT INFORMATION	EXHIBIT A
PLAN HIGHLIGHTS	EXHIBIT B
PREVENTIVE HEALTH COVERAGE PRIOR AUTHORIZATION LIST PRECERTIFICATION LIST AFFORDABLE CARE ACT POLICY CLAIMS PROCESS AND APPEALS PROCEDURE (MEDICAL) CLAIMS APPEALS PROCEDURE (PHARMACY)	EXHIBIT DEXHIBIT EEXHIBIT FEXHIBIT G

YOUR MEDICAL COVERAGE

Many employees consider health care coverage to be one of their most valuable benefits. To help ensure you have the type of medical care coverage best suited to your needs, EMHS gives you the choice of two medical options.

This booklet, called a summary plan description or "SPD", for short, describes how the medical options work and explains your rights if you enroll in one of these options. It also serves as the plan document that governs the administration of the EMHS Employee Health Plan (the "Plan"). The Plan's third party administrator (TPA) is Beacon Direct ("Beacon"). The Plan/TPA may engage service providers for certain services as noted in the table below.

WHERE TO FIND MORE INFORMATION

For Information About Go to ...

Covered services Call Customer Service at 1-855-429-1023

Prescription drug benefits Call the Geisinger Pharmacy Customer Service

department at 1-800-988-4861

In-network and preferred pharmacies Log onto www.thehealthplan.com/EMHS. Click **FIND**

on the left navigational bar to search for participating

pharmacies.

Mail order Pharmacy https://millerdrug.com/Pharmacy/EMHS-

Employees.aspx or (800)-639-8801

Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) Call Connect Your Care Customer Service at 1-877-

292-4040

Online access to your current HRA fund balance, past transactions and claim

status

Visit www.connectyourcare.com

- Click **New User**
- Enter required information, making sure to select button next to "my account does not have a payment card associated with it"
- Click Submit Information
- Create user account and password
- Select Submit

To establish your EMHS Employee Health Plan member account

Visit EMHSemployeehealthplan.org

- Under the "Members" drop down box, click Login for Portal and then navigate down the page to click on **Member Login**
- Click on the Click Here to Register button
- Click I am a Member
- Review Terms and Conditions and agree
- Enter the required information -- first name, last name, date of birth, and member ID number (from your member ID card)
- Enter user account information (usernáme, password, email, etc.)
- Log in

In-network and preferred providers

Visit EMHSemployeehealthplan.org

- Once logged into your member account, navigate to the "Tools and Resources" menu Click "Provider Directory Search"

Benefit Strategies COBRA Administrator

www.benstrat.com/participants_cobra.php and 1-888-

401-3539

Wellness Services EMHS HR Service Center

(207) 973-4000 / (855) 660-0202 or

hrservicecenter@emhs.org

EMHS HR Service Center – for general benefits and human resources related questions

(207) 973-4000 / (855) 660-0202 or hrservicecenter@emhs.org

ELIGIBILITY AND ENROLLMENT

Who Is Eligible

You are generally eligible to participate in the Plan if you are a regular full-time or regular parttime employee of an EMHS member organization that has elected to participate in the Plan. Further, you are eligible to participate in the Plan if you are considered an Affordable Care Act full-time employee ("ACA FT Employee") under EMHS System Policy #17-025, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit F.

For purposes of this SPD, the term "EMHS employee" refers to all employees of an EMHS member organization who have elected to participate in this Plan. In addition, certain retirees may be eligible to continue participating in the Plan upon retirement.

Retiree Eligibility: In order to be eligible for continued coverage under this Plan, a retiree must meet each of the following requirements:

1. Must be under age 65 and not eligible for Medicare;

- 2. Must have retired with a benefit under the Eastern Maine Medical Center Retirement Partnership Plan (formerly the Eastern Maine Medical Center Pension Plan) and have retired with at least fifteen (15) credited years of service at or after age fifty-five (55); and
- Must enter such retirement status directly from an active employment status with Eastern Maine Medical Center or a member organization participating in the EMHS Retirement Partnership Plan, excluding CA Dean and Blue Hill Memorial Hospital; and
- 4. Must be, on the day prior to the retirement effective date, enrolled in one (1) of the options sponsored by the EMHS Employee Health Plan; and
- 5. Must agree to pay any applicable premiums, as required; and
- 6. Must have a date of hire prior to January 1, 2005 with no break in service after January 1, 2005. Employer initiated transfers do not impact eligibility.

Retirees and dependents that are covered under the Plan are eligible to continue coverage under the EMHS Retiree Medical Plan ("the Retiree Plan") when they become eligible for Medicare. Such participants are required to enroll in Medicare Part A and Medicare Part B in order to participate in the Retiree Plan.

The Plan will be primary for retirees and their dependents until a retiree or retiree's dependent obtains Medicare; at which time the Retiree Medical Plan will pay secondary to Medicare.

Should a retiree, enrolled under the continuation provisions noted above, opt to terminate from this Plan, such enrollee and his/her dependents will be eligible for COBRA coverage under the applicable provisions of the law. Cancellation of coverage will result in loss of future eligibility under the Retiree Plan.

Eligible Dependents

You may enroll your eligible dependents. Your eligible dependents include:

Your legal spouse or domestic partner (both legal spouse and domestic partner can be either same-sex or opposite-sex).

A domestic partner must complete the EMHS affidavit and policy and provide proof of financial interdependency. In this document, the terms "spouse" and "domestic partner" mean the same thing for purposes of access to coverage. Please note, however, that a domestic partner is <u>not</u> eligible for COBRA continuation coverage.

Your child who has not attained age 26 OR who has attained age 26 but is incapable of self-sustaining employment because of a documented mental or physical handicap that began before the child reached age 26. (You must submit documentation of the child's handicap no later than 31 days after your child turns age 26).

A child of your domestic partner (if no coverage is available elsewhere) who has not attained age 26 OR who has attained age 26 but is incapable of self-sustaining employment because of a documented mental or physical handicap that began before the child reached age 26. (You

must submit documentation of the child's handicap no later than 31 days after your child turns age 26).

For purposes of this document, the definition of "child" means an adopted child, stepchild and any child placed in your home by state or other authority for legal adoption or for whom you have legal guardianship.

Choosing Your Coverage Level

When you enroll, you must decide whom you want to cover. You may choose from four coverage levels:

Employee only.
Employee plus spouse or domestic partner.
Employee plus child(ren) or
Family (which covers you, your spouse or domestic partner and your eligible child(ren)

No one may be considered a child of more than one employee; therefore, if your spouse or domestic partner works at an EMHS member organization, only one of you may cover your child(ren) under the Plan and you may not cover each other.

Paying for Coverage

EMHS pays a portion of the cost for your medical coverage but may ask that you share in the cost as well. If applicable, your share of the contribution is automatically deducted from your paycheck each pay period. Your contribution is generally made on a pre-tax basis (see "If You Are a New Hire" for post-tax option for new hires). This means that the amount of your contribution is deducted before federal, state income taxes, and Social Security taxes are withheld. This lowers your taxable income, which, in turn, lowers the amount you pay in taxes. The bottom line is that pre-tax contributions lower your overall cost of coverage.

Payments are initiated on the first paycheck in which coverage begins and will stop on the last paycheck of the month in which your coverage ends.

Should you not have sufficient pay to cover your premiums in a pay check; EMHS will collect your payments from future paychecks automatically through its payroll/HRIS software.

You should be aware that the IRS imposes certain tax requirements when you elect coverage for a domestic partner and his or her eligible children (who are not dependents for tax purposes). You should consult your tax advisor for details.

For more information, including information on the enrollment process, please contact the EMHS HR Service Center at (207) 973-4000 or (855) 660-0202.

In the event it is determined that the Plan incorrectly calculated the amount of premium payments that you should have paid, the Plan retains the right to seek reimbursement from you for the full amount of the missed premiums.

If you are an eligible retiree, you are not eligible to pay for coverage on a pre-tax basis,

but you are responsible for remitting timely payment of premiums on a monthly basis.

How to Enroll

If You Are an Existing Employee. Each year, during open enrollment, you will receive information about your benefits and the cost of medical coverage. At that point, you will decide whether you would like to make a new enrollment decision for the upcoming calendar year. If so, your election takes effect on January 1 of the next calendar year. Due to federal tax regulations, your election must remain in effect for the entire year, unless you have a "qualified status change" during the year, such as marriage or the birth of a child. If you experience a qualified status change, you may be eligible to make changes consistent with the qualified status change. See When You Can Change Coverage for more details. If you are enrolled in the Plan and do not make an election during open enrollment, your current coverage will automatically continue into the new calendar year (subject to change with notification).

If You Are a New Hire. When you begin employment, you will attend an orientation session, have the opportunity to learn more about your benefits, and receive information about how to enroll. As a newly hired employee, in order to pay your premiums on a pre-tax basis, you must make an enrollment election no later than 31 days after your date of hire. Once you complete the enrollment process, you will participate in the Plan on the first day of the month following your date of hire, or on the first day of the month if your date of hire is coincident with the first of that month. If you miss the 31 day deadline, you may make a post-tax election to enroll; however, PLEASE NOTE that the post-tax election is ONLY available until the next open enrollment at which time you will need to make a pre-tax election. The post-tax election, if any, will take place the first day of the month following the election or on the first day of the month if your date of election is coincident with the first of that month. Your next opportunity to enroll pre-tax will occur during open enrollment (held each year). You may also qualify to enroll during a special enrollment period described under the *Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Notice*.

If you are a Covered Retiree. Annual enrollment occurs during the fall each year. You may change coverage elections during that time.

Eligibility – Effective Dates

You will generally become eligible for coverage on the first day of the month following your date of hire, on the first day of the month following the day on which you became eligible for coverage, or on the first day of the month if your date of hire or the day on which you became eligible for coverage is coincident with the first of that month.

When You Can Change Coverage

If you have a "qualified status change" during the year, you can make certain changes consistent with the qualified status change that takes into account some of the more common life events including, but not limited to:

Marriage, divorce, le	egal separa	tion or ann	ulment
Newly-eligible dome	stic partner		

Birth, legal adoption, legal guardianship, or placement of foster or stepchildren (by competent legal authority)
Death of your spouse, domestic partner or child, or dissolution of a domestic partner relationship
An employment status change for the employee that specifically triggers eligibility for the Plan (moving from a non-benefit eligible position to a benefit eligible position)
A change in coverage under another employer's plan (loss of coverage or receipt of new coverage – including open enrollment) (not applicable to domestic partner coverage)
Loss of eligibility for a dependent due to turning age 26
A significant change in the employee's required medical premium (a significant change means a change of 10% or more)
Commencement of or return from a qualified leave of absence (FMLA) or leave of absence
A judgment, decree or order in a domestic relations proceeding, including a Qualified Medical Child Support Order, requiring health coverage be provided to a child
The employee/spouse/domestic partner/child is permitted to make a special enrollment in a medical or health care plan
Receipt of or loss of Medicare/Medicaid

Important Note: All changes must be consistent with your qualified status change and you must show proof of the qualified status change (marriage certificate, birth certificate, death certificate or divorce decree). Please contact the HR Service Center for further information. If you have a qualified status change and want to make a consistent change to your benefit elections, you must make the change no later than 31 days after the change; provided, however, that in the case of birth or adoption, you will have 90 days from the date of birth of adoption to make a consistent change to your benefit elections. Changes to your Plan due to a qualified status change will, in most cases (the exception being births and adoptions), become effective on the first of the month following the qualified status change and submission of the qualified status change form to the HR Service Center or on the first of the month if your qualified status change and paperwork submission coincides with the first of the month. All premium changes will be effective in your first paycheck following the start of your benefit(s) on the first of the month following the qualified status change or on the first of the month if your qualified status change coincides with the first of the month. If your change is processed retroactively, any missed premiums will be collected from future paychecks. To make an election, you must contact the HR Service Center and complete the appropriate paperwork.

Otherwise, you will have to wait until the next open enrollment, which occurs each year, to change your benefit elections and your elections will be effective on January 1 of the following year.

When Coverage Ends

	rally, your medical coverage ends at the end of the month in which your employment Coverage may also end for other reasons, such as:
	You are no longer eligible to participate in the benefits program
	EMHS terminates the plan
	You die
	You voluntarily participate in an organized work stoppage (strike) against your company. If so, your coverage will end due to a reduction of hours because of your participation in the strike. However, you may be eligible for COBRA
	EMHS terminates all dependent coverage under a plan
	Your child, spouse, or domestic partner becomes covered on the Plan as an employee
	Your dependent is no longer eligible for benefits
	You fail to make any required contributions (EMHS reserves the right to collect unpaid premiums for active and terminated employees)

You may be able to continue medical coverage through the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA). Refer to the *Your COBRA Rights* section of this document. You may also be able to continue coverage if you are on an approved Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) leave or are on military leave.

Rescissions

Your coverage may not be rescinded (retroactively terminated) unless: (1) the plan sponsor or an individual (or a person seeking coverage on behalf of the individual) performs an act, practice or omission that constitutes fraud; or (2) the plan sponsor or individual (or a person seeking coverage on behalf of the individual) makes an intentional misrepresentation of material fact.

HOW THE MEDICAL PLAN WORKS

☐ Your coverage terminates or

Your dependent dies

You can elect to participate in either of the two medical plan options: Base and Buy-up options. Both options are offered through the EMHS Employee Health Plan.

Both plans cover the same range of health services and supplies, including office visits, hospitalization, emergency care, mental health services, substance use disorder treatment, preventive care and prescription drugs. Please refer to Exhibit B for coverage details.

Receiving Your Care

Under both medical plan options, you are free to receive your care from the provider of your choice. Both medical plan options consist of the same network of health care providers, including doctors, hospitals, laboratories and other health care facilities in your area.

Each plan provides three tiers of provider coverage: preferred, in-network, and out-of-network.

These three tiers provide you the freedom to see any qualified provider you wish. The following is a description of the differences between the three tiers: Preferred refers to providers whose services are rendered and billed by any facility or provider listed as preferred on the online provider directory maintained by Beacon. When you use *preferred* providers, you receive the highest level of benefits and you will not have to file claims. ☐ *In-network* refers to providers who are listed as in-network on the online provider directory maintained by Beacon. When you use in-network providers, you receive the next highest level of benefits and again, you will not have to file claims. □ **Out-of-network** refers to providers who are not preferred or in-network. When you use out-of-network providers, you receive the lowest level of benefits. Your out-of-pocket costs will be higher because your cost is based on reasonable and customary charges (not negotiated rates) and you may be balance billed for charges above reasonable and customary. In addition, you may have to file claims for reimbursement. To receive coverage at the in-network benefit level under this Plan for care outside of the EMHS service area, you or your provider must call the number on the back of your medical plan's ID card to request authorization for out-of-network provider coverage. If you obtain a pre-certification from the Plan for services provided by an out-of-network provider, benefits for those services will be covered at the in-network benefit level. Refer to the Prior Authorization (Exhibit D)/Pre-Certification (Exhibit E) section of this document for more information. Please refer back to "Where to Find More Information" at the beginning of this booklet for information on locating preferred and in-network providers. What to Consider When Selecting Your Plan Option Each option varies in the amount you pay in your payroll contributions. As you evaluate each option, take into account: ☐ The amount of the annual deductible (what you pay before the Plan pays benefits). The coinsurance (your share of the cost when you receive care). In particular, consider the services you and your family typically use most often — whether it is preventive care, routine care requiring office visits or inpatient care to address ongoing or chronic treatment. Whether or not you expect to receive care from a provider that is listed on the online provider directory maintained by Beacon. Under both medical plan options, benefits are the most generous when you receive care from a preferred provider.

Identification Cards

Shortly after enrollment, you will receive a health plan ID card from Beacon and a prescription plan ID card from Geisinger. Your ID card will have your name on it. In addition, your ID number and the customer service phone number will be listed. When you visit your provider, be sure to present your member identification card. That way, your provider will have all the

information needed to file your claim.

Terms You Should Know

Coinsurance means the percentage of covered expenses that you are required to pay under this Plan after you have met your deductible.
Copayment is the flat dollar amount that covers prescription drug costs (usually collected at the time you fill your prescription) or certain office visits as stated in this SPD.
Deductible is the amount you pay first before your Plan begins to share expenses. Prescription drug costs and office visit copays do not apply toward satisfying the Plan deductible.
Deductible Gap is the amount you pay after your HRA helps you meet your annual deductible. This would be the "gap" between the HRA and the full deductible.
Preferred refers to providers whose services are rendered and billed by any facility or provider listed as preferred on the online provider directory maintained by Beacon. When you use preferred providers, you receive the highest level of benefits and you will not have to file claims.
In-network refers to providers who are listed as in-network on the online provider directory maintained by Beacon. When you use in-network providers, you receive the next highest level of benefits and again, you will not have to file claims.
Out-of-network refers to providers who are not preferred or in-network. When you use out-of-network providers, you receive the lowest level of benefits. Your out-of-pocket costs will be higher because your cost is based on reasonable and customary charges (not negotiated rates) and you may be balance billed for charges above reasonable and customary. In addition, you may have to file claims for reimbursement.
Out-of-Pocket Maximum is the most you will pay each year (including your deductible, coinsurance and copay amounts and net of your HRA balance). All Plan deductibles and out-of-pocket amounts, benefit maximums and service-specific maximums will cross-accumulate among preferred, in- network and out-of-network services, unless otherwise noted. Note: Prescription drug costs and office visit copays do not apply to deductible, but do apply to out-of-pocket maximum.
Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) is the employer funded account used to help pay for covered services. The HRA will be applied towards the Plan deductible and out-of-pocket maximum. HRA dollars cannot be used to pay prescription drug copayments. There are three components of the HRA:

<u>Foundational HRA Contribution</u>: This employer contribution will be added to your HRA on the first day of your medical coverage. No employee action is required.

<u>HRA Supplement Contribution</u>: This employer contribution is provided to full-time and part-time employees whose EMHS wages are at or below 250% of the Federal Poverty

level (https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/federal-poverty-level-FPL/). No employee action is required.

Preferred PCP Contribution: Employees and spouses/domestic partners covered by the EMHS Employee Health Plan can obtain an additional Preferred Primary Care Provider (PCP) HRA contribution when they attest to being established with or having scheduled a new patient appointment with a Preferred PCP. Preferred PCPs are part of EMHS Member Organizations (Blue Hill Memorial Hospital, CA Dean Memorial Hospital, Eastern Maine Medical Center, Inland Hospital, Maine Cost Memorial Hospital, Mercy Hospital, Sebasticook Valley Health, and TAMC) and additional select primary care partners. Exceptions apply based on distance from preferred PCP locations and access limitations. Visit the EMHS Benefits Portal at benefits.emh.org on the EMHS intranet for a complete list of Preferred PCPs, exceptions, and the link to submit your online attestation.

Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) Contribution			
	Total Foundational HRA Contribution (automatic)	Total with Preferred PCP Contribution Additional \$500/\$1000 (action required)	
Employee Only	\$500	\$1,000	
Employee & Spouse/Domestic	\$1,000	\$1,500 (employee OR spouse/DP attests)	
Partner or Full Family	\$1,000	\$2000 (BOTH employee AND spouse/DP attest)	
Employee & Children	\$1,500	\$2,000 (employee attests)	
HRA Supplement Program for employees earning \$14.50 or less per hour			
	Total Foundational HRA Contribution (automatic)	Total with Preferred PCP Contribution Additional \$500/\$1000 (action required)	
Employee Only	\$1,100	\$1,600	
Employee & Spouse/Domestic	\$2.200	\$2,700 (employee OR spouse/DP attests)	
	\$2,200	¢2 200 / /- / / / /	
Partner or Full Family		\$3,200 (BOTH employee AND spouse/DP attest)	

Qualifying Religious Organizations (Mercy Hospital)

In keeping with its status as a Qualifying Religious Organization as provided under the Affordable Care Act (ACA) safe harbor provisions, and in keeping with the Ethical and Religious Directives for Catholic Health Care Services (ERD), Mercy Hospital claims exemption from the Act's mandate to provide contraceptive services to its covered employees and dependents. All other preventive services will be provided in accordance with the provisions of the ACA. Covered employees and dependents may access contraceptive services, as mandated by the ACA, by contacting Beacon. These contraceptive services are not covered or funded by Mercy Hospital.

SUMMARY OF COVERED SERVICES

Exhibits B and C at the end of this SPD shows how each medical plan option covers available services. For more details about certain services — such as prescription drug coverage and preventive care — refer to the section called *A Closer Look at Covered Services*.

A CLOSER LOOK AT COVERED SERVICES

More About Prescription Drug Coverage

All of the Plan options include prescription drug coverage. Under all the options, you pay a copayment each time you fill a prescription. The amount of your copayment varies depending on whether you select a Tier 1 (generic brand), Tier 2 (preferred brand) or Tier 3 (non-preferred brand) drug. The Plan also provides a Tier 0 (zero copay) in order to remove financial barriers for certain generic prescription drugs and medical supplies. A searchable directory of covered prescription drugs is located on Geisinger's website.

- ☐ **Tier 0 (copay waiver drugs)** are Zero Copay Drugs that are available for certain generic prescription drugs and durable medical equipment (DME) supplies to members for the following chronic conditions without a prescription drug copay/member cost share:
 - Coronary Artery Disease
- Diabetes

Depression

- Hypertension
- **Tier 1 (generic drugs)** are labeled with the medication's basic chemical name and usually have a brand-name equivalent. The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) require that generic drugs have the same active chemical composition, same potency and be offered in the same form as their brand-name equivalents. Generic drugs must meet the same FDA standards as brand-name drugs and are tested and certified by the FDA to be as effective as their brand-name counterparts.
- ☐ **Tier 2 (preferred brands)** generally have no generic equivalent but includes a few select generic drugs. You are covered for these medications at the preferred brand copayment under this benefit.
- ☐ **Tier 3 (non-preferred brands)** are brand-name drugs that generally either have equally effective and less costly generic equivalents and/or one or more preferred brand (second-tier) options. They also include drugs that are designated as non-preferred.

Copay Levels

Each plan maintains three levels of copay: preferred, in-network and zero copay drugs. These three levels provide you the ability to obtain your prescriptions from any participating pharmacy. The following is a description of the differences between the three tiers:

- □ **Preferred** refers to Miller Drug and pharmacies participating at the preferred level. When you use **preferred** pharmacies, you receive the highest level of benefits and you will not have to file claims. Miller locations may be found on www.millerdrug.com,
- ☐ **In-network** refers to any participating pharmacy not on the preferred level. When you use *in-network* pharmacies, you receive the next highest level of benefits and, again,

you will not have to file claims. An online directory of participating pharmacies in the state of Maine is maintained by Geisinger.

Participating Retail Pharmacies

Thirty-day (or less) Supplies Thirty-day supplies at the preferred level are available through the EMHS pharmacy, Miller Drug, and selected pharmacies outside the Bangor and Portland areas. Thirty-day supplies or less are also available the higher in-network copays at participating in-network pharmacies across Maine and the rest of the country.
31 Day to 90 Day Supplies: You must fill your supplies through Miller Drug, either by walk-in or mail order. If you reside outside the state of Maine, you may obtain your 31 day to 90 day supply through a participating in-network pharmacy.
Maintenance Drugs: Maintenance drugs are those taken routinely, often for a chronic condition. You may fill up to two 30-day supplies of a maintenance drug at your participating preferred or in-network pharmacy. All following prescriptions must be filled through Miller Drug, either by mail order or by visiting one of the Miller locations.
Specialty Drugs: Specialty drugs are those drugs, such as injectables, that are listed as specialty drugs on the online specialty drug list maintained by Beacon and Geisinger. Your access to specialty drugs is through Miller Drug. If Miller Drug does not stock the specialty drug, they will arrange for you to obtain alternative access. Most specialty drugs are limited to a maximum of 34-day supply.
An online directory of participating pharmacies in the state of Maine is maintained by Geisinger. Outside of the state of Maine, members may contact Geisinger on the telephone number on the back of their prescription ID card or visit a MedImpact participating pharmacy to fill their prescriptions at the in-network level.

Coverage for certain prescription drugs and related supplies requires your provider to obtain authorization prior to prescribing. Step therapy encourages the use of cost-effective therapeutically appropriate medications before other more costly prescription medication options are considered.

The EMHS Employee Health Plan requires participants to obtain certain ongoing infusion drugs from a **Designated Infusion Network** (Network). This Network includes EMHS preferred facilities. These infusion drugs are listed on the EMHS Employee Health Plan Prior Authorization List (List). Specific injectable codes are enumerated on the List (Exhibit D) as a) needing prior authorization and b) covered only at preferred facilities. If you choose to go to non-preferred facility, the drugs will be process as non-covered (See section entitled "What's Not Covered").

Important Note: Certain expenses are excluded from payment under this Plan. They are listed under the section entitled *What's Not Covered*.

How Preventive Care Is Covered

Both plan options cover the same preventive care services without cost sharing when
the care is provided preferred or in-network. Preventive care services provided out-of
network are subject to cost sharing.

Preventive care services generally include:

Routine well exams
 Well-child visits and immunizations
 Well-woman exams
 Colonoscopies
 Mammograms
 Prostate Specific Antigens (PSA) exams

Refer to Exhibit C, Preventive Health Coverage for a complete listing of preventive health services.

MORE ABOUT THE TWO MEDICAL PLAN OPTIONS

Both plan choices offer an employer-funded Health Reimbursement Account (HRA). Here are some key features of the plan options:

Preventive care is covered at 100% when it is provided preferred or in-network. Preventive care is covered subject to deductible and 50% coinsurance if provided out-of-network.
You must pay the cost of all other covered services, up to the amount of the annual deductible.
The HRA is applied toward your annual deductible. After you meet your annual deductible, any remaining amounts in your HRA will be applied towards the coinsurance on covered expenses (i.e., the coinsurance for most services is 20% preferred, 30% innetwork or 50% out-of-network).
Once you reach your annual out-of-pocket maximum, the Plan pays 100% of any additional covered expenses for the rest of the calendar year (100% of the <u>allowed amount</u> only when services are rendered by an out-of-network provider – See Exhibit B).
If you do not use all the money in your account, the balance will roll over to the next plan year (total HRA maximum is \$5,500 for an individual or \$11,000 for a family)
Your office visit copays for primary care office visits and preferred OB/GYN office visits will be paid through your HRA. If you do not have sufficient funds in your HRA, you will receive a bill from your provider. Office visit copays DO NOT apply to your deductible.

How the Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) Works

HRA

- EMHS funds the account
- This account is applied toward your annual deductible and coinsurance
- If you don't use it, you can save it for future years (to the maximum allowed)

Preventive Care

100% covered if provided preferred or in-network

All Other Services (Excluding Prescriptions and Office Visit Copays)

You pay the full cost up to the amount of your annual deductible (using HRA dollars if applicable).

Cost Sharing (co-insurance)

Once you meet your annual deductible, you and the Plan share the cost of expenses until you reach the out-of-pocket maximum.

Out-of-Pocket Maximum

Once your expenses (including your annual deductible) reach this amount, the Plan pays 100% of eligible expenses for the rest of the calendar year.

- □ When you incur an eligible medical expense, your HRA is available to pay 100% of the cost up to the annual account limit. Any funds remaining at the end of the year will roll over to next year's HRA. The maximum amount you can have in your HRA is \$5,500 for an individual or \$11,000 for a family. Over time, you can accumulate significant savings that can be used to help pay for future qualified medical expenses.
- □ This benefit is not portable, so you will not be able to take the value of your account with you when you terminate your employment at EMHS. Eligible retired employees and their dependents participating in the Plan will retain benefits under the HRA. There is no benefit under the Retiree Plan.

How Claims Are Paid

A preferred or in-network provider will not collect any money from you at the time of your office visit. Instead, your provider sends the claim directly to Beacon. Beacon maintains online access to your past transactions and claim status through its member website.

Beacon will process the claim and send you an Explanation of Benefits (EOB) that will tell you:

If the Plan covers the services you received; and if so
What part of the covered services the Plan pays.

	If you have not met your deductible or the expense is not covered, the EOB will tell you how much you may owe your provider.			
	If there are dollars in your HRA, they are used to pay your provider directly for eligible expenses. Your provider will receive an Explanation of Payment (EOP) that will confirm payment. You can log in to your account at connectyourcare.com or contact Connect Your Care at 1-833-799-1781 for information about your balance and payments made to providers.			
	If there are not enough dollars remaining in your HRA, or the expense is not eligible for payment from the fund, you will receive an EOB that explains your responsibility for payment. You can log in to your account or contact Connect Your Care to stay up to date on your balance.			
	If you receive a bill from your provider, make sure the claim has been sent to Beacon and routed through your HRA before you pay the bill. You can do this by:			
	 Checking your fund activity online through Connect Your Care. 			
	 Calling Member Services at the toll-free number on your ID card to find out the status of your claim. 			
Prior	Authorization/Pre-Certification			
The terms "prior authorization" and "pre-certification" means the approval from the Plan's medical management review process prior to services being rendered in order for certain services and benefits to be covered under this Plan.				
	Prior Authorization (provider responsibility): It is the responsibility of your provider or the facility in which you will be receiving care to receive prior authorization for the following services:			
	o Inpatient hospital stays;			
	 Inpatient services at any other participating health care facility; 			
	 Residential treatment; 			
	 Intensive outpatient programs; 			
	 Nonemergency ambulance; or 			
	o Transplant services			
	A complete listing of required prior authorization for your provider's review is located on the Provider online service center and in Appendix D of this document.			
	Pre-Certification (member responsibility): A member is responsible when he or she receives services from an Out-of-Network provider or facility should a precertification not be obtained. This will occur either (a) when a precertification has been requested by a provider or facility and been denied or (b) when a member obtains services without			

going through the precertification process. Failure to do so will result in the member being responsible for 100% of the cost without co-insurance and the cost going towards the member's deductible or out-of-pocket. Should you have any question as to whether you have received a precertification, you should contact Beacon's Member Services through the telephone number on the back of the member's identification card.

COVERED EXPENSES

The term "covered expenses" refers to charges for services or supplies that are recommended by a provider and are deemed medically necessary by a Plan Medical Director. They include: Charges by a hospital for bed and board and other necessary services and supplies. □ Charges for licensed ambulance service to or from the nearest hospital where the needed medical care can be provided. Charges by a hospital for medical care and treatment received as an outpatient. Charges by a freestanding surgical facility for medical care and treatment. Charges by another health care facility (including a skilled nursing facility, a rehabilitation hospital, or a subacute facility) for medical care and treatment. Charges for services that are custodial in nature (e.g., basic non-medical needs such as bathing and eating) are not covered (regardless of where they are provided). Charges for emergency services and urgent care. Charges by a physician or a psychologist for professional services. Charges for eVisits at the preferred and in-network levels. Charges for anesthetics and their administration. Diagnostic x-ray and laboratory examinations; x-ray, radium, and radioactive isotope treatment; chemotherapy. Blood transfusions; and oxygen and other gases and their administration. □ Charges for a mammogram at any age for women at risk, when recommended by a physician. □ For plan members other than employees of Mercy Hospital and their covered dependents: Charges for appropriate counseling and medical services connected with surgical sterilization therapies, including vasectomy and tubal ligation. Charges for laboratory services, radiation therapy, and other diagnostic and therapeutic radiological procedures. □ For plan members other than employees of Mercy Hospital and their covered dependents: Charges for family planning, including medical history; physical exam; related laboratory tests; medical supervision in accordance with generally accepted

medical practice; other medical services, information, and counseling on contraception; and implanted/injected contraceptives. Implanted/injected contraceptive covered only in

conjunction with an office visit.				
For covered employees of Mercy Hospital and their dependents only: Charges for family planning, including medical history; physical exam; related laboratory tests; medical supervision in accordance with generally accepted medical practice.				
For plan members other than employees of Mercy Hospital and their dependents: Charges for medically necessary abortions.				
Charges for routine preventive care at the preferred, in-network and out-of-network levels, which includes well-child care, health care assessments, preventive care visits, immunizations and any related services.				
Charges by an ophthalmologist or optometrist for one complete routine eye examination each calendar year.				
Charges for one childbirth class per lifetime, documentation of completion required.				
Charges for lactation consultations after childbirth.				
Rental charges for or purchase of a breast pump. Refer to plan highlights for lifetime maximum.				
Hair prostheses (wigs) when prescribed by a physician for a patient who suffers hair loss as a result of disease.				
Charges for medical and surgical services for the treatment or control of clinically severe (morbid) obesity, if the services are demonstrated, through existing, peer-reviewed, evidence-based, scientific literature and scientifically based guidelines, to be safe and effective for the treatment or control of the condition.				
Orthognathic surgery to repair or correct a severe facial deformity or disfigurement that orthodontics alone cannot correct, provided:				
 The deformity or disfigurement is accompanied by a documented, clinically significant, functional impairment, and there is a reasonable expectation that the procedure will result in meaningful functional improvement; or 				
 The orthognathic surgery is medically necessary as a result of tumor, trauma, disease or; 				
 The orthognathic surgery is performed prior to a person attaining age 19 and is required because of severe congenital facial deformity or congenital condition. 				
 Repeat or subsequent orthognathic surgeries for the same condition are covered only when the previous orthognathic surgery met the above requirements, and there is a high probability of significant additional improvement as determined by a Health Plan Medical Director. 				
Clinical Trials - Charges made for patient services associated with cancer clinical trials approved and sponsored by the federal government in accordance to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA).				

□ **Genetic Testing -** Charges made for genetic testing that uses a proven testing method

for the identification of genetically linked inheritable disease. Genetic testing is covered only if:

- A person has symptoms or signs of a genetically-linked inheritable disease;
- It has been determined that a person is at risk for carrier status as supported by existing, peer-reviewed, evidence based, scientific literature for the development of a genetically-linked inheritable disease when the results will impact clinical outcome; or
- The therapeutic purpose is to identify specific genetic mutation that has been demonstrated, in the existing, peer-reviewed, evidence-based, scientific literature, to directly impact treatment options.
- Genetic counseling is covered if a person is undergoing approved genetic testing or if a person has an inherited disease and is a potential candidate for genetic testing. Genetic counseling is limited to three visits per calendar year for both pre and post-genetic testing.

Nutritional Evaluation - Charges made for nutritional evaluation and counseling when diet is a part of the medical management of a documented organic disease (i.e., when medically necessary).
The WOW program – Charges made for this multi-disciplined, family-centered program for children and adolescents (aged 15 months to 19 years) at a higher risk for weight-related health problems. This program is available to eligible children (eligibility determined by measures outlined by the WOW clinic, visit https://www.emmc.org/Way-to-Optimal-Weight.aspx for information) and adolescents with zero copay. The WOW Clinic is located at Cutler Health Center, University of Maine Orono Campus.
Oral Surgery - Charges for the surgical removal of bony impacted teeth are a covered expense when medically necessary.
Internal Prosthetic/Medical Appliances - Charges made for internal prosthetic/medical appliances that provide permanent or temporary internal functional supports for nonfunctioning body parts. Medically necessary repair, maintenance, or replacement of a covered appliance is also covered. Includes cochlear implants and Osseointegrated Hearing Devices (e.g. Bone Anchored hearing Aid (BAHA) Hearing Device) when medically necessary.
Home Health Services - Charges made for home health services when you: (a) require skilled care; (b) are unable to obtain the required care as an ambulatory outpatient; and (c) do not require confinement in a hospital or another health care facility.

 Home health services are provided only if the Plan has determined that the home is a medically appropriate setting. If you are a minor or an adult, who is dependent upon others for non-skilled care and/or custodial services (e.g.,

bathing, eating, and toileting), home health services will be provided for you only during times when there is a family member or caregiver present in the home to

meet your non-skilled care and/or custodial service needs.

- o Home health services are skilled health care services that can be provided during visits by health care professionals. The services of a home health aide are covered when rendered in direct support of skilled health care services provided by other health care professionals. A visit is defined as a period of two hours or less. Home health services are subject to a maximum of 16 hours in total per day. Home infusion therapy administered or used by health care professionals in providing home health services are covered. Home health services and skilled nursing services provided in the home do *not* include services by a person who is a member of your family or your dependent's family, or who normally resides in your home or your dependent's home, even if that person is another health care professional. Physical, occupational, and other short-term rehabilitative therapy services provided in the home, however, are not subject to the home health services benefit provisions, but to the provisions and limitations applicable to short-term rehabilitative therapy in this Plan. *Private duty nursing services are not covered under this Plan.*
- **Hospice Care Services -** Charges made for the following hospice care services for a person who has been diagnosed as having six months or less to live. They include charges:
 - By a hospice facility for bed and board and services and supplies. Covered expenses will not include that portion of charges which is more than the hospice bed and board daily limit;
 - For hospice care services provided on an outpatient basis;
 - By a physician for professional services;
 - By a psychologist, social worker, family counselor, or ordained minister for individual and family counseling;
 - For pain relief treatment, including drugs, medicines and medical supplies;
 - By another health care facility for:
 - Part-time or intermittent nursing care by or under the supervision of a nurse;
 - Part-time or intermittent services of another health care professional;
 - Physical, occupational and speech therapy to a limit of 60 days per calendar year
 - Medical supplies; drugs and medicines lawfully dispensed only on the written prescription of a physician; and laboratory services; but only to the extent such charges would have been payable under the policy if the person had remained or been confined in a hospital or hospice facility.

NOTE: The following charges for hospice care services are not included as covered expenses:

For services rendered by a person who is a member of your family or your

- dependent's family, or who normally resides in your home or your dependent's home;
- o For any period when you or your dependent is not under the care of a physician;
- For services or supplies not listed in the hospice care program;
- For any curative or life-prolonging procedures related to the hospice diagnosis;
- For services or supplies primarily to aid you or your dependent in daily living.

□ Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Services

- Inpatient Mental Health Services are services provided by a hospital, while you
 or your dependent is confined for the treatment and evaluation of mental health.
 Inpatient mental health services include partial hospitalization and mental health
 residential treatment services.
 - Inpatient mental health services are exchangeable with *partial hospitalization* sessions when services are provided for not less than four hours and not more than 12 hours in any 24-hour period. Two partial hospitalization sessions are equal to one day of inpatient care.
- Mental Health Residential Treatment Services are services provided by a state licensed provider of mental health services for the evaluation and treatment of the psychological and social functional disturbances that are a result of subacute mental health conditions.
 - Mental health residential treatment services are exchanged with inpatient mental health services at a rate of two days of mental health residential treatment to one day of inpatient mental health treatment.
- Mental Health Residential Treatment Center means an institution which: (a) specializes in the treatment of psychological and social disturbances that are the result of mental health conditions; (b) provides a subacute, structured, psychotherapeutic treatment program, under the supervision of physicians; (c) provides 24-hour care, in which a person lives in an open setting; and (d) is licensed in accordance with the laws of the appropriate, legally authorized agency as a residential treatment center.
 - A person is considered confined in a mental health residential treatment center when she/he is a registered bed patient in a mental health residential treatment center upon the recommendation of a physician.
- Outpatient Mental Health Services means services of providers who are qualified to treat mental health, when treatment is provided on an outpatient basis, in an individual, group, or mental health intensive outpatient therapy program. Covered services include, but are not limited to, outpatient treatment of conditions such as: anxiety or depression which interfere with daily functioning; emotional adjustment or concerns related to chronic conditions, such as psychosis or depression; emotional reactions associated with marital problems or divorce; child/adolescent problems of conduct or poor impulse control; suicidal or homicidal threats or acts; eating disorders; acute exacerbation of chronic mental

health conditions (crisis intervention and relapse prevention); and outpatient testing and assessment.

- A mental health intensive outpatient therapy program consists of distinct levels or phases of treatment that are provided by a certified/licensed mental health program. Intensive outpatient therapy programs provide a combination of individual, family, and/or group therapy in a day, totaling nine or more hours per week. Each visit that is part of a mental health intensive outpatient therapy program is exchanged with outpatient mental health services at a rate of one visit for mental health intensive outpatient therapy to one visit of outpatient mental health services.
- Substance Use Disorder is defined as the psychological or physical dependence on alcohol or other mind-altering drugs that requires diagnosis, care, and treatment. In determining benefits payable, charges made for the treatment of any physiological conditions related to rehabilitation services for abuse or addiction of alcohol or drugs will not be considered to be charges made for treatment of substance abuse.
- Inpatient Substance Use Disorder Rehabilitation Services are services provided for rehabilitation, while you or your dependent is confined in a hospital, when required for the diagnosis and treatment of abuse or addiction to alcohol and/or drugs. Inpatient substance use disorder services include partial hospitalization sessions and residential treatment services. Inpatient substance use disorder services are exchangeable with partial hospitalization sessions when services are provided for not less than four hours and not more than 12 hours in any 24-hour period. Two partial hospitalization sessions are equal to one day of inpatient care.
- Substance Use Disorder Residential Treatment Services are services provided by a state licensed provider of residential substance use disorder services for the evaluation and treatment of the psychological and social functional disturbances that are a result of subacute substance use disorders.
 - Substance use disorder residential treatment services are exchanged with inpatient substance use disorder services at a rate of two days of substance use disorder residential treatment to one day of inpatient substance use disorder treatment.
 - Substance use disorder residential treatment center means an institution which: (a) specializes in the treatment of psychological and social disturbances that are the result of substance abuse; (b) provides a subacute, structured, psychotherapeutic treatment program, under the supervision of physicians; (c) provides 24-hour care, in which a person lives in an open setting; and (d) is licensed in accordance with the laws of the appropriate, legally authorized agency as a residential treatment center. A person is considered confined in a substance use disorder residential treatment center when she/he is a registered bed patient in a substance use disorder residential treatment center upon the recommendation of a physician.
- Outpatient Substance Use Disorder Rehabilitation Services refer to

providers qualified to diagnose and treat misuse of or addiction to alcohol and/or drugs, when rendered on an outpatient basis, including rehabilitation through individual therapy or a substance use disorder intensive outpatient therapy program.

- A Substance Use Disorder Intensive Outpatient Therapy Program consists
 of distinct levels or phases of treatment that are provided by a certified/licensed
 substance use disorder program. Intensive outpatient therapy programs provide
 a combination of individual, family, and/or group therapy in a day, totaling nine
 or more hours per week.
- Substance Use Disorder Detoxification Services. Detoxification and related medical ancillary services are provided when required for the diagnosis and treatment of addiction to alcohol and/or drugs. Beacon will decide, based on the medical necessity of each situation, whether such services will be provided in an inpatient or outpatient setting.
- Methadone Treatment. Charges for methadone treatment are covered when rendered and billed at a preferred or an in-network facility.

Durable Medical Equipment

- Charges made for the purchase or rental of durable medical equipment that is ordered or prescribed by a provider for use outside a hospital or other health care facility. Coverage for repair, replacement, or duplicate equipment is provided only when required due to anatomical change and/or reasonable wear and tear. All maintenance and repairs that result from misuse are the covered person's responsibility. Coverage for durable medical equipment is limited to the most cost-effective alternative, as determined by the utilization review physician.
- Durable medical equipment is defined as items which: (a) are designed for, and able to withstand repeated use by more than one person; (b) customarily serve a medical purpose; (c) generally are not useful in the absence of injury or sickness; (d) are appropriate for use in the home; and (e) are not disposable. Such equipment includes, but is not limited to crutches, hospital beds, respirators, wheel chairs, and dialysis machines.
- Note: Certain DME for the management of Diabetes is covered with no member cost sharing. Please refer to the Tier 0 section on page 14.
- External Prosthetic Appliances and Devices Charges made or ordered by a provider for the initial purchase and fitting of external prosthetic appliances and devices available only by prescription that is necessary for the alleviation or correction of injury, sickness or congenital defect.
 - Coverage for external prosthetic appliances is limited to the most appropriate and cost-effective alternative. External prosthetic appliances and devices shall include prostheses/prosthetic appliances and devices; orthoses and orthotic devices; braces; and splints.

- Prostheses/Prosthetic Appliances and Devices Prostheses/prosthetic appliances and devices are defined as fabricated replacements for missing body parts.
 Prostheses/prosthetic appliances and devices include, but are not limited to:
 - Basic limb prostheses;
 - Terminal devices, such as hands or hooks; and
 - Speech prostheses.

Orthoses and Orthotic Devices

- Nonfoot orthoses only the following nonfoot orthoses are covered:
 - Rigid and semi rigid custom fabricated orthoses,
 - Semi rigid prefabricated and flexible orthoses; and
 - Rigid prefabricated orthoses, including preparation, fitting, and basic additions, such as bars and joints.
- Custom Foot Orthoses custom foot orthoses are only covered as follows:
 - For persons with impaired peripheral sensation and/or altered peripheral circulation (e.g., diabetic neuropathy and peripheral vascular disease);
 - When the foot orthosis is an integral part of a leg brace and is necessary for the proper functioning of the brace;
 - Orthopedic shoes (preferred and in-network only).
 - When the foot orthosis is for use as a replacement or substitute for missing parts of the foot (e.g., amputated toes) and is necessary for the alleviation or correction of injury, sickness or congenital defect; and
 - For persons with a neurological or neuromuscular condition (e.g., cerebral palsy, hemiplegia, spina bifida) producing spasticity, misalignment, or pathological positioning of the foot, and there is reasonable expectation of improvement.

The following are specifically excluded from coverage as orthoses:

- Prefabricated foot orthoses;
- Cranial banding and/or cranial orthoses. Other similar devices are excluded, except when used postoperatively for synostotic plagiocephaly. When used for this indication, the cranial orthosis will be subject to the limitations and maximums of the external prosthetic appliances benefit;
- Orthotic shoes, shoe additions, shoe modifications, and transfers;
- Orthoses primarily used for cosmetic, rather than functional, reasons; and

- Orthoses primarily for improved athletic performance or sports participation.
- □ **Braces -** An orthosis or orthopedic appliance that supports or holds in correct position any movable part of the body, and that allows for motion of that part. Copes scoliosis braces are specifically excluded.
- □ **Splints -** An appliance for preventing movement of a joint or for the fixation of displaced or movable parts.

Coverage for replacement of external prosthetic appliances and devices is limited to the following:

- Replacement due to regular wear. Replacement for damage due to abuse or misuse will not be covered.
- Replacement will be provided when anatomic change has rendered the external prosthetic appliance or device ineffective. Anatomic change includes significant weight gain or loss, atrophy, and/or growth.
- Replacement due to a surgical alteration or revision of the site.
- Coverage for replacement is limited as follows:
 - Once every 24 months for persons 19 years of age or older; and
 - Once every 12 months for persons 18 years of age or younger.
- The following are specifically excluded from coverage as external prosthetic appliances and devices:
 - External and internal power enhancements, or power controls for prosthetic limbs and terminal devices; and
 - Myoelectric prostheses peripheral nerve stimulator
- Infertility Services Charges made for services related to diagnosis and treatment of infertility. Services include, but are not limited to approved surgeries and other therapeutic procedures that have been demonstrated, in existing, peer-reviewed, evidence-based, scientific literature, to have a reasonable likelihood of resulting in pregnancy; laboratory tests; and diagnostic evaluations.
 - Infertility is defined as the inability to achieve conception after one year. This benefit includes diagnosis and treatment of both male and female infertility. The following are specifically excluded from coverage as infertility services:
 - Infertility drugs;
 - In vitro fertilization (IVF); gamete intrafallopian transfer (GIFT); zygote intrafallopian transfer (ZIFT); and any variations of these procedures;
 - Artificial insemination, including donor charges and services;
 - Cryopreservation of donor sperm and eggs; and

- Any experimental, investigational, or unproven infertility procedures or therapies.
- Short-Term Rehabilitative Therapy Therapy that is part of a rehabilitation program, including physical, speech, occupational, cognitive, osteopathic manipulative, and pulmonary rehabilitation therapy, when provided in the most medically appropriate setting.

Occupational therapy is only covered for purposes of enabling persons to perform the activities of daily living after an injury or sickness.

Short-term rehabilitative therapy services that are not covered include, but are not limited to:

- Sensory integration therapy; group therapy; treatment of dyslexia; behavior modification; or myofunctional therapy for dysfluency, such as stuttering or other involuntarily acted conditions, without evidence of an underlying medical condition or neurological disorder;
- Treatment for functional articulation disorders, such as correction of tongue thrust; lisp; verbal apraxia; or swallowing dysfunction that is not based on an underlying diagnosed medical condition or injury; and
- Maintenance or preventive treatment consisting of routine, long-term, or nonmedically necessary care provided to prevent recurrence or to maintain the patient's current status.
- □ **Chiropractic Care Services -** Charges made for diagnostic and treatment services utilized in an office setting by chiropractic physicians to a limit of 20 days per calendar year.

Chiropractic treatment includes the conservative management of acute neuromusculoskeletal conditions through manipulation and ancillary physiological treatment rendered to specific joints to restore motion, reduce pain, and improve function.

Chiropractic care services that are not covered include, but are not limited to:

- Services of a chiropractic physician which are not within their scope of practice, as defined by law;
- o Imaging in the chiropractic office
- Charges for care not provided in an office setting;
- Maintenance or preventive treatment consisting of routine, long-term, or non-medically necessary care provided to prevent recurrence; or to maintain the patient's current status; and Vitamin and nutrition therapy.
- □ **Transplant Services -** Charges made for human organ and tissue transplant services, which include solid organ and bone marrow/stem cell procedures at designated facilities throughout the United States or its territories.

This coverage is subject to the following conditions and limitations:

- Transplant services include the recipient's medical, surgical, and hospital services; inpatient immunosuppressive medications; and costs for organ or bone marrow/stem cell procurement. Transplant services are covered only if they are required to perform any of the following human-to-human organ or tissue transplants: allogeneic bone marrow/stem cell; autologous bone marrow/stem cell; corneal; heart/lung; kidney; kidney/pancreas; liver; lung; pancreas; or intestine (which includes small bowel, liver, or multiple viscera).
- All transplant services, other than corneal, are payable at 100% when authorized by the Plan and through Optum/Transplant Resource Network and/or other contracted transplant provider. Cornea transplants are not covered through URN/Transplant Resource Network. Benefits for transplant services, when received from participating provider facilities other than Optum/Transplant Resource Network are payable at the in-network benefit level. Non-authorized transplant services will *not* be covered.
 - Coverage for organ procurement costs are limited to costs directly related to the procurement of an organ from a cadaver or a live donor. Organ procurement costs shall consist of surgery necessary for organ removal, organ transportation, and the transportation, hospitalization, and surgery of a live donor. Compatibility testing undertaken prior to procurement is covered if medically necessary. Costs related to the search for, and identification of, a bone marrow or stem cell donor for an allogeneic transplant are also covered.
- □ **Transplant Travel Services -** Charges made for reasonable travel expenses incurred in connection with a pre-approved organ/tissue transplant are covered (refer to Exhibit B for daily and lifetime maximums), subject to the following conditions and limitations:
 - Transplant travel benefits are not available for corneal transplants. Benefits for transportation, lodging, and food are available only to the recipient of a preapproved organ/tissue transplant through the Optum/Transplant Resource Network and/or other contracted transplant provider. The term "recipient" includes a person receiving authorized transplant- related services during any of the following: (a) evaluation; (b) candidacy; (c) transplant event; or (d) post-transplant care. Travel expenses for the person receiving the transplant will include charges for: transportation to and from the transplant site (including charges for a rental car used during a period of care at the transplant facility); lodging while at, or traveling to and from, the transplant site; and food while at, or traveling to and from, the transplant site.
 - In addition to the recipient's coverage for the charges associated with these items, travel expenses for one companion to accompany the recipient are also covered. The term "companion" includes the recipient's spouse; a member of the family; a legal guardian; or any person not related to the recipient, but actively involved as a caregiver. The following travel expenses are excluded: costs incurred due to travel within 60 miles of your home; laundry bills; telephone bills; alcohol or tobacco products; and charges for transportation that exceed coach class rates.
 - These benefits are only available when the covered person is the recipient of an organ transplant. No benefits are available when the covered person is a donor.
 - For information on submitting receipts, contact Beacon's Customer Service

Team at the telephone number on the back of the member's identification card.

□ **Breast Reconstruction and Breast Prostheses -** Charges made for reconstructive surgery following a mastectomy.

Benefits are payable for: (a) surgical services for reconstruction of the breast on which surgery was performed; (b) surgical services for reconstruction of the non-diseased breast to produce symmetrical appearance; (c) post-operative breast prostheses; and (d) mastectomy bras and external prosthetics, limited to the most cost-effective alternative available that meets external prosthetic placement needs. During all stages of mastectomy, treatment of physical complications, including lymphedema therapy, are covered.

Breast reduction surgery (reduction mammoplasty) may be considered when determined to be medically necessary and covered when prior authorized in advance and specific clinical criteria are met.

 Reconstructive Surgery - Charges made for reconstructive surgery or therapy to repair or correct a severe physical deformity or disfigurement that is accompanied by functional deficit.

Coverage is provided when: (a) the surgery or therapy restores or improves function; (b) reconstruction is required as a result of medically necessary, non-cosmetic surgery; or (c) the surgery or therapy is performed prior to the person attaining age 19, and is required as a result of the congenital absence or agenesis (lack of formation or development) of a body part. Repeat or subsequent surgeries for the same condition are covered only when there is the probability of significant additional improvement, as determined by the utilization review physician.

Health and Wellness Services

- □ Care Management For members with chronic conditions, the Plan offers services of care managers through Beacon. These services are available regardless of whether a member seeks primary care services at the preferred, in-network, or out-of-network level.
- □ **Incentives** The Plan offers incentives to enrolled employees and spouses/domestic partners for compliance with health and wellness initiatives as outlined below:
 - Participation in annual biometric screening or for providing blood pressure, height, weight, glucose and cholesterol results if testing already took place the applicable calendar year.
 - Participation in 10 out of 12 Weight Watchers classes.
 - Having a body mass index (BMI) of less than 29 or by participating in a qualified engagement program (Beacon wellness coaching, tobacco cessation, diabetes prevention).

Incentive amounts and programs may change from year to year and details are available through the EMHS Benefits Guide and on the Total Health portal (totalhealth.emhs.org, on the EMHS intranet).

The following wellness services provided by Beacon are available at no cost to Plan Members age 18 and older:

- Wellness Coaching Coaching encompasses the components of wellness that are important to you and provides individual support and encouragement to assist you in achieving your personal goals. Your coach will help you overcome challenges and you will work together to develop a plan that is personally tailored to your unique circumstances and capabilities. If coaching is offered for a Plan Year, it may be done on work time, but please check with your department manager regarding your department's policies. Wellness coaching is confidential.
- □ **Tobacco Cessation and Weight Management Programs** These programs are designed to provide accountability, direction, and support in the areas of weight management and tobacco cessation. They employ evidence-based best practices including group coaching, one-on-one coaching, and action-based group and individual goal setting.
- □ **National Diabetes Prevention Program** A program to support individuals with prediabetes and allow them to participate in lifestyle change programs to reduce their risk of type 2 diabetes and improve their overall health.

Contact Beacon at beaconwellness@emhs.org or visit beaconhealth.me for more information about these wellness services.

COORDINATION OF BENEFITS (COB)

If you or your dependents are covered under more than one plan, your benefits will be subject to coordination of benefits (COB) provisions. This means this Plan coordinates benefits with other medical plans under which you or a dependent may be covered. For example, assume you and your spouse both work, and each of you covers your family under your respective plans. Unless benefits are coordinated, the combined benefits under both plans could exceed the actual cost of a covered expense. COB ensures that payments from all plans do not exceed the allowable charge for that service.

With coordination of benefits, the plan that provides benefits first is known as the "primary plan" and is responsible for providing benefits to the full extent of coverage allowed by its program. The Plan is your primary plan, provided you are enrolled. (Your spouse's plan is always primary for your spouse provided he or she is enrolled in that plan). The plan that provides benefits next is known as the "secondary plan." The secondary plan provides benefits toward any remaining covered services as long as the payment, when added to the primary plan's payment, is not more than the total amount of the covered benefit expenses.

The birthday rule applies to COB for children's coverage. The birthday rule means that if you and your spouse are both covering your children, whoever's birthday comes first in the year will be the primary plan for the children.

The total of the payments made for covered medical services will not be more than the total of

the allowed charge for those covered services.

The Plan will not provide duplicate payment of benefits for the same services. If you have any questions about coordination, you may call the customer service department at the telephone number on the back of your medical ID card.

In the event benefits are improperly paid by the Plan, this Plan retains the right to seek reimbursement from you for the benefits that were improperly paid. The Plan will pay as the secondary plan as permitted by the Social Security Act of 1965 as amended for the following:

- (a) a former employee who is eligible for Medicare and whose insurance is continued for any reason as provided in this Plan;
- (b) a former employee's dependent, or former dependent spouse, who is eligible for Medicare and whose insurance is continued for any reason as provided in this Plan;
- (c) an employee, retired employee, employee's dependent or retired employee's dependent that is eligible for Medicare due to End Stage Renal Disease after that person has been eligible for Medicare for 30 months.

Recovery of Payments

If you receive payment for a medical service from a third party, this Plan will not pay benefits and can obtain a refund from you for any benefits that were already paid. For example, if you were injured and you required medical services, these services could be paid by the party responsible for the injury or by an insurance policy. In this case, this Plan would not pay benefits, or you will be asked to reimburse the Plan for the benefits you had already received.

HOW TO FILE A CLAIM

Generally, you do not have to file a claim in order to receive your benefits. As long as you receive care from a preferred or in-network provider, claims will be submitted for you.

For more information on claims procedures, please see the Plan's Claims Procedures and Appeals Process attached hereto as Exhibit G. For the appeals process applicable to pharmacy claims please see the Plan's Appeals Process – Pharmacy attached hereto as Exhibit H.

When You Receive Care from an Out-of-Network Provider

When you receive care from a provider who is not a preferred or in-network provider, you must complete and submit a claim. Along with your completed claim form, you must attach your original itemized bill and send them to:

The EMHS Employee Health Plan c/o Beacon Health PO Box 21116 Eagan, MN 55121 Attention: Claims Department

You may be responsible for paying the full cost of services up front to your provider. The EMHS Employee Health Plan's payment will then be sent directly to you. You must file a

claim within one year of the date you received the covered service.

WHAT'S NOT COVERED

Your Plan provides coverage for medically necessary services per medical policies. Your Plan does not provide coverage for the following except as required by law:				
	Ε	xpenses for supplies, care, treatment, or surgery that is not medically necessary.		
		are for health conditions that are required by state or local law to be treated in a public scility.		
		are required by state or federal law to be supplied by a public school system or school strict.		
		are for military service disabilities treatable through governmental services if you are gally entitled to such treatment and facilities are reasonably available.		
	T	reatment of an illness or injury that is due to war, declared or undeclared.		
		harges for which you are not obligated to pay or for which you are not billed or would ot have been billed except that you were covered under this Plan.		
	d	ssistance in the activities of daily living, including but not limited to eating, bathing, ressing or other custodial services or self-care activities, homemaker services and ervices primarily for rest, domiciliary or convalescent care.		
	u SI SI	ny services and supplies for or in connection with experimental, investigational or inproven services. Experimental, investigational and unproven services are medical, urgical, diagnostic, psychiatric, substance abuse or other health care technologies, upplies, treatments, procedures, drug therapies or devices that are determined by the lan's medical director to be:		
	0	Not demonstrated, through existing peer-reviewed, evidence-based scientific literature to be safe and effective for treating or diagnosing the condition or illness fo which its use is proposed;		
	0	Not approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or other appropriate regulatory agency to be lawfully marketed for the proposed use;		
	0	The subject of review or approval by an Institutional Review Board for the proposed use, except as provided in the "Clinical Trials" section under "Covered Expenses."		
	in	osmetic surgery and therapies that are defined as surgery or therapy performed to nprove or alter appearance or self-esteem or to treat psychological symptomatology or sychosocial complaints related to one's appearance.		
	m sl m	he following services are excluded from coverage regardless of clinical indications: nacromastia or gynecomastia surgeries; abdominoplasty; panniculectomy; redundant kin surgery; removal of skin tags; craniosacral/cranial therapy; dance therapy, novement therapy; applied kinesiology; rolfing; prolotherapy; and extracorporeal shock ave lithotripsy (ESWL) for musculoskeletal and orthopedic conditions.		

Varicose vein treatments, rhinoplasty and blepharoplasty are not covered unless medically necessary as determined by the Plan.
Dental treatment of the teeth, gums or structures directly supporting the teeth, including dental x-rays, examinations, repairs, orthodontics, periodontics, casts, splints and services for dental malocclusion, for any condition. However, charges made for services or supplies provided for or in connection with an accidental injury to sound natural teeth are covered provided a continuous course of dental treatment is started within 6 months of the accident. Sound natural teeth are defined as natural teeth that are free of active clinical decay, have at least 50% bony support and are functional in the arch. Coverage includes removal of bony impacted teeth.
Unless otherwise covered as a basic benefit, reports, evaluations, physical examinations, or hospitalization not required for health reasons, including but not limited to employment, insurance or government licenses, and court ordered, forensic, or custodial evaluations.
Court ordered treatment or hospitalization, unless such treatment is being sought by a participating provider or otherwise indicated under "Covered Expenses."
Infertility services including gamete intrafallopian transfer (GIFT), zygote intrafallopian transfer (ZIFT), variations of these procedures, and any costs associated with the collection, washing, preparation or storage of sperm for artificial insemination (including donor fees). Cryopreservation of donor sperm and eggs are also excluded from coverage.
Reversals of tubal ligations or vasectomies.
Any services or supplies, for the treatment of male or female sexual dysfunction such as, but not limited to, treatment of erectile dysfunction (including penile implants), anorgasmia, and premature ejaculation.
Medical and hospital care and costs for the child of a dependent, unless this child is otherwise eligible under the Plan.
Non-medical counseling or ancillary services, including, but not limited to custodial services, education, training, vocational rehabilitation, behavioral training, neurofeedback, hypnosis, sleep therapy, employment counseling, back to school, return-to-work services, work hardening programs, and driving safety. In addition, services, training, educational therapy or other non-medical ancillary services for learning disabilities, developmental delays, autism spectrum disorder or mental retardation.
Therapy or treatment intended primarily to improve or maintain general physical condition or for the purpose of enhancing job, school, athletic or recreational performance, including, but not limited to routine, long-term or maintenance care which is provided after the resolution of the acute medical problem and when significant therapeutic improvement is not expected.
Exclusions to Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Services

 $\circ\hspace{0.4cm}$ The following are specifically excluded from coverage as mental health and

substance abuse services:

- Any court-ordered treatment or therapy; or any treatment or therapy ordered as a condition of parole, probation, or custody or visitation evaluations, unless medically necessary and otherwise covered under this Plan.
- Developmental disorders or delays, including, but not limited to developmental reading disorders; developmental arithmetic disorders; developmental language disorders; developmental articulation disorders; or autism spectrum disorders. NOTE: Evaluation for rehabilitative services (Physical Therapy, Occupational Therapy, and Speech Therapy) is covered for members with developmental disorders or delays, including, but not limited to developmental reading disorders; developmental arithmetic disorders, developmental language disorders, developmental articulation disorders, or autism spectrum disorder." Ongoing therapy is not covered.
- Counseling for activities of an educational nature.
- Counseling for borderline intellectual functioning.
- Counseling for occupational problems.
- Counseling related to consciousness-raising.
- Vocational or religious counseling.
- I.Q. testing.
- ° Custodial care, including, but not limited to, geriatric day care.
- Psychological testing on children requested by or for a school system.
- Occupational/recreational therapy programs, even if combined with supportive therapy for age-related cognitive decline.
- □ Durable medical equipment items that are not covered include, but are not limited to:
 - Bed-Related Items: bed trays, over-the-bed tables, bed wedges, pillows, custom bedroom equipment, and mattresses (including non-power mattresses, custom mattresses, and posturepedic mattresses).
 - Bath-Related Items: bath lifts, non-portable whirlpools, bathtub rails, toilet rails, raised toilet seats, bath benches, bath stools, hand-held showers, paraffin baths, bath mats, and spas.
 - Chairs, Lifts and Standing Devices: specialized computerized or gyroscopic mobility systems, roll-about chairs, geriatric chairs, hip chairs, seat lifts (mechanical or motorized), patient lifts (mechanical or motorized; manual hydraulic lifts are covered if the patient is a two-person transfer), and auto-tilt chairs.
 - Fixtures to Real Property: ceiling lifts and wheelchair ramps.

Car/Van Modifications

for the deaf and memory books.

- Air Quality Items: room humidifiers, vaporizers, air purifiers, and electrostatic machines.
- o Blood/Injection Related Items: blood pressure cuffs and centrifuges
- Other Equipment: heat lamps, heating pads, cryounits, cryotherapy machines, electronic-controlled therapy units, ultraviolet cabinets, sheepskin pads and boots, postural drainage board, AC/DC adaptors, enuresis alarms, magnetic equipment, scales (baby and adult), stair gliders, elevators, saunas, and any exercise equipment and diathermy machines.

	Ex me	onsumable medical supplies other than ostomy supplies and urinary catheters. cluded supplies include, but are not limited to bandages and other disposable edical supplies, and skin preparations, except as specified in the "Covered spenses" section.
	Tł	ne following are specifically excluded from coverage as orthoses:
	0	Prefabricated foot orthoses;
	0	Cranial banding and/or cranial orthoses. Other similar devices are excluded, except when used postoperatively for synostotic plagiocephaly. When used for this indication, the cranial orthosis will be subject to the limitations and maximums of the external prosthetic appliances benefit;
	0	Orthotic shoes, shoe additions, shoe modifications, and transfers;
	0	Orthoses primarily used for cosmetic, rather than functional, reasons; and
	0	Orthoses primarily for improved athletic performance or sports participation.
	Pri	vate duty nursing except as provided under the Plan.
	ho an	rsonal or comfort items such as personal care kits provided on admission to a spital, television, telephone, newborn infant photographs, complimentary meals, birth nouncements, and other articles which are not for the specific treatment of illness or ury.
		tificial aids, including but not limited to, arch supports, compression stockings (unless ockings deemed medically necessary), garter belts, corsets and dentures.
	co	earing aids, including, but not limited to semi-implantable hearing devices and audient ne conductors. A hearing aid is any device that amplifies sound. The Plan provides verage for cochlear implants and Osseointegrated Hearing Devices (e.g. Bone chored hearing Aid (BAHA) Hearing Device) when medically necessary.
П	Aid	ds or devices that assist with non-verbal communications, including, but not limited to

communication boards, pre-recorded speech devices, laptop computers, desktop computers, Personal Digital Assistants (PDAs), Braille typewriters, visual alert systems

Eyeglass lenses and frames (including sunglasses) and contact lenses (except for the first pair of contact lenses for treatment of keratoconus or post cataract surgery).
Eye exercises and surgical treatment for the correction of a refractive error, including radial keratotomy.
All non-injectable prescription drugs and injectable prescription drugs that do not require physician supervision and are typically considered self-administered drugs, non-prescription drugs, and investigational and experimental drugs.
Routine foot care, including the paring and removing of corns and calluses or trimming of nails. However, services associated with foot care for diabetes and peripheral vascular disease are covered when medically necessary.
Membership costs or fees associated with health clubs and weight loss programs. There are, however, incentives available for Plan members that participate in qualifying programs such as wellness coaching or weight management. Please visit the section for EMHS Employee Health Plan enrollees at totalhealth.emhs.org for more information.
Genetic screening or pre-implantation genetic screening. General population-based genetic screening is a testing method performed in the absence of any symptoms or any significant, proven risk factors for genetically linked inheritable disease.
Dental implants for any condition.
Fees associated with the collection or donation of blood or blood products, except for autologous donation in anticipation of scheduled services where in the Medical Plan's medical director's opinion the likelihood of excess blood loss is such that transfusion is an expected adjunct to surgery.
Blood administration for the purpose of general improvement in physical condition.
Cost of biologicals for allergy immunizations (desensitization for allergies)
Cost of prophylactic (prevention) medications for the purpose of travel.
Cosmetics, dietary supplements and health and beauty aids.
All nutritional supplements and formula are excluded, except for infant formula needed for the treatment of inborn errors of metabolism and those dieticians prescribed or as medically necessary per medical policy.
Expenses incurred for medical treatment by a person age 65 or older, who is covered under this Plan as a retiree, or their dependents, when payment is denied by the Medicare Plan because treatment was not received from a participating provider of the Medicare Plan.
Expenses incurred for medical treatment when this Plan is secondary and when payment is denied by the primary plan because treatment was not received from a participating provider of the primary plan.
Services for or in connection with an injury or illness arising out of, or in the course of, any employment for wage or profit.
Telephone, and internet consultations and telemedicine, except when using a preferred

	provider for tale behavioral health convices
	provider for tele-behavioral health services.
	Massage therapy.
	Acupuncture, acupressure, and non-traditional medical therapies.
	If you or any of your dependents is, in any way, paid (or entitled to payment) for the expenses by or through a public program (other than Medicaid).
	If payment is unlawful where the covered person resides when the expenses are incurred.
	Medical and surgical services to alter appearances or physical changes that are the result of any surgery performed for the management of obesity or clinically severe (morbid) obesity.
	Weight loss programs or treatments, whether or not prescribed or recommended by a physician under medical supervision other than the WOW program, a multidisciplined, family-centered program for children and adolescents (aged 15 months to 19 years) at a higher risk for weight-related health problems. See "Covered Expenses" section.
	Liposuction or reconstructive surgery, except as described in the Covered Services section of the document.
	Out-of-network expenses to the extent that the charges upon which they are based are more than the maximum reimbursable charge.
	Expenses incurred outside of the United States or Canada, unless you or your dependent is a U.S. resident and the charges are incurred while traveling on business or for pleasure.
	Charges made by any covered provider who is a member of your family or your dependent's family.
	Any expenses incurred out-of-network to the extent of the exclusions imposed by the certification requirements.
	Illegal Activity. Covered services required as a result of a Member's commission of or attempt to commit a felony or being engaged in an illegal occupation, are not covered.
	Riot or Insurrection. Covered service(s) required as a result of a Member's participation in a riot or insurrection is not covered.
Presc	ription Drug Limitations and Exclusions
In add	lition, no payment will be made for the following expenses:
	Replacement of prescription drugs and related supplies due to loss or theft.
	Drugs purchased from a retail non-participating pharmacy or a non-participating mail- order pharmacy.
	Drugs available over-the-counter that do not require a prescription by federal or state law.

Non-sedating antihistamines.
Any drug that is a pharmaceutical alternative to an over-the-counter drug (other than insulin).
Any drug from a drug class in which at least one of the drugs is available over-the-counter, and the drugs in that class are deemed to be therapeutically equivalent.
Any drugs used for infertility treatment.
Some, but not all injectable drugs may not be covered when administered by a physician during an office visit, especially when considered self-administering. Some injectables may be covered if administered by a pharmacist.
The Plan requires participants to obtain certain ongoing infusion drugs from a Designated Infusion Network (the "Network"). These infusion drugs are listed on the Plan Prior Authorization List (the "List"). Specific injectable codes are enumerated on the prior authorization List (Exhibit D) as a) needing prior authorization and b) are covered only at preferred facilities. If a member chooses to go to non-preferred facility, the drugs will process as non-covered.
Any drugs that are experimental or investigational.
Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved drugs used for purposes other than those approved by the FDA, unless the drug is recognized for the treatment of the particular indication in one of the standard reference compendia (i.e., The United States Pharmacopeia Drug Information; The American Medical Association Drug Evaluations; or The American Hospital Formulary Service Drug Information) or in medical literature. Medical literature means scientific studies published in peer-reviewed, national, professional medical journals.
Prescription and nonprescription supplies (such as ostomy supplies), devices, and appliances (other than related supplies).
Implantable contraceptive products.
Drugs for erectile dysfunction.
Any infertility drugs (oral or injectable).
Prescription vitamins (other than prenatal), dietary supplements, and fluoride products.
Drugs used for cosmetic purposes, such as reducing wrinkles, promoting hair growth, or controlling perspiration, drugs for onychomycosis, as well as fade cream products.
Diet pills or appetite suppressants (anorectics).
Biological products for allergy immunizations; biological sera; blood, blood plasma and other blood products or fractions; and medications used for travel prophylaxis.
Drugs used to enhance athletic performance.
Medications which are to be taken by (or administered to) you while you are a patient in a licensed hospital, skilled nursing facility, rest home, or similar institution which

operates on its premises, or allows to be operated on its premises, a facility for dispensing pharmaceuticals.

☐ Prescriptions more than one year from the original date of issue.

Pre-Existing Conditions Limitations

The Plan does not have pre-existing condition limitations.

PLAN ADMINISTRATION

Administration Information

This section contains some additional information about how the Plan is administered. This information about plan administration is provided in compliance with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) of 1974, as amended. ERISA was designed to protect your rights under your benefit program. While you should not need these details on a regular basis, the information may be useful if you have specific questions. For the purpose of this SPD, the term "EMHS employee" refers to all employees of EMHS member organizations who have elected to participate in this Plan.

Plan Year

The Plan is maintained on a calendar year basis, with Plan records running from January 1 to December 31 each year. Fiscal year records also are maintained from January 1 to December 31 each year.

Plan Identification Numbers

The EMHS Employer Identification Number, as filed with the Department of Labor, is 01-0527066. The ERISA plan name and number is the EMHS Employee Health Plan, number 501.

Plan Sponsor and Administrator

EMHS is the official sponsor and administrator of the Plan described in this SPD. The Plan administrator has the sole authority to interpret the terms of the benefit program. You may contact the Plan sponsor and administrator at:

EMHS c/o HR Operations and Rewards Department 43 Whiting Hill Road, Suite 200 Brewer, ME 04412

Agent for the Service of Legal Process

The agent for service of legal process is the:

Vice President, HR Operations and Rewards EMHS
43 Whiting Hill Road, Suite 200

Brewer, ME 04412

Service of legal process can also be served on the Plan administrator.

Plan Insurance and Funding

The Plan is self-insured. This means EMHS pays medical benefits directly, using the TPA as the Plan administrator. You may share in the cost of medical coverage you elect during the annual enrollment period. The employer/employee contribution methodology is based upon a percentage of total costs.

Plan Documents

This document serves as the summary plan description or SPD and the Plan document. It describes the main provisions of the Plan in non-technical language. Some additional features of the Plans - particularly those that apply to very few employees or in special circumstances - may not be included here.

All documents filed with the U.S. Department of Labor, such as detailed annual reports and summary plan descriptions, are available for review without charge at the following location during normal business hours:

EMHS HR Operations and Rewards 43 Whiting Hill Road, Suite 200 Brewer, ME 04412

Upon written request to the above address, copies of these documents will be furnished to you within 30 days.

Your eligibility for or your right to benefits under the Plan should not be regarded as an expressed or implied contract or as a guarantee of continued employment at EMHS or one of its member organizations.

Future of the Plan

EMHS expects to continue the Plan described in this document indefinitely, but reserves the right to amend, modify, suspend or terminate it in whole or in part at any time. Any such action would be taken in writing and maintained with the records of the Plan. A decision to change or end the Plan may be due to changes in the laws governing employee benefits, the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code or ERISA, or for any other reason.

If the Plan is terminated, any eligible claims incurred before the date of termination will be paid to the extent assets held by the company are available (or according to the insurance contract for coverage), if submitted to the claims administrator within a reasonable period of time, as established by the Plan administrator.

Subrogation and Reimbursement of Claims

If the Plan pays benefits for any claim you incur as the result of negligence, willful misconduct, or other actions of a third party, the Plan will be subrogated to all your rights of recovery. You will be required to reimburse the Plan for amounts paid for claims out of any monies recovered from a third party, including, but not limited to, your own insurance company as the result of judgment, settlement or otherwise.

In addition, the Plan is entitled to reimbursement of any claim paid for which you receive compensation from a third party, other than a family member, for expenses that have been paid by the Plan.

Limitations on Assignment

Your rights and benefits under this Plan cannot be assigned, sold, transferred or pledged by you or reached by your creditors or anyone else except under limited circumstances (e.g., qualified domestic relations order).

Payment of Administrative Expenses

All reasonable expenses incurred in administering the Plan, including but not limited to administrative fees and expenses owing to any third-party administrative service provider, actuary, consultant, accountant, specialist, or other person or organization that may be employed by the Plan administrator in connection with the administration thereof, shall be paid out of plan assets, and, if plan assets are insufficient, by EMHS.

YOUR COBRA RIGHTS

According to the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act, commonly known as COBRA, you, your spouse and your children may elect to temporarily continue medical coverage if you lose your benefits under certain circumstances. You will be required to pay the full cost of coverage plus an administrative fee.

About COBRA Coverage

Individuals entitled to COBRA continuation (called qualified beneficiaries) are you, your spouse and your children, who are covered at the time of the event. In addition, a child who is born to you, adopted, or placed for adoption with you during the COBRA coverage period is also a qualified beneficiary.

Benefits provided to the eligible children of domestic partners who are not qualified beneficiaries for COBRA purposes may be extended through continuation coverage the rules for which will follow COBRA.

Continued coverage is available for a maximum of 18, 29 or 36 months, depending on the circumstances called the "qualifying events" under which you are eligible for the continuation.

The maximum continuation period, if multiple circumstances occur, is a total of 36 months. This means that, if your dependents experience a second qualifying event within the original 18-month period, they (but not you) may extend the COBRA continuation period for up to an additional 18 months (for a total of up to 36 months from the original qualifying event).

COBRA CONTINUATION PERIOD			
	Maximur	m Continuatio	n Period:
Qualifying Event	Employee	Spouse	Child
Employee loses coverage because of reduced work hours	18 months	18 months	18 months
Employee terminates for any reason (other than gross misconduct)	18 months	18 months	18 months

Employee becomes entitled to Medicare	N/A	36 months	36 months
Employee or dependent is disabled (as defined by Title II or XVI of the Social Security Act) at the same time of the qualifying event or becomes disabled within the first 60 days of COBRA continuation coverage that begins as a result of termination or reduction in work hours	29 months	29 months	29 months
Employee dies	N/A	36 months	36 months
Employee and spouse legally separate or divorce	N/A	36 months	36 months
Employee becomes eligible for Medicare within 18 months prior to a second qualifying event (e.g., termination of employment or reduction in work hours)	N/A	36 months*	36 months*
Child attains age 26	N/A	N/A	36 months

^{*36-}month period is counted from the date the employee becomes entitled to Medicare

Notification of COBRA Rights

The COBRA administrator will notify you by mail of your COBRA election rights when the qualifying event is a reduction in hours, a termination of employment, or you become eligible for Medicare.

You will receive instructions on how to continue your medical benefits under COBRA. In the event of your death, the COBRA administrator will notify your qualified beneficiaries (such as a spouse or child) as to continuing health coverage.

If you or a qualified beneficiary loses coverage due to divorce, legal separation or attainment of age 26, you (or a family member) must notify the HR Service Center within 60 days of the later of the event or the date the individual would lose coverage so that COBRA can be offered and election rights can be mailed to your qualified beneficiaries.

Also, to extend coverage beyond 18 months because of disability, notice of the Social Security Administration's determination of disability must be provided to the COBRA administrator during the initial 18-month period and within 60 days after the determination is issued. This extension will apply to each qualified beneficiary, whether disabled or not.

If Social Security determines that the qualified beneficiary is no longer disabled, the COBRA administrator must be notified within 30 days after this determination.

Electing and Paying for COBRA Coverage

You and/or your qualified beneficiaries must choose to continue coverage within 60 days after the later of the following dates:

- The date you and/or your qualified beneficiaries would lose coverage as a result of the qualifying event or
- The date the COBRA administrator notifies you and/or your qualified beneficiaries of

your right to choose to continue coverage as a result of the qualifying event.

If you elect COBRA continuation coverage, you must pay the initial premium (including all premiums due but not paid) within 45 days after your election. Thereafter, COBRA premiums must be paid monthly and within 30 days of each due date. If you elect COBRA continuation but then fail to pay premium due within the initial 45-day grace period, or you fail to pay any subsequent premium within 30 days after the date it is due, your coverage will be terminated retroactively to the last day for which timely payment was made.

Cost

The cost of coverage under COBRA is 102% of the full group cost of Plan coverage per covered person. A dependent making separate elections will be charged the same rate as a single employee, plus 2%.

The cost of coverage from the 19th through the 29th months of coverage under the disability extension is the same, except as provided below:

- Up to a maximum of 150% of the full cost of coverage for all family members participating in the same coverage option as the disabled individual, and
- Up to a maximum of 102% for any family members participating in a different coverage option than the disabled individual.

However, if a second qualifying event occurs during the first 18 months of coverage, the 102% rate applies to the full 36 months even if the individual is disabled. If a second qualifying event occurs during the 19th through 29th month, then the rate for the 19th through 36th months of the COBRA continuation period is:

- The 150% rate for all family members participating in the same coverage option as the disabled individual, and
- The 102% rate for any family members in a different coverage option than the disabled individual.

When COBRA Ends

COBRA continuation for any person will end when the first of the following occurs:

- The applicable continuation period ends
- The initial premium for continued coverage is not paid within 45 days after the date COBRA is elected, or any subsequent premium is not paid within 30 days after it is due
- After the date COBRA is elected, the qualified beneficiary first becomes covered (as an
 employee or otherwise) under another group health plan not offered by EMHS that does
 not contain an exclusion or limitation affecting the person's pre-existing condition, or the
 other plan's pre-existing condition limit or exclusion does not apply or is satisfied
 because of the HIPAA rules
- After the date COBRA is elected, the qualified beneficiary first becomes entitled to Medicare. (This does not apply to other qualified beneficiaries who are not entitled to Medicare.)

- In the case of the extended coverage period due to a disability, there has been a final determination, under the Social Security Act, that the qualified beneficiary is no longer disabled. In such a case, the COBRA coverage ceases on the first day of the month that begins more than 30 days after the final determination is issued, unless a second qualifying event has occurred during the first 18 months
- For newborns and children adopted by or placed for adoption with you (the employee) during your COBRA continuation period, the date your COBRA continuation period ends unless a second qualifying event has occurred and
- The company terminates its group health coverage

Instead of enrolling in COBRA continuation coverage, there may be other coverage options for you and your family through the Health Insurance Marketplace, Medicaid, or other group health plan coverage options (such as a spouse's plan) through what is called a "special enrollment period." Some of these options may cost less than COBRA continuation coverage. You can learn more about many of these options at www.healthcare.gov.

INITIAL NOTICE OF COBRA CONTINUATION COVERAGE RIGHTS ** CONTINUATION COVERAGE RIGHTS UNDER COBRA** EMHS Employee Health Plan

Introduction

You're getting this notice because you recently gained coverage under the EMHS Employee Health Plan (the Plan). This notice has important information about your right to COBRA continuation coverage, which is a temporary extension of coverage under the Plan. This notice explains COBRA continuation coverage, when it may become available to you and your family, and what you need to do to protect your right to get it. When you become eligible for COBRA, you may also become eligible for other coverage options that may cost less than COBRA continuation coverage.

The right to COBRA continuation coverage was created by a federal law, the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA). COBRA continuation coverage can become available to you and other members of your family when group health coverage would otherwise end. For more information about your rights and obligations under the Plan and under federal law, you should contact the HR Service Center.

You may have other options available to you when you lose group health coverage. For example, you may be eligible to buy an individual plan through the Health Insurance Marketplace. By enrolling in coverage through the Marketplace, you may qualify for lower costs on your monthly premiums and lower out-of-pocket costs. Additionally, you may qualify for a 30-day special enrollment period for another group health plan for which you are eligible (such as a spouse's plan), even if that plan generally doesn't accept late enrollees.

What is COBRA continuation coverage? COBRA continuation coverage is a continuation of Plan coverage when it would otherwise end because of a life event. This is also called a "qualifying event." Specific qualifying events are listed later in this notice. After a qualifying event, COBRA continuation coverage must be offered to each person who is a "qualified beneficiary." You, your spouse, and your dependent children could become qualified beneficiaries if coverage under the Plan is lost because of the qualifying event. Under the Plan, qualified beneficiaries who elect

COBRA continuation coverage must pay for COBRA continuation coverage. If you're an employee, you'll become a qualified beneficiary if you lose your coverage under the Plan because of the following qualifying events: ☐ Your hours of employment are reduced, or ☐ Your employment ends for any reason other than your gross misconduct. If you're the spouse of an employee, you'll become a qualified beneficiary if you lose your coverage under the Plan because of the following qualifying events: ☐ Your spouse dies; ☐ Your spouse's hours of employment are reduced; ☐ Your spouse's employment ends for any reason other than his or her gross misconduct; ☐ Your spouse becomes entitled to Medicare benefits (under Part A, Part B, or both); or ☐ You become divorced or legally separated from your spouse. Your dependent children will become qualified beneficiaries if they lose coverage under the Plan because of the following qualifying events: ☐ The parent-employee dies; ☐ The parent-employee's hours of employment are reduced; ☐ The parent-employee's employment ends for any reason other than his or her gross misconduct; ☐ The parent-employee becomes entitled to Medicare benefits (Part A, Part B, or both); ☐ The parents become divorced or legally separated; or ☐ The child stops being eligible for coverage under the Plan as a "dependent child." When is COBRA continuation coverage available? The Plan will offer COBRA continuation coverage to qualified beneficiaries only after the Plan Administrator has been notified that a qualifying event has occurred. The employer must notify the Plan Administrator of the following qualifying events: ☐ The end of employment or reduction of hours of employment; □ Death of the employee; ☐ The employee's becoming entitled to Medicare benefits (under Part A, Part B, or both).

For all other qualifying events (divorce or legal separation of the employee and spouse or a dependent child's losing eligibility for coverage as a dependent child), you must notify the Plan Administrator within 60 days after the qualifying event occurs. In providing this notice, you must use the Plan's form entitled EMHS Medical/Dental/Flex Spending Account Enrollment/Change Form and attach required documentation (you may obtain a copy of this form from EMHS at no charge, or you can download the form at benefits.emh.org). If these procedures are not followed or if the notice is not provided to EMHS during the 60-day notice period, *THEN ALL QUALIFIED BENEFICIARIES WILL LOSE THEIR RIGHT TO ELECT COBRA.*

How is COBRA continuation coverage provided?

Once the Plan Administrator receives notice that a qualifying event has occurred, COBRA continuation coverage will be offered to each of the qualified beneficiaries. Each qualified beneficiary will have an independent right to elect COBRA continuation coverage. Covered employees may elect COBRA continuation coverage on behalf of their spouses, and parents may elect COBRA continuation coverage on behalf of their children.

COBRA continuation coverage is a temporary continuation of coverage that generally lasts for 18 months due to employment termination or reduction of hours of work. Certain qualifying events, or a second qualifying event during the initial period of coverage, may permit a beneficiary to receive a maximum of 36 months of coverage.

There are also ways in which this 18-month period of COBRA continuation coverage can be extended:

Disability extension of 18-month period of COBRA continuation coverage

If a qualified beneficiary is determined by the Social Security Administration to be disabled and you notify Benefit Strategies in a timely fashion, all of the qualified beneficiaries in your family may be entitled to receive up to an additional 11 months of COBRA coverage, for a total maximum of 29 months. This extension is available only for qualified beneficiaries who are receiving COBRA coverage because of a qualifying event that was the covered employee's termination of employment or reduction of hours. The disability must have started at some time before the 61st day after the covered employee's termination of employment or reduction of hours and must last at least until the end of the period of COBRA coverage that would be available without the disability extension (generally 18 months, as described above).

The disability extension is available only if you notify Benefit Strategies in writing of the Social Security Administration's determination of disability within 60 days after the latest of:

The date of the Social Security Administration's disability determination; The date of the covered employee's termination of employment or reduction of hours;
and
The date on which the qualified beneficiary loses (or would lose) coverage under the terms of The Plan as a result of the covered employee's termination of employment or reduction of hours.

You must also provide this notice within 18 months after the covered employee's termination of employment or reduction of hours in order to be entitled to a disability extension. To provide proper notice, you must contact Benefit Strategies directly at 1-888-401-3539 and provide a copy of your Social Security Administration disability determination. If these procedures are not followed or if the notice is not provided to Benefit Strategies during the 60-day notice period and within 18 months after the covered employee's termination of employment or reduction of hours. THEN THERE WILL BE NO DISABILITY EXTENSION OF COBRA COVERAGE

Second qualifying event extension of 18-month period of continuation coverage

If your family experiences another qualifying event during the 18 months of COBRA continuation coverage, the spouse and dependent children in your family can get up to 18 additional months of COBRA continuation coverage, for a maximum of 36 months, if the Plan is properly notified about the second qualifying event. This extension may be available to the spouse and any dependent children getting COBRA continuation coverage if the employee or former employee dies; becomes entitled to Medicare benefits (under Part A, Part B, or both); gets divorced or legally separated; or if the dependent child stops being eligible under the Plan as a dependent child. This extension is only available if the second qualifying event would have caused the spouse or dependent child to lose coverage under the Plan had the first qualifying event not occurred.

Are there other coverage options besides COBRA Continuation Coverage?

Yes. Instead of enrolling in COBRA continuation coverage, there may be other coverage options for you and your family through the Health Insurance Marketplace, Medicaid, or other group health plan coverage options (such as a spouse's plan) through what is called a "special enrollment period." Some of these options may cost less than COBRA continuation coverage. You can learn more about many of these options at www.healthcare.gov.

If you have questions

Questions concerning your Plan or your COBRA continuation coverage rights should be addressed to the contact or contacts identified below. For more information about your rights under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA), including COBRA, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, and other laws affecting group health plans, contact the nearest Regional or District Office of the U.S. Department of Labor's Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA) in your area or visit www.dol.gov/ebsa. (Addresses and phone numbers of Regional and District EBSA Offices are available through EBSA's website.) For more information about the Marketplace, visit www.HealthCare.gov.

Keep your Plan informed of address changes

To protect your family's rights, let the Plan Administrator know about any changes in the addresses of family members. You should also keep a copy, for your records, of any notices you send to the Plan Administrator.

Plan contact information

You may obtain information about the Plan and COBRA coverage on request from:

EMHS HR Operations and Rewards 43 Whiting Hill Road Suite 200 Brewer, ME 04412 207.973.4000 or 1-855-660-0202 hrservicecenter@emhs.org This contact information for the Plan may change from time to time. The most recent information has been included in this document.

WOMEN'S HEALTH AND CANCER RIGHTS ACT OF 1998

As required by the Women's Health and Cancer Rights Act of 1998, benefits are provided for mastectomy, including reconstruction and surgery to achieve symmetry between breasts, prostheses, and complications resulting from a mastectomy (including lymphedema).

If you are receiving benefits in connection with a mastectomy, benefits are also provided for the following covered services, as you determine appropriate with your provider:

- All stages of reconstruction of the breast on which the mastectomy was performed
- Surgery and reconstruction of the other breast to produce a symmetrical appearance;
 and
- Prostheses and treatment of physical complications of the mastectomy, including lymphedema.

The amount you must pay for these covered services (including copayments and any annual deductible) are the same as are required for any other covered service. Limitations on benefits are the same as for any other covered service.

STATEMENT OF RIGHTS UNDER THE NEWBORNS' AND MOTHERS' HEALTH PROTECTION ACT

Group medical plans and health insurance issuers generally may not restrict, under federal law, benefits for any hospital length of stay in connection with childbirth for the mother or newborn child to less than 48 hours following a vaginal delivery, or less than 96 hours following a cesarean section. However, federal law generally does not prohibit the mother's or newborn's providers, after consulting with the mother, from discharging the mother or her newborn earlier than 48 hours (or 96 hours as applicable). In any case, plans and issuers may not require, under federal law, that a provider obtain authorization from the Plan or the insurance issuer for prescribing a length of stay not in excess of 48 hours (or 96 hours).

MEDICAL COVERAGE WHILE ON LEAVE

Coverage under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA)

If you are currently employed by EMHS or one of the member organizations that has adopted this Plan and if you have at least: one year of service with your current employer and have worked at least 1,250 hours in the previous 12 months for that employer, you may take unpaid family or medical leave for up to 12 weeks in a 12-month period (measured backward from the date any FMLA is used).

This leave may be used for:

- Parenting after the birth of your child (within the first 12 months of the child's life)
- Adoption or foster care of a child (within the first 12 months of adoption or foster placement)
- A serious health condition, either your own or an immediate family member's, such as

spouse, child or parent, or a child for whom you stand *in loco parentis*, or an adult who stood *in loco parentis* to you when you were a child

Unless the need for absence is not foreseeable (e.g., an emergency medical situation), a request for an FMLA leave should be requested by completing an online leave request form, which is available on the EMHS HR Landing Page > Leaves of Absence > Online Leave Request Tool. You may also call the HR Service Center for assistance processing the request or obtaining necessary forms. In the event a medical certification is required, you will need to provide either a completed US Department of Labor Certification of Health Care Provider for Employee's Serious Health Condition (Family and Medical Leave Act) or Certification of Health Care Provider for Family Member's Serious Health Condition (Family and Medical Leave Act) as applicable. During the approved FMLA leave, an employee's position will be held open to the extent required by the FMLA, and the employer will maintain the employee's coverage under the Plan. It is the employee's responsibility to pay their share of applicable premiums.

Coverage under USERRA

The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA) guarantees certain rights to eligible individuals who enter military service. Generally, if you are on a military leave covered under USERRA, you are entitled to the same rights and benefits that EMHS provides to similarly situated employees on other types of leave.

Under the EMHS Military Leave Policy, your medical coverage continues for 12 weeks. You may continue your coverage by paying the same amount charged to active employees for the same coverage.

If your leave is for a longer period of time, you can elect to continue your coverage under COBRA. You will be charged up to the full cost of coverage. The maximum period of continuation coverage under COBRA available to you and your eligible dependents is the lesser of 18 months after the leave begins or the day the leave ends.

In general, to be eligible for the rights guaranteed by USERRA, you must:

- Return to work on the first full regularly scheduled work day following your leave, safe transport home and an 8-hour rest period if you are on a military leave of less than 31 days
- Return to or reapply for reemployment within 14 days of completion of such period of duty if your absence from employment is from 31 to 180 days
- Return to or reapply for reemployment within 90 days of completion of your period of duty if your military service is for longer than 180 days

For more information on your USERRA rights, please contact the EMHS HR Service Center.

COORDINATION WITH MEDICARE

If you are (1) retired and qualify for Medicare, or if you are (2) disabled, under age 65, not working and qualify for Medicare, and (3) you are covered under the Plan, Medicare is generally your primary coverage and the Plan is secondary. This means that Medicare will pay

benefits first, and then your remaining expenses will be considered for reimbursement under the Plan. The Plan will pay the difference between what Medicare would pay and what the Plan would pay. Your claim will always be paid as if you are receiving any Medicare benefits for which you are eligible, even if you are not actually enrolled.

If you are an active employee who is disabled and covered under the Plan, the Plan is generally your primary coverage and Medicare is secondary. This means that the Plan will pay benefits first, and then your remaining expenses will be considered for reimbursement under Medicare. However, if you or a covered dependent became covered under Medicare on or after February 1, 1996, solely because of end stage renal (kidney) disease, then the Plan will continue to be your (or your covered dependent's) primary coverage for the first 30 months. After this time period, Medicare becomes your primary source of coverage.

QUALIFIED MEDICAL CHILD SUPPORT ORDER (QMCSO)

This Plan will comply with the terms of a qualified medical child support order (QMCSO). A QMCSO is an order or judgment from a court or administrative body directing the Plan to cover a child of a participant under the Plan. Federal law provides that a medical child support order must meet certain form and content requirements in order to be a qualified medical child support order. When an order is received, each affected participant and each child (or the child's representative) covered by the order will be given notice of receipt of the order and a copy of the Plan's procedure for determining if the order is valid. Coverage under the Plan pursuant to a QMCSO will not become effective until the Plan administrator determines that the order is a valid QMCSO. If you have any questions or would like to receive, without charge, a copy of the written procedure for determining whether a QMCSO is valid, please contact the EMHS HR Service Center.

COMPLIANCE WITH HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT (HIPAA) PRIVACY AND SECURITY REGULATIONS

Special Enrollment Period

If you decline medical coverage for yourself or your dependents (including your spouse) because of other health insurance or group medical plan coverage, you may be able to enroll yourself and your dependents in this Plan if you or your dependents lose eligibility for that other coverage (or if the employer stops contributing towards your or your dependents' other non-COBRA coverage). However, you must request enrollment no later than 31 days after your or your dependents' other coverage ends (or after the employer stops contributing toward the other coverage). Loss of eligibility for coverage includes (but is not limited to):

- Loss of eligibility as a result of legal separation, divorce, termination of dependent status (such as attaining the maximum age to be eligible as a child under the Plan), death of an employee, termination of employment, or reduction in the number of work hours of employment,
- In the case of coverage offered through an HMO, or other arrangement, in the individual
 or group market that does not provide benefits to individuals who no longer reside, live
 or work in the service area (whether or not within the choice of the individual), and with
 respect to an HMO in the group market, no other benefit package is available to the
 individual,
- A situation in which you incur a claim that would meet or exceed a lifetime limit on all

benefits, in which case you will have 31 days after a claim is denied due to such a lifetime limit to special enroll in this Plan,

- In the case of an individual who has COBRA continuation coverage, at the time the COBRA continuation coverage is exhausted.
- If you acquire a new dependent(s) through marriage, birth, adoption or placement for adoption, you may request special enrollment for any of the following combinations of individuals if not already enrolled in the Plan: employee only; employee and spouse; employee and child(ren); family. Enrollment of child(ren) is limited to the newborn or adopted child(ren) or child(ren) who became child(ren) of the employee due to marriage. Child(ren) of the employee not currently enrolled in the Plan are not entitled to special enrollment.
- If you and/or your dependents were covered under a state Medicaid or a Children's
 Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Plan and the coverage is terminated due to a loss of
 eligibility, you may request special enrollment for yourself and any affected
 dependent(s) who are not already enrolled in the Plan. You must request enrollment
 within 60 days after termination of Medicaid or CHIP coverage.
- If you and/or your dependent(s) become eligible for assistance with group medical plan
 premium payments under a state Medicaid or CHIP Plan, you may request special
 enrollment for yourself and any affected dependent(s) that are not already enrolled in
 the Plan. You must request enrollment within 60 days after the date you are determined
 to be eligible for assistance.
- Except as stated above, special enrollment must be requested within 31 days after the
 occurrence of the special enrollment event. If the special enrollment event is the birth or
 adoption of a child, coverage will be effective immediately on the date of the birth,
 adoption or placement for adoption. Coverage with regard to any other special
 enrollment event will be effective on the first day of the calendar month following receipt
 of the request for special enrollment or in the first of the month if the request is
 coincident with the first.
- Individuals who enroll in the Plan due to a special enrollment event will not be denied enrollment. You will not be enrolled in this Plan if you do not enroll within 31 days of the date you become eligible, unless you are eligible for special enrollment.
- Domestic partners and their children (if not legal children of the employee) are not eligible for special enrollment.

However, loss of eligibility for other coverage **does not include** a loss of coverage due to:

- The failure of you or your dependent to pay premiums on a timely basis,
- Voluntary disenrollment from a Plan, or
- Termination of coverage for cause (such as making a fraudulent claim or an intentional misrepresentation of a material fact in connection with the Plan).

HIPAA Certificate of Creditable Coverage

If you lose your coverage under this Plan, you will automatically be sent a HIPAA certificate of

creditable coverage showing how long you had been covered. This document will provide the proof of coverage you may need to reduce any subsequent medical plan's preexisting medical condition limitation period that might otherwise apply to you. If you elect COBRA continuation coverage, when that coverage ends, you will automatically receive another certificate of creditable coverage.

You may also request a HIPAA certificate of creditable coverage at any time while covered under the Plan and up to 24 months after your coverage has ended.

To request a HIPAA certificate of creditable coverage, you must contact Beacon directly.

Permitted Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information

EMHS may only use and disclose protected health information it receives from the Plan as permitted and as is consistent with the HIPAA Privacy and Security regulations found at 45 CFR Part 164. This includes, but is not limited to, the right to use and disclose participant's protected health information (including electronic protected health information) in connection with payment, treatment and health care operations.

We agree to:

- Not use or further disclose the information other than as permitted or required by the Plan documents or as required by law
- Ensure that any agents, including a subcontractor, to whom it gives protected health information, agrees to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to EMHS with respect to such information
- Implement administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the electronic protected health information that it creates, receives, maintains, or transmits on behalf of the Plan
- Not to use or disclose the information for employment-related actions and decisions or in connection with any other EMHS benefit or employee benefit plan
- Report any use or disclosure of the information that is inconsistent with the uses or disclosures
- Report any security incident
- Make available protected health information in accordance with individuals' rights to review their protected health information
- Make available protected health information for amendment and incorporate any amendments to protected health information consistent with the HIPAA rules
- Make available the information required to provide an accounting of disclosures in accordance with the HIPAA rules
- Make its internal practices, books and records relating to the use and disclosure of protected information available to the Secretary of HHS for purposes of determining compliance

- If feasible, return or destroy all protected health information. EMHS will not retain copies
 of protected health information when no longer needed for the purpose for which
 disclosure was made
- Not use genetic information for underwriting purposes
- Obtain the subject's authorization before using PHI for marketing purposes and before selling PHI

The EMHS Employee Health Plan is required by law to make a copy of the Notice of Privacy Practices for the EMHS Employee Health Plan available to you on request. For a free copy, please log on to the EMHS Benefits intranet portal or call 207-973-4000 or 1-855-660-0202. You may request a copy in writing to EMHS HR Operations and Rewards, 43 Whiting Hill Rd., Suite #200, Brewer, ME 04412.

Premium Assistance Under Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)

If you or your children are eligible for Medicaid or CHIP and you're eligible for health coverage from your employer, your state may have a premium assistance program that can help pay for coverage, using funds from their Medicaid or CHIP programs. If you or your children aren't eligible for Medicaid or CHIP, you won't be eligible for these premium assistance programs but you may be able to buy individual insurance coverage through the Health Insurance Marketplace. For more information, visit www.healthcare.gov.

If you or your dependents are already enrolled in Medicaid or CHIP and you live in a State listed below, contact your State Medicaid or CHIP office to find out if premium assistance is available.

If you or your dependents are NOT currently enrolled in Medicaid or CHIP, and you think you or any of your dependents might be eligible for either of these programs, contact your State Medicaid or CHIP office or dial **1-877-KIDS NOW** or **www.insurekidsnow.gov** to find out how to apply. If you qualify, ask your state if it has a program that might help you pay the premiums for an employer-sponsored plan.

If you or your dependents are eligible for premium assistance under Medicaid or CHIP, as well as eligible under your employer plan, your employer must allow you to enroll in your employer plan if you aren't already enrolled. This is called a "special enrollment" opportunity, and you must request coverage within 60 days of being determined eligible for premium assistance. If you have questions about enrolling in your employer plan, contact the Department of Labor at www.askebsa.dol.gov or call 1-866-444-EBSA (3272).

If you live in one of the following states, you may be eligible for assistance paying your employer health plan premiums. The following list of states is current as of August 10, 2017. Contact your State for more information on eligibility.

ALABAMA – Medicaid	FLORIDA - Medicaid
Website: http://myalhipp.com/	Website: http://flmedicaidtplrecovery.com/hipp/
Phone: 1-855-692-5447	Phone: 1-877-357-3268
ALASKA – Medicaid	GEORGIA - Medicaid

The AK Health Insurance Premium Payment Program	Website: http://dch.georgia.gov/medicaid
Website: http://myakhipp.com/	- Click on Health Insurance Premium Payment
Phone: 1-866-251-4861	(HIPP)
Email: <u>CustomerService@MyAKHIPP.com</u>	Phone: 404-656-4507
Medicaid Eligibility:	
http://dhss.alaska.gov/dpa/Pages/medicaid/default.aspx	
ARKANSAS – Medicaid	INDIANA – Medicaid
Website: http://myarhipp.com/	Healthy Indiana Plan for low-income adults 19-64
Phone: 1-855-MyARHIPP (855-692-7447)	Website: http://www.in.gov/fssa/hip/
	Phone: 1-877-438-4479
	All other Medicaid
	Website: http://www.indianamedicaid.com
	Phone 1-800-403-0864
COLORADO – Health First Colorado	101//4 14 15 11
(Colorado's Medicaid Program) &	IOWA - Medicaid
Child Health Plan Plus (CHP+)	XAZ 1
Health First Colorado Website:	Website:
https://www.healthfirstcolorado.com/	http://dhs.iowa.gov/ime/members/medicaid-a-to-
Health First Colorado Member Contact Center:	<u>z/hipp</u>
1-800-221-3943/ State Relay 711	Phone: 1-888-346-9562
CHP+: Colorado.gov/HCPF/Child-Health-Plan-Plus	
CHP+ Customer Service: 1-800-359-1991/	
State Relay 711	
KANSAS – Medicaid	NEW HAMPSHIRE – Medicaid
Website: http://www.kdheks.gov/hcf/	Website:
Phone: 1-785-296-3512	http://www.dhhs.nh.gov/oii/documents/hippapp.pdf
, , , , , ,	Phone: 603-271-5218
VENTUOVY Madiacid	NEW JEDGEV Medical and CUID
KENTUCKY – Medicaid	NEW JERSEY – Medicaid and CHIP Medicaid Website:
Website: http://chfs.ky.gov/dms/default.htm	
Phone: 1-800-635-2570	http://www.state.nj.us/humanservices/dmahs/clients/medicaid/
	Medicaid Phone: 609-631-2392
	CHIP Website:
	http://www.njfamilycare.org/index.html
LOUISIANA – Medicaid	CHIP Phone: 1-800-701-0710
2 2 2	NEW YORK – Medicaid
Website:	Website:
http://dhh.louisiana.gov/index.cfm/subhome/1/n/331	https://www.health.ny.gov/health_care/medicaid/
Phone: 1-888-695-2447	Phone: 1-800-541-2831
MAINE - Medicaid	NORTH CAROLINA – Medicaid
Website: http://www.maine.gov/dhhs/ofi/public-	Website: https://dma.ncdhhs.gov/
assistance/index.html	Phone: 919-855-4100
Phone: 1-800-442-6003	
TTY: Maine relay 711	
MASSACHUSETTS – Medicaid and CHIP	NORTH DAKOTA - Medicaid
Website:	Website:
http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/massheal	http://www.nd.gov/dhs/services/medicalserv/medicai
<u>th/</u>	<u>d/</u>
Phone: 1-800-862-4840	Phone: 1-844-854-4825
	1

MINNESOTA – Medicaid	OKLAHOMA – Medicaid and CHIP
Website: http://mn.gov/dhs/people-we-	Website: http://www.insureoklahoma.org
serve/seniors/health-care/health-care-	Phone: 1-888-365-3742
programs/programs-and-services/medical-assistance.jsp	
Phone: 1-800-657-3739	
MICCOLIDI M. II. II.	ODECON M. II I
MISSOURI - Medicaid	OREGON – Medicaid
Website:	Website:
http://www.dss.mo.gov/mhd/participants/pages/hipp.ht	http://healthcare.oregon.gov/Pages/index.aspx
<u>m</u>	http://www.oregonhealthcare.gov/index-es.html
Phone: 573-751-2005	Phone: 1-800-699-9075
MONTANA - Medicaid	PENNSYLVANIA - Medicaid
Website:	Website:
http://dphhs.mt.gov/MontanaHealthcarePrograms/HIP	http://www.dhs.pa.gov/provider/medicalassistance/h
<u>P</u>	ealthinsurancepremiumpaymenthippprogram/index.h
Phone: 1-800-694-3084	<u>tm</u>
	Phone: 1-800-692-7462
NEBRASKA – Medicaid	RHODE ISLAND – Medicaid
Website: http://www.ACCESSNebraska.ne.gov	Website: http://www.eohhs.ri.gov/
Phone: (855) 632-7633	Phone: 855-697-4347
Lincoln: (402) 473-7000	
Omaha: (402) 595-1178	
NEVADA - Medicaid	SOUTH CAROLINA – Medicaid
Medicaid Website: https://dwss.nv.gov/	Website: https://www.scdhhs.gov
Medicaid Phone: 1-800-992-0900	Phone: 1-888-549-0820

SOUTH DAKOTA - Medicaid	WASHINGTON - Medicaid
Website: http://dss.sd.gov	Website: http://www.hca.wa.gov/free-or-low-cost-
Phone: 1-888-828-0059	health-care/program-administration/premium-payment-
	<u>program</u>
	Phone: 1-800-562-3022 ext. 15473
TEXAS – Medicaid	WEST VIRGINIA – Medicaid
Website: http://gethipptexas.com/	Website: http://mywvhipp.com/
Phone: 1-800-440-0493	Toll-free phone: 1-855-MyWVHIPP (1-855-699-8447)
UTAH - Medicaid and CHIP	WISCONSIN - Medicaid and CHIP
Medicaid Website: https://medicaid.utah.gov/	Website:
CHIP Website: http://health.utah.gov/chip	https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/publications/p1/p10095.p
Phone: 1-877-543-7669	<u>df</u>
	Phone: 1-800-362-3002
VERMONT- Medicaid	WYOMING - Medicaid
Website: http://www.greenmountaincare.org/	Website: https://wyequalitycare.acs-inc.com/
Phone: 1-800-250-8427	Phone: 307-777-7531

L

VIRGINIA – Medicaid and CHIP	
Medicaid Website:	
http://www.coverva.org/programs_premium_assistance.	
<u>cfm</u>	
Medicaid Phone: 1-800-432-5924	
CHIP Website:	
http://www.coverva.org/programs premium assistance.	
<u>cfm</u>	
CHIP Phone: 1-855-242-8282	

To see if any other states have added a premium assistance program since August 10, 2017, or for more information on special enrollment rights, contact either:

U.S. Department of Labor Employee Benefits Security Administration Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services www.dol.gov/agencies/ebsa 1-866-444-EBSA (3272)

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services www.cms.hhs.gov 1-877-267-2323, Menu Option 4, Ext. 61565

YOUR ERISA RIGHTS

As a participant in the Plan you are entitled to certain rights and protections under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"). ERISA provides that all Plan participants shall be entitled to:

Receive Information about Your Plan and Benefits

Examine, without charge, at the Plan administrator's office and at other specified locations, all documents governing the Plan, including insurance contracts and a copy of the latest annual report (Form 5500 Series) filed by the Plan with the U.S. Department of Labor and available at the Public Disclosure Room of the Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA).

- Receive assistance from EBSA's regional offices in obtaining documents from the Plan administrator, under which the Plan is established or operated.
- Obtain, upon written request to the Plan administrator, copies of all documents governing the operation of the Plan, including insurance contracts, and copies of the latest annual report and updated summary plan description. The administrator may make a reasonable charge for the copies.
- Receive a summary of the Plan's annual financial report. The administrator is required by law to furnish this report to each participant.
- Receive a certificate of creditable coverage, free of charge, from your group Medical Plan or medical insurance issuer when you lose coverage under the Plan, when you become entitled to elect COBRA continuation coverage, or when your COBRA continuation coverage ceases. You should request it before losing coverage or no later than 24 months after losing coverage. This certificate is designed to reduce or eliminate exclusionary periods of coverage for pre-existing conditions under your group medical plan. Without evidence of creditable coverage, you may be subject to a pre-existing condition exclusion (if one exists) for 12 months (18 months for late enrollees) after you

enroll in your new coverage.

Continue Group Medical Plan Coverage

Continue group health coverage for yourself or your dependents if there is a loss of coverage under the Plan as a result of a qualifying event. You or your dependents may have to pay for such coverage. Review this SPD for the rules governing your COBRA continuation coverage rights.

Reduction or elimination of exclusionary periods of coverage for pre-existing conditions under the Plan, if you have creditable coverage from another plan. You should be provided a certificate of creditable coverage, free of charge, from your group medical plan or medical insurance issuer when you lose coverage under the Plan, when you become entitled to elect COBRA continuation coverage, when your COBRA continuation coverage ceases, if you request it before losing coverage, or if you request it up to 24 months after losing coverage. Without evidence of creditable coverage, you may be subject to a pre-existing condition exclusion for 12 months (18 months for late enrollees) after your enrollment date in your coverage.

Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries

In addition to creating rights for Plan participants, ERISA imposes duties upon the people who are responsible for the operation of the Plan. The people who operate your Plan, called "fiduciaries" of the Plan, have a duty to do so prudently and in the interest of you and other Plan participants and beneficiaries.

No one, including your employer or any other person, may fire you or otherwise discriminate against you in any way to prevent you from obtaining a benefit or exercising your rights under ERISA.

If your claim for a benefit is denied in whole or in part, you must receive a written explanation of the reason for your denial. You have the right to have the administrator review and reconsider your claim.

Enforce Your Rights

Under ERISA, there are steps you can take to enforce your rights. For instance, if you request materials from the Plan and do not receive them within 30 days, you may file suit in federal court.

In such a case, the court may require the Plan administrator to provide materials and pay you up to \$110 a day until you receive the materials, unless the materials were not sent because of reason beyond the control of the Plan administrator.

If you have a claim for benefits that is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you have the right to bring a civil action under section 502(a) of ERISA. Plan participants and beneficiaries may also obtain, without a charge, a copy of the Plan's procedures governing Qualified Medical Child Support Order ("QMCSO") determinations. Participants and beneficiaries have the right to have matters involving the qualified status of medical child support orders resolved in federal court.

If it should happen that Plan fiduciaries misuse the Plan's money, or if you are discriminated against for asserting your rights, you may seek assistance from the U.S. Department of Labor, or you may file suit in a federal court. The court will decide who should pay court costs and

legal fees. If you are successful, the court may order the person you have sued to pay these costs and fees. If you lose, the court may order you to pay these costs and fees, for example, if it finds your claim is frivolous.

Assistance with Your Questions

If you have any questions about your Plan, you should contact the Plan administrator. If you have any questions about this statement or about your rights under ERISA, or you need assistance in obtaining documents from the Plan administrator, you should contact the nearest office for the Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, listed in your telephone directory or the Division of Technical Assistance and Inquiries, Employee Benefits Security Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W., Washington, DC 20210.

You may also obtain certain publications about your rights and responsibilities under ERISA by calling the publications hotline of the Employee Benefits Security Administration.

APPROVED AND ACCEPTED

This Plan Document, known as the EMHS Employee Health Plan, is hereby executed at:

BY:

Brewer, Maine 1/1/2018

(City) (State)

Peter Close

TITLE: VP, HR Operations and Rewards

Exhibit A

Key Benefit Information

		Base Plan			Buy-up Plan	
	Preferred	In-Network	Out-of-Network	Preferred	In-Network	Out-of-Network
Annual Employee Funded Health Reimbursement Account (HRA)	Specific info	rmation about HRA co	ontributions can be f	ound on page 12 of t	he Summary Plan D	Oocument
Annual Deductible	\$2,500 Ind \$5,000 Fam	\$3,000 Ind \$6,000 Fam	\$4,000 Ind \$8,000 Fam	\$1,500 Ind \$3,000 Fam	\$2,000 Ind \$4,000 Fam	\$3,000 Ind \$6,000 Fam
Annual Out of Pocket Maximum	\$4,000 Ind \$8,000 Fam	\$4,500 Ind \$9,000 Fam	\$5,500 Ind \$11,000 Fam	\$3,000 Ind \$6,000 Fam	\$3,500 Ind \$7,000 Fam	\$4,500 Ind \$9,000 Fam
Preventive Care Services	100%	6 Paid	50% after deductible	100% Paid		50% after deductible
Office Visit: Primary Care Provider (PCP)	\$25 copay	30% after deductible	50% after deductible	\$25 copay	30% after deductible	50% after deductible
Office Visit: OB/GYN	\$25 copay	30% after deductible	50% after deductible	\$25 copay	30% after deductible	50% after deductible
Outpatient Mental Health services: Provided by a licensed behavioral health professional (includes Individual and Group Therapy)	\$25 copay	30% after deductible	50% after deductible	\$25 copay	30% after deductible	50% after deductible
Urgent Care Services	:	20% after deductible		2	20% after deductible	e
Emergency Care Services	;	30% after deductible		3	30% after deductible	e
Other Services: - Specialist Office Visit - Inpatient & Outpatient Services (i.e. inpatient hospital services; laboratory; x-ray; MRI; PET, and CAT scans, maternity services, and durable medical equipment)	20% after deductible	30% after deductible	50% after deductible	20% after deductible	30% after deductible	50% after deductible
Prescription Benefits						
1 to 30 day supply	\$0/\$10/\$30/\$50	\$0/\$20/\$40/\$60	Not covered	\$0/\$10/\$30/\$50	\$0/\$20/\$40/\$60	Not covered
Maintenance drugs (Miller Drug 90 day supply)	\$0/\$20/\$60/\$100	Not covered	Not covered	\$0/\$20/\$60/\$100	Not covered	Not covered
Mail Order (Miller Drug 90 day supply)	\$0/\$20/\$60/\$100	Not covered	Not covered	\$0/\$20/\$60/\$100	Not covered	Not covered

Exhibit B Benefit Highlights for all Plans

Service	PREFERRED (Employee Pays)	IN-NETWORK (Employee Pays)	OUT-OF-NETWORK* (Employee Pays)	
Primary Care Physician (PCP) & OB/GYN				
Office Visit: PCP	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Office Visit: OB-GYN	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Allergy Treatment/Injections - PCP or Specialty Physician	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Allergy Serum (dispensed by physician in office)	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges	
eVisits: covered up to a maximum of \$35 per eVisit	Plan pays at 100%	, no Plan deductible	n/a	
Specialty Physician Office Visit				
Visits, Consultations, and Referral Physician Services	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Chiropractic Care Up to a maximum of 20 days per calendar year	20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges	
Preventive Care				
Routine Preventive Care Includes Well Baby and Well Child Care	Plan pays at 100%, no Plan deductible 50% of c		50% of charges	
Immunizations	Play pays at 100%, no Plan deductible		50% of charges	
Colon cancer screening	Play pays at 100%	, no Plan deductible	50% of charges	
Mammograms, PSAs, Pap Tests - Preventive Screenings	Play pays at 100%	, no Plan deductible	50% of charges	
Colonoscopy, Mammogram, PSA, Pap Test - Diagnostic (follow-up services) Note: Diagnostic related services are paid at the same level of benefits as other x-ray and lab services	20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges	
Vision Care One eye (refraction) exam covered every calendar year	Plan pays at 100%; no deductible		Plan pays at 100%; no deductible	
Emergency and Urgent Care Services				
Urgent Care Facility	20% of charges			
Hospital Emergency Room***	30% of charges			
Outpatient Professional Services (Radiology, Pathology and Emergency Room Physician)	30% of charges			
Ambulance		30% of charges		

(Employee Pays)	(Employee Pays)	OUT-OF-NETWORK* (Employee Pays)
20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges
20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges
20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges
100% of charges through Optum/Transplant Resource Network	30% of changes	Not covered
Plan pays 100%, no c	Plan pays 100%, no deductible	
20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges
20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges
20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges
20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges
20% of charges	30% of changes	Not covered
20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges
20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges
20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges
	20% of charges	•
	30% of charges	
	20% of charges 100% of charges through Optum/Transplant Resource Network Plan pays 100%, no control 20% of charges 20% of charges 20% of charges 20% of charges 20% of charges	20% of charges 30% of changes 20% of charges 30% of changes 20% of charges through Optum/Transplant Resource Network Plan pays 100%, no deductible 20% of charges 30% of charges 20% of charges 30% of changes 20% of charges 30% of changes

Service	PREFERRED (Employee Pays)	IN-NETWORK (Employee Pays)	OUT-OF-NETWORK* (Employee Pays)	
Independent X-ray and/or Lab Facility	20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges	
Independent X-ray and/or Lab Facility (in conjunction with an Emergency Room visit)		30% of charges		
Advanced Radiological Imaging (MRIs, MRAs, CAT Scans, PET Scans, etc.	·.)			
Physician's Office	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Outpatient Facility	20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges	
Emergency Room (billed by facility as part of the Emergency Room visit)		30% of charges		
Family Planning Services* (Exclusion for Mercy employees and dependents: Refer to Plan Document sections on Qualifying Religious Organizations)				
Office Visits (tests, counseling)	Plan pays at 100%,	no Plan deductible	50% of charges	
Tubal Ligation	Plan pays at 100%,	no Plan deductible	50% of charges	
Vasectomy	Plan pays at 100%,	no Plan deductible	50% of charges	
Infertility Services (Exclusion for Mercy employees and dependents: Refer to Plan Document sections on Qualifying Religious Organizations)				
Office Visit: PCP	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Physician's Office: OB-GYN	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Physician's Office: Specialist (lab & radiology tests, counseling)	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Treatment/Surgery (excludes artificial insemination, in-vitro fertilization, GIFT, ZIFT, etc.)	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Maternity Care Services				
Initial Office Visit to Confirm Pregnancy: PCP	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Initial Office Visit to Confirm Pregnancy: OB-GYN	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Initial Office Visit to Confirm Pregnancy: Specialist	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges	
All subsequent Prenatal Visits, Postnatal Visits and Physician's Delivery Charges (total maternity fee)	20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges	
Office Visits not included in the total maternity fee performed by OB or Specialty Physician: PCP	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Office Visits not included in the total maternity fee performed by OB or Specialty Physician: OB-GYN	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Office Visits not included in the total maternity fee performed by OB or Specialty Physician: Specialist	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges	
Delivery - Facility (Inpatient Hospital/Birthing Center Charges) Note: Home births are covered at the preferred level only	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges	

Service	PREFERRED (Employee Pays)	IN-NETWORK (Employee Pays)	OUT-OF-NETWORK* (Employee Pays)
Childbirth Classes (one class per lifetime; up to a maximum of \$100)		Plan pays 100%, no de	ductible
Lactation Consultations	Plan pays 100%	30% of charges	50% of charges
Breast Pumps Rentals: covered at 100% Purchase of a breast pump: covered up to a maximum of \$300 per lifetime	Plan pays 100%	30% of charges	50% of charges
Bariatric Surgery			
Bariatric Surgery	20% of charges	30% of charges	Not covered
Outpatient Mental Health****			
Outpatient Mental Health services provided by a licensed behavioral health professional (includes Individual and Group Therapy)	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges
Inpatient Mental Health***			
Inpatient Mental Health services (includes Inpatient facility & professional services and partial hospitalization)	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges
Outpatient Substance Abuse			
Outpatient Substance Abuse services (includes screening and intervention services)	\$25 copay**	30% of charges	50% of charges
Inpatient Substance Abuse			
Inpatient Substance Abuse services (includes detoxification and non-hospital residential rehabilitation)	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges
Home Health Services			
Home Health Services a. 16 hour maximum per day b. Private duty not covered	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges
Rehabilitation			
Short-Term Rehabilitative(includes physical, speech, occupational, pulmonary rehab & cognitive therapy) Combined maximum of 60 days per calendar year (not per modality). Notes: a. Therapy sessions provided as part of Home Health Care accumulate toward the Short-Term Rehab Therapy maximum benefit. b. If more than one visit or service within a day, it will only count as one day toward the maximum.	20% of charges	30% of changes	50% of charges

Service	PREFERRED (Employee Pays)	IN-NETWORK (Employee Pays)	OUT-OF-NETWORK* (Employee Pays)
Durable Medical Equipment			
Durable Medical Equipment	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges
External Prosthetic Appliances	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges
Hair Prostheses (wigs) When prescribed by a physician for a patient who suffers hair loss as a result of disease. Up to an annual maximum of \$350 will be paid.	Plan pays 100%	Plan pays 100%	Plan pays 100%
Orthotics	20% of charges	30% of charges	50% of charges

Footnotes:

Note: All co-insurance percentages are the member's share of the cost and are paid after deductible has been met.

- * Out of Network: (a) prior-authorization may be required to obtain coverage, refer to Summary Plan Description for additional information;
- (b) out-of-pocket costs will be higher because cost is based on reasonable and customary charges (not negotiated rates) and subject to balance billing for charges above and beyond reasonable and customary. In addition, members may have to file claims for reimbursement.
- ** Copay applies only to the office visit charge. There may be additional services rendered (i.e., labs, x-rays, etc.) during the office visit that may be billed separately and will be applied to the Plan deductible and out-of-pocket maximum. Copays do not apply to plan deductible.
- *** When certain services, such as labs, radiology, and CT scans for example, are provided in conjunction with an ER visit during which the subscriber is held in observation prior to or without hospital admittance, those charges may be billed as part of the ER visit and generally will not be billed separately as outpatient procedures.
- **** Acadia Hospital employees have access to In-Network inpatient mental health providers at the Preferred level.

Exhibit C

Preventive Health Coverage

Members have access to these preventive care services without copay or co-insurance when provided by a preferred or in-network provider. While preventive care services are also covered when provided out-of-network, they are covered at a lower coinsurance rate and are subject to the Plan deductible.

These preventive health services are based on requirements from the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) and recommendations from the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) (services with an A or B recommendation), the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) for immunizations, the American Academy of Pediatrics' (AAP) Periodicity Schedule of the Bright Futures Recommendations for Pediatric Preventive Health Care, and the American Academy of Family Practice (AAFP). For additional information on immunizations, visit the immunization schedule section of www.cdc.gov.

Wellness Exams and Immunizations					
	Birth to 2 years	Ages 3 to 10	Ages 11 to 21	Ages 22 and older	
Well-baby/well-child/well-person exams: includes height, weight, head circumference, BMI, history, anticipatory guidance, education regarding risk reduction, psychological/behavioral assessment. Note: There may be member cost sharing for some services dependent on your benefit plan	Birth, 1, 2, 4, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18, 24 and 30 months. Additional visit at 3-5 days after birth and within 72 hours after discharge	Once a year	Once a year	Periodic visits, depending on age	
Diphtheria, tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis (DTaP)	2, 4 and 6 months and 15-18 months	Ages 4-6	Tetanus, diphtheria, acellular pertussis (Tdap) given once, ages 11-64	Tetanus and diptheria toxoids booster (Td) every 10 years; Tdap given once, ages 11- 64	
Haemophilus influenzae type b conjugate (Hib)	2, 4 and 6 months and 12-15 months				
Hepatitis A (HepA)	12-23 months			May be required for persons at risk	
Hepatitis B (HepB)	At birth, 1-4 months and 6-18 months	Ages 3-10 if not previously immunized	Ages 11-18 if not previously immunized	May be required for persons at risk	

	Birth to 2 years	Ages 3 to 10	Ages 11 to 21	Ages 22 and older
Human papillomavirus (HPV): limit 3 per lifetime		Ages 9-10per provider	Ages 11-12, catch- up, ages 13-26	Catch-up, through age 26
Influenza vaccine		Annually 6 months through 18 years	Ages 19+ annually	Ages 19+ annually
Measles, mumps and rubella (MMR)	Ages 12-15 months (first dose)	Ages 4-6 (second dose) or 11 and 12 if not given earlier	If not already immune	Rubella for women of childbearing age if not immune
Meningococcal (MCV)	Ages 2 months – 10 years per provider		All persons ages 11- 18 (two doses if given before 16 years)	Per Provider
Pneumococcal (pneumonia)	PCV 13: 2, 4 and 6 months and 12-15 months PPSV 23: per provider	PPSV 23: per provider	provider	Ages 65 and olderPCV 13 one dose if not previously vaccinated PPSV 23 one dose at least one year after PCV 13 Revaccinationper provider for those with risk factors.
Poliovirus (IPV)	2 and 4 months and 6- 18 months	Ages 4-6	Per provider	Per provider
Rotavirus	RV 5 (3 doses) at 2, 4, and 6 months RV 1 (2 doses) at 2 and 4 months			
Varicella (chickenpox)	Ages 12-15 months (first dose)	Ages 4-6 (second dose)	Age 13+: 2 doses if never vaccinated or never had chickenpox	Age 13+: 2 doses if never vaccinated or never had chickenpox
Zoster (Shingles)				Ages 50-59: per provider Ages 60+: one dose

Health screenings and interventions					
	Birth to 2 years	Ages 3 to 10	Ages 11 to 21	Ages 22 and older	
Alcohol, Drugs, & Tobacco Assessments			Ages 11+: per provider	All adults per provider	
Autism	18, 24 months				
Blood pressure		Annually	Annually	Ages 22-39: every 3-5 years per provider Ages 40+: annually	
	Age 2 per provider				
Cholesterol/lipid disorders		Age 10 Ages 4, 6, 8, 9 per provider	Age 20 Ages 11-19: per provider	Ages 40-75: per provider	
Colon cancer screening				The following tests will be covered for colorectal cancer screening, ages 50 -85 (or at any age if risk factors): 1. Fecal occult blood test (FOBT) or fecal immunochemical test (FIT) annually 2. Flexible sigmoidoscopy every 5 years 3. Colonoscopy every 10 years	
Congenital hypothyroidism screening	Birth				
Depression screening			Ages 12-21	Per provider	
Developmental screening	9, 18 months	30 months			

	Birth to 2 years	Ages 3 to 10	Ages 11 to 21	Ages 22 and older
Developmental surveillance	Newborn, 1, 2, 4, 6, 12, 15, 24 months	Annually	Annually	
Diabetes care: includes HbA1c screening, LDL-C screening and nephropathy screening	Per provider	Per provider	Per provider	Per provider
Diabetes screening				Ages 40-70 who are overweight or obese
Domestic violence screening & counseling			Women per provider	Women per provider
Female contraceptive methods and counseling			All Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved contraceptive methods, sterilization procedures and patient education and counseling for all women with reproductive capacity as prescribed by provider	All Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved contraceptive methods, sterilization procedures and patient education and counseling for all women with reproductive capacity as prescribed by provider
Fluoride supplementation	Ages 6m+: per provider	Per provider	Ages 11-16: per provider	
Lung Cancer Screening with Low Dose Computerized Tomography (LDCT)				Adults Aged 55-80, with a 30 pack year history of smoking and are currently smoking or quit within the past 15 years. Stop screening once smoke-free for 15 years.

	Birth to 2 years	Ages 3 to 10	Ages 11 to 21	Ages 22 and older
Hearing screening: not complete hearing examination	Birth, 3-5 days Ages 4,6,9,12,15,18,24,30 m: per provider	Ages: 4,5,6,8 and 10, Ages 3,7,9y: per		Ages 22 and older
Hemoglobin or hematocrit	12 months Ages 4, 15+m: per provider	Ages 3+: per provider	Ages 11+: per provider	Per Provider
HIV screening			Age 17 Ages 11-21: per provider	Per p[rovider
HPV DNA testing: every 3 years				Women Ages 30+ with normal pap result
Iron supplementation	Ages 6m+: per provider			
Lead screening	Ages 12,24 months Ages 6,9,18m: per provider	Ages 3-6: per provider		
Low-dose aspirin to prevent cardiovascular disease: a written or oral prescription must be provided by a provider and presented to a preferred pharmacy or preferred mail order pharmacy for coverage by the plan				81.0 mg strength only is covered for Ages 50 69 per provider
Metabolic/hemoglobinopathies: according to state law	Birth			
Nutrition counseling			Adults with hyperlipidemia, those at risk for cardiovascular disease or diet- related chronic disease per provider	Adults with hyperlipidemia, those at risk for cardiovascular disease or diet- related chronic disease per provider
Obesity screening		Age 6 +: per provider	Age 6 +: per provider	Per provider

	Birth to 2 years	Ages 3 to 10	Ages 11 to 21	Ages 22 and older
PKU screening	Birth			
Prophylactic ocular (eye) medication to prevent blindness	Birth			
Prostate cancer screening (PSA)				Men Ages 55-69: per provider
Sexually transmitted infections (STI)			Ages 11-21: per provider	Per provider
Sickle cell disease screening	Birth			
Tobacco use/cessation interventions			All adults	All adults
Tuberculin test	Per provider	Per provider	Per provider	Per provider
Ultrasound aortic abdominal aneurysm screening				Men ages 65-75 who have ever smoked; limited to one per lifetime
Vision Screening	Per provider	Ages: 3,4,5,6,8 and 10 Other Ages: per provider	Ages: 12, Other Ages: per provider	

Women's Health Screenings and Interventions	
Anemia screening	Pregnant women
Bacteriuria screening	Pregnant women in the 12th-16th week of gestation or during the first prenatal visit, if such a visit is later than the 12th-16th week period
Breast cancer screening (mammogram)	Ages 40-49: biennially per provider Ages 50-74: biennially Ages 75+: per provider
Breastfeeding promotion	During pregnancy and after birth
Breastfeeding support, supplies and counseling	Comprehensive lactation support and counseling by a trained doctor during pregnancy and/or in the postpartum period, and the costs for renting breastfeeding equipment are covered. These services are available for every birth a female member has while covered under the plan
Cervical cancer screening	Ages 21-65: Pap Test every 3 years
Chlamydia screening	or Ages 30-65: Pap Test plus HPV DNA Test every 5 years Sexually active women ages 16-24, and older women per provider based on risk
Culture for Group B strep	Pregnant women
Discussion/referral for counseling related to BRCA1/BRCA2 test	Women at risk
Discussion about potential benefits/risk of breast cancer preventive medication	Women at risk
Folic acid supplementation: a written or oral prescription must be provided by a provider and presented to a preferred pharmacy or preferred mail order pharmacy for coverage by the plan	Women planning or capable of pregnancy
Gestational diabetes screening	Pregnant women between 24 and 28 weeks of pregnancy and at the first prenatal visit for women at high risk
Gonorrhea screening	Sexually active women ages 16-24, and older women per provider based on risk
Hepatitis B screening	Pregnant women at first prenatal visit

HIV counseling	Annually for all sexually active women
Osteoporosis (bone density) screening	Ages 60+ per provider based on risk
Rh incompatibility test	Rh (D) blood typing and antibody testing for all pregnant women during the first prenatal visit and a repeated Rh (D) antibody testing for all unsensitized Rh (D)-negative women at 24-28 weeks of gestation, as required
Syphilis screening	Pregnant women and women at risk
Tobacco use/cessation interventions	Pregnant women and other tobacco users
Urine tests	Pregnant women
Vitamins and supplements	Pregnant women



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #	
Trocedure/oervice	providers	Comments	TTOVIGETS	Associated Medical Policy #	
Abilify Maintena® (aripiprazole)	08/15/13		Postcard July 2013		
J0401					
About the second	04/04/05		Delethe Messel, 2000	MDD 00	
Abraxane® (paclitaxel protein-bound particles)	04/01/06		Briefly March 2006	MBP 36	
J9264	1			 	
Actemra® (tocilizumab)	07/01/10	Restricted to Preferred Facility Only	Briefly June 2010	MBP 76.0	
J3262					
	•				
	_ 				
Aldurazyme® (laronidase)	01/01/06		Briefly March 2006	MBP 7	
J1931					
J2469	•				
Ambulance Transport Service (Non-Emergent)	07/01/14		Postcard February 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 17	
				,	
A0080, A0090, A0100, A0110, A0120, A0130, A0140, A0160, A0170,	A0180, A0190, A0200,	A0210, A0225, A0380, A0390, A0422, A0424, A0425, A0426, A0	427, A0428, A0429, A0430, A0431, A0432,	A0433, A0434, A0435, A0436, A0998	
Ameluz (aminolevulinic acid)	4/15/2017		Postcard March 2017	MBP 149.0	
Currently this drug is billed with and unlisted procedure code					
Aralast™ (human alpha₁-proteinase inhibitor)	04/01/07		Briefly March 2007	MBP 43	
J0256	1				
	<u> </u>		I.	I.	



	Effective Date for		Most recent Communication to	
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
			Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy	
			Review Operational Bulletin (01-07),	
			Erythropoletin Stimulating Agents	
Aranesp® (darbepoetin alfa)	06/15/07		and Briefly June 2007	MBP 49.0
J0881, J0882			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Aristada™ (aripiprazole lauroxil)	04/15/16		Postcard March 2016	MBP 106.0
J1942				
			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Arranon® (nelarabine)	04/01/09		Review	MBP 64.0
J9261				
Arzerra™ (ofatumumab)	07/01/10		Briefly June 2010	MBP 73.0
J9302				
			L	
Aveed® (testosterone)	12/01/14		Postcard November 2014	MBP 116.0
J3145				
			Postcard July 2016-Annual Policy	
Avycaz® (ceftazidime/avibactam)	01/01/16		Review	MBP 132.0
J0714				
			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Beleodaq® (belinostat)	12/01/14		Review	MBP 117.0
J9032				
			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Benlysta® (belimumab)	10/01/11		Review	MBP 90.0
J0490				
Berinert® (C1 esterase inhibitor)	01/01/11		Briefly December 2010	MBP 84.0
J0597	1		1	
Bexxar® (Tositumomab and Iodine 131 Tositumomab)	06/15/04		Briefly March 2006	MBP 25
· ·	33,10/04			<u> </u>
A9544, A9545, G3001				



	Effective Date for		Most recent Communication to	
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
		This is covered when Medically Necessary and with Prior		
5. C. H. J. C. N. B. J. J. H. H. J. H. J.	00/04/00	Authorization from the plan	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	l
Biofeedback for Non Behavioral Health indications	09/01/00		Review	MP 04
90901, 90911				
			Postcard May 2017-Annual Policy	
Blepharoplasty	10/15/00		Review	MP 10
15820, 15821, 15822, 15823, 67900, 67901, 67902, 67903, 67904, 67	7906, 67908			
Director (Allertators and A	07/04/45		D-4 0045	MDD 400.0
Blincyto® (blintatumomab)	07/01/15		Postcard June 2015	MBP 128.0
J9039				
Blood clotting factors given in a nonemergency outpatient		This is covered when Medically Necessary and with Prior		
Facility setting		Authorization from the plan	Briefly March 2006	Not Applicable
J7180, J7181, J7182, J7183, J7185, J7186, J7187, J7188, J7189, J71	90, J7191, J7192, J719 T	93, J7194, J7195, J7196, J7197, J7198, J7199, J7200, J7201, J72 I	202, J7205, J7207, J7209	1
			Postcard July 2016-Annual Policy	
Botox® (Botulinum toxin Type A)	01/01/00		Review	MBP 11
 	1040 04044 04045 0	10.40 0.40.47 0.4050 0.4050 0.70.45	-	-
10585, 46505, 52287, 64611, 64612, 64615, 64616, 64617, 64642, 64	1043, 64644, 64645, 64	1040, 04047, 04050, 64653, 67345		



	Effective Date for		Most recent Communication to	
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
			1	
			Postcard May 2017-Annual Policy	
Breast Reduction	03/01/02	Prior authorization for all lines of business	Review	MP 68
19318				
		B 414 14 B 4 15 199	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Carimune (intraveneous immune globulin)	01/01/06	Restricted to Preferred Facilities only	Review	MBP 4
J1566				
			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Cerezyme® (imiglucerase)	10/01/08		Review	MBP 60.0
J1786				
31700			T	
			•	
			T	1
Cimzia® (certolizumab pegol)	07/01/10		Briefly June 2010	MBP 74.0
	07/01/10		Briefly dulie 2010	MDF 74.0
J0718	<u> </u>			
Cinqair (reslizumab)	12/15/2016		Postcard November 2016	MBP 145.0
J2786				
			Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy	
Cinryze™ (C1-esterase inhibitor)	01/01/11		Review	MBP 85.0
J0598			·	
				1
Clolar® (clofarabine)	04/01/06		Briefly March 2006	MBP 38
J9027				
J3U21				



	Effective Date for		Most recent Communication to				
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Providers	Associated Medical Policy #			
Comparative Genomic Hybridization (CGH) or Chromosomal							
Microarray Analysis (CMA) for Evaluation of Developmental		This is covered when Medically Necessary and with Prior	Postcard March 2017-Annual Policy				
Delay	07/01/11	Authorization from the Plan.	Review	MP 255			
\$3870, 81228, 81229							
			Postcard September 2016-Annual				
Cosentyx® (secukinumab) vials	01/01/16		Policy Review	MBP 131.0			
Currently this drug is reported with an unlisted procedure code.							
Cresemba® IV (isavuconazonium sulfate)	01/01/16		Postcard October 2015	MBP 134.0			
Cresemba® iv (isavuconazonium sunate)	01/01/16		Postcard October 2015	MBP 134.0			
J1833	1		_				
I							
			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy				
Cuvitru (Subcutaneous immune globulin)	01/01/06	Restricted to Preferred Facilities only	Review	MBP 4			
Compath this dwg is billed with and valieted we seek up and							
Currently this drug is billed with and unlisted procedure code	1		Destand laborate Assessed Ballion	Π			
Cyramza® (ramucirumab)	12/01/14		Postcard July 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 115.0			
Cyramza® (ramucirumab)	12/01/14		Review	MBF 115.0			
J9308							
Dacogen® (decitabine)	07/01/07		Briefly June 2007	MBP 46.0			
J0894							
Dalvance™ (dalbavancin)	03/01/15		Postcard February 2015	MBP 121.0			
J0875							
Darzalex™ (daratumumab)	07/01/16		Postcard March 2016	MPR 120.0			
	07/01/16		r ostcaru Marcii 2010	MBP 139.0			
J9145							
			Postcard February 2017-Annual Policy				
Deep Brain Stimulation	05/01/03		Review	MP 73			
61850, 61860, 61863, 61864, 61867, 61868, 61870, 61885, 61886							



Dorsal Column Stimulation 02/01/04 63650, 63655, 63685 Durable Medical Equipment (Outpatient) Speech Generating Devices Power Wheelchairs	Prior authorization required prior to the trial implantation (the implantation before the device becomes permanent); Changes to a generator for a previously placed permanent device does not require prior auth; Purchased/Rented DME items with an allowed amount of \$500 or less DO NOT require prior authorization except: Incontinence Supplies, when a covered benefit Equipment Repairs Prior authorization for outpatient Durable Medical	Most recent Communication to Providers Briefly March 2006	Associated Medical Policy # MP 21
Durable Medical Equipment (Outpatient)	(the implantation before the device becomes permanent); Changes to a generator for a previously placed permanent device does not require prior auth; Purchased/Rented DME items with an allowed amount of \$500 or less DO NOT require prior authorization except: Incontinence Supplies, when a covered benefit Equipment Repairs	Briefly March 2006	MP 21
Durable Medical Equipment (Outpatient)	Purchased/Rented DME items with an allowed amount of \$500 or less DO NOT require prior authorization except: • Incontinence Supplies, when a covered benefit • Equipment Repairs	Isheny warch 2006	IMP 21
Durable Medical Equipment (Outpatient)	\$500 or less DO NOT require prior authorization except: • Incontinence Supplies, when a covered benefit • Equipment Repairs		
	\$500 or less DO NOT require prior authorization except: • Incontinence Supplies, when a covered benefit • Equipment Repairs		
<u> </u>	Equipment (DME) can be obtained through Medical Management by calling 855-429-1024 or faxing your request to 877-403-7162, Monday through Friday 8:00am	OPS Bulletin November 2015	Not Applicable
	to 5;00 pm EST.		
See comments section for prior authorization requirements. Specific coding is not availab	e.		
Dysport® (Botulinum toxin Type A) 01/01/10		Postcard July 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 11.0
J0586			
Elaprase® (idursulfase) 07/01/07		Briefly June 2007	MBP 44.0
J1743			
Electrical Stimulation to aid wound healing 10/01/01		Postcard May 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 113
G0281, G0329, E0761			
Elelyso™ (taliglucerase alfa) 04/01/13		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 100.0
J3060			
Elitek® (rasburicase) 03/01/05		Briefly March 2006	MBP 29
J2783	1		_
Emend® IV (fosaprepitant) 08/15/13	1	Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 104.0
J1453		IZEAIEM	<u>. </u>



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
Empliciti™ (elotuzumab)	04/15/16		Postcard March 2016	MBP 140.0
J9176				
Entyvio® (vedolizumab)	12/01/14	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 118.0
J3380				
Epidural Injections	07/01/05		Briefly September 2006	MP 151
62320, 62321, 62322, 62323, 64479, 64480, 64483, 64484, 0228T, 02	29T, 0230T, 0231T			
Epidural Lysis of Adhesions	10/01/04	Please see "Percutaneous Lysis of Epidural Adhesions".	Postcard February 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 138
62263, 62264				
Epogen® (epoetin alpha)	06/15/07	EPO, epoetin alfa, epoetin beta.	Operational Bulletin (01-07), Erythropoietin Stimulating Agents and Briefly June 2007	MBP 49.0
J0885				
Eraxis™ (anidulafungin)	01/01/08		Briefly December 2007	MBP 53.0
J0348				
Erwinaze® (asparaginase)	07/01/13		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 95.0
J9019				
Erythropoietin Stimulating Agents	06/15/07	EPO, epoetin alfa, epoetin beta.	Operational Bulletin (01-07), Erythropoietin Stimulating Agents and Briefly June 2007	MBP 49.0
J0885, Q4081				
Exondys 51 (eteplirsen)	4/1/2017		Postcard June 2017	MBP 148.0
C9484				
Extraction of teeth and Alveoloplasty (<u>Coverage with Prior</u> <u>Authorization is limited to extractions that are required prior to organ transplantation</u> , cardiac or radiation procedures)	04/01/10	Example: dental extractions associated with cardiac or transplant surgery and/or radiation therapy	Briefly March 2010	MP 38
41874, Dental codes related to extraction of teeth				



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
				·
Fabrazyme® (agalsidase beta)	01/01/06		Briefly March 2006	MBP 18
J0180				
Facet Injections	03/01/15		Postcard February 2015	MP 283
64490, 64491, 64492,64493, 64494, 64495, 0213T, 0214T, 0215T, 02	16T, 0217, 0218T			
Facet or Sacroiliac Joint Denervation	05/01/15	Sacroiliac Joint Added	Postcard March 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 231
64633, 64634, 64635, 64636, 64640, 64643				
Fetal Surgery	04/01/99		Postcard September 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 59
59072, 59074, 59076, S2400, S2401, S2402, S2403, S2404, S2405, S	S2409, S2411			
Flebogamma (intravenous immune globulin)	01/01/06	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 4
J1572				
Fiolan® (epoprostenol)	01/01/09		Briefly December 2008	MBP 61.0
J1325, S0155				
Gammaked/Gamunex/Gamunex-C/Gammaplex (intravenous immune globulin)	01/01/06	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 4
J1561, J1557				
Gastric Electrical Stimulation	07/01/12		Postcard July 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 134
43647, 43648, 43881				
Gazyva™ (obinutuzumab)	08/01/14		Postcard July 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 113.0
J9301				
Gel-One® (hyaluronan or derivative)	10/01/09		Postcard September 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 13.0
J7326, J7320, J7322				
			Postcard July 2016-Annual Policy	
Gender Dysphoria and Gender Confirmation Treatment	7/18/2016		Review	MP 307



MP 170

11980,19301, 19303, 19304, 19324, 19325, 19350, 19357, 31587, 31750, 53415, 53420, 53425, 53420, 5

Postcard September 2016-Annual
Gene Expression Profiling for Breast Cancer (Onco Type DX)

01/01/08

Policy Review

81519, S3854, 0008M



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Postcard September 2016-Annual	Associated Medical Folicy #
Gene Expression Profiling for Colon Cancer (Onco Type DX)	11/01/12		Policy Review	MP 246
81525				
		This is covered when Medically Necessary and with Prior Authorization from the Plan.	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Genetic Testing Related to Colorectal Cancer	04/01/11	Authorization from the Plan.	Review	MP 98
81201, 81202, 81203, 81210, 81288, 81292, 81293, 81294, 81295, 81:	296, 81297, 81298, 81	299, 81300, 81301, 81317, 81318, 81319, 81435, 81436		
GenVisc® 850 (hyaluronan or derivative)	01/01/17		Postcard September 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 13.0
J7320			-	•
Glassia (alpha1-proteinase inhibitor, human)	01/01/12		Briefly March 2007	MBP 43.0
J0257	•			
Granix® (TBO-filgrastim)	01/01/14	All locations require prior auth except emergency room locations	Postcard July 2014	MBP 59.0
J1447				
Halaven - T™ (eribulin mesylate)	07/01/11		Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 88.0
J9179			-	•
Health Care Services associated with Non-covered Services (including but not limited to deep sedation and general anesthesia)	Contract Dependent		Briefly March 2006	Not Applicable
	1			•



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
1 Tocedure/Del Vice	providers	Comments	Trovidero	Associated Medical 1 Olicy #
			1	L
	<u> </u>	Prior authorization is only required for Hospice when it		T
		relates to Inpatient or private duty nursing services. Prior		
		authorization can be obtained by calling Medical Management		
		at 855-429-1024.		
Hospice	01/01/96		OPS Bulletin March 2017	MP 37
655, 656, T2044, T2045			1	
Hyalgan® (hyaluronate sodium)	10/01/09		Briefly September 2009	MBP 13.0
J7321	19,0 ,,00		2	IMD: 10.0
		Hyalgan®, Orthovisc® and Supartz™, Gel-One, GenVisc		
		850 and Hymovis require prior auth. (Synvisc®, Synvisc		
Hyaluronidase Products	10/01/09	One™, Euflexxa™ DOES NOT require prior auth.)	Briefly September 2009	MBP 13.0
J3473, J7320, J7321, J7322, J7324, J7326, J7327				
Hymovis ® (hyaluronan or derivative)	01/01/17		Postcard September 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 13.0
	01/01/17		Policy Review	MBP 13.0
J7322	<u> </u>		In	
HyQvia (immune globulin/hyaluronidase)	01/01/16		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 4.0
J1575			•	



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #	
llaris® (canakinumab)	07/01/10		Briefly June 2010	MBP 77.0	
J0638					
Iluvien® (fluocinolone acetonide)	08/15/15	First treatment of Iluvien, for diabetic macular edema does not require prior authorization.	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 129.0	
J7313					
Imlygic™ (talimogene laherparepvec)	04/15/16		Postcard March 2016	MBP 136.0	
J9325					
Inflectra (infliximab-dyyb)	06/15/17	Restricted to Preferred Facility Only	Postcard May 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 5.0	
Q5102					
		Effective May 1, 2017, prior authorization will be required for ALL planned inpatient hospital admissions. This will apply to ALL ADMISSIONS. Prior authorization is required no less than two (2) business days prior to the planned admission and should be called in to the Health Plan Utilization Management Department at 855-429-1024			
Inpatient (planned) hospital admissions	01/01/96		OPS Bulletin April 2017	Not Applicable	
Intercostal Nerve Block	03/01/15		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 294	
64420, 64421, 64620					
Intrathecal Infusion Pump	03/01/15	Medication refill does not require Prior Authorization MP 298 has been combined with MP 293	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 293	
62324, 62325, 62326, 62327, 62350, 62351, 62360, 62361, 62362					
Intravenous (IV) Boniva® (ibandronate sodium)	07/01/07		Briefly June 2007	MBP 42	
J1740					
Intravenous Immune Globulin (IVIG)	01/01/06	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only No prior auth needed for Rhogam.	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 4	
J1459, J1556, J1557, J1559, J1561, J1562, J1566, J1568, J1569, J1572, J1575, J1599					
Invega Sustenna® (paliperidone palmitate extended release)	08/15/13		Postcard September 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 106.0	
J2426					



	Effective Date for	_	Most recent Communication to	
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
lstodax® (romidepsin)	10/01/10		Briefly September 2010	MBP 78.0
J9315				
lxempra™ (ixabepilone)	10/01/08		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 63.0
J9207				
Jevtana® (cabazitaxel)	01/01/11		Briefly December 2010	MBP 82.0
J9043				
Kadcyla® (abo-trastuzumab emtansine)	09/01/13		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 108.0
J9354				
Kalbitor® (ecallantide)	01/01/11		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 86.0
J1290				
Kanuma® (sebelipase alfa)	1/1/2017			
J2840				
Keytruda® (pembrolizumab)	03/01/15		Postcard February 2015	MBP 119.0
J9271				
Kyprolis® (carfilzomib)	01/01/13		Postcard August 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 97.0
J9047	•		•	



	Effective Date for		Most recent Communication to				
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Providers	Associated Medical Policy #			
1 TOOCUUTO/OCTVICC	providere	Comments	7.00.00.0	Accordated Medical 1 only "			
			Postcard August 2016-Annual Policy				
Laminectomy (Elective)	04/01/13		Review	MP 268			
63005, 63012, 63017, 63030, 63035, 63042, 63044, 63047, 63048, 63	3005, 63012, 63017, 63030, 63035, 63042, 63044, 63047, 63048, 63185, 63190, 63191,						
Lartruvo (olaratumab)	4/15/2017		Postcard April 2017	MBP 147.0			
C9485							
Lemtrada (alemtuzumab)	07/01/15		Postcard June 2015	MBP 125.0			
J0202							
		All locations require prior auth except emergency room					
Leukine® (sargramostim)	04/01/08	locations.	Briefly March 2008	MBP 59.0			
J2820							
			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy				
Lumizyme® (Alglucosidase alfa)	01/01/11	Restricted to Freieneu'r acintles Only	Review	MBP 83.0			
J0221							
			Postcard February 2017-Annual Policy				
Lung Volume Reduction Surgery	01/01/10		Review	MP 60			
32491							



	Effective Date for		Most recent Communication to	
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
1 1000ddi G/OCI YIOC	pieridoio	Comments	110114616	Associated inculour Folloy ii
		Τ	1	1
			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Makena® (hydroxyprogesterone caproate)	07/01/15		Review	MBP 127.0
J1725, Q9986				
T			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Marqibo® (vincristine sulfate liposome injection)	11/01/14			MBP 111.0
marqibos (vincristine sunate riposome injection)	11/01/14		IVEALER	IMBF 111.0
J9371				
			_	•
Mental Health and Substance Abuse (Inpatient, Partial				
Hospitalization and Outpatient)			Briefly March 2006	Not Applicable
and the same of th	1	L	. ,	I
	•			
			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Mircera® (epotin beta)	08/15/15	EPO, epoetin beta.	Review	MBP 130.0
10007 10000	_			
J0887, J0888				



	Effective Date for		Most recent Communication to	
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
Monovisc® (hyaluronan or derivative)	10/01/09		Briefly September 2009	MBP 13.0
J7327	_		1	1
Myobloc® (botulinum toxin Type B)	01/01/01		Briefly March 2006	MBP 11.0
J0587				
Myozyme® (alglucosidase alfa)	01/01/08		Briefly December 2007	MBP 55.0
J0220				
Naglazyme® (galsulfase)	10/01/06		Briefly September 2006	MBP 39.0
J1458			-	
Neulasta® (pegfilgrastim)	04/01/08	All locations require prior auth except emergency room locations	Briefly March 2008	MBP 59.0
J2505	•		-	
		All locations require prior auth except emergency room		
Neupogen® (filgrastim)	04/01/08	locations	Briefly March 2008	MBP 59.0
J1442				
Nplate™ (romiplostim)	07/01/09	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	Briefly July 2009	MBP 68.0
J2796				
Nucala® (mepolizumab)	6/15/2016		Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 141.0
J2182				
			Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy	
Nulojix® (belatacept)	01/01/12		Review	MBP 93.0
J0485				



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
Nutritional Supplements			Postcard February 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 247
B4034, B4035, B4036, B4081, B4082, B4083, B4087, B4088, B4100	0, B4102, B4103, B4104,	B4149, B4150, B4152, B4153, B4154, B4155, B4157, B415	8, B4159, B4160, B4161, B4162, B9002, B9998	
Obesity Surgery	03/01/02		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 65
43644, 43645, 43770, 43771, 43772, 43773, 43774, 43775, 43842,	43843, 43845, 43846, 4	3847, 43848, 43886, 43887, 43888		
Occipital Nerve Block	03/01/15		Postcard December 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 296
64405				
Octagam (intravenous immune globulin)	01/01/06	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 4
J1568				
Off Label Drug Use-Oncology Indications	01/01/12		Postcard June 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 92.0
Any off-label drug or biologic used for an oncologic indication not incl	luded in the FDA approve	d labeling for the drug would require prior authorization.		1
Onivyde™ (irinotecan liposome)	04/15/16		Postcard March 2016	MBP 138.0
J9205				
Ontak® (denileukin diftitox)	12/01/04		Briefly March 2006	MBP 28
J9160				
Opdivo® (nivolumab)	07/01/15		Postcard September 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 126.0
J9299				
Orencia® (abatacept)	02/01/07	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	Briefly December 2006	MBP 40.0
J0129				
Orthognathic Surgery (including, but not limited to mandibular and maxillary osteotomies)	04/01/10		Briefly March 2010	MP 38
21120, 21121, 21122, 21123, 21125, 21127, 21141, 21142, 21143,	21145, 21146, 21147, 2	1193, 21194, 21195, 21196, 21198, 21199, 21206, 21685		



Phototherapy for the Treatment of Dermatological Conditions

E0691, E0692, E0693, E0694

Exhibit D – EMHS Employee Health Plan Prior Authorization List

Postcard July 2017-Annual Policy

MP 259

All drugs newly approved by the FDA should be considered to require prior authorization until such time as they are formally reviewed by the GHP Pharmacy & Therapeutics Committee. Final determinations to require prior authorization for specific drugs will be added to this list as they are made. The following codes are included below for informational purposes and may not be all inclusive. Inclusion of a procedure or device code(s) does not constitute or imply coverage nor does it imply or guarantee provider reimbursement. Coverage is determined by the member specific benefit plan document and any applicable laws regarding coverage of specific services. Current Procedural Terminology (CPT®) © American Medical Association: Chicago, IL				
Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
FIOCEULIE/GELVICE	piovideis	Comments	1 TOVIGETS	Associated Medical Folicy #
orthovisc® (hyaluronate sodium)	10/01/08		Briefly September 2008	MBP 13.0
7324				
	-			
	,			

8/15/2015



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
1,100000110,100	prosimore	Evaluation and visit 4-6 covered to PA review and approval	35 110111111	7.0000.acoa moaroar i oney ii
		Evaluation and visit 4-0 covered to 1 A Teview and approva		
Physical, Occupational, or Speech Therapy (Outpatient)	01/01/96		Briefly March 2006	Not Applicable
420, 421, 422, 423, 424, 429, 430 431, 432, 433, 434, 439, 440, 441, 44 97018, 97022, 97024, 97026, 97028, 97032, 97033, 97034, 97035, 970 S9152, T1015, V5362, V5363, V5364 (Prior authorization for codes providers whose services are non-Rehab related.)	036, 97039, 97110, 97	7112, 97113, 97116, 97124, 97139, 97140, 97150, 97530, 97532,	97533, 97535, 97537, 97542, 97597, 9759	8, 97602, 97750, 97755, G0283, G0329,
Portrazza™ (necitumumab)	6/15/2016		Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 142.0
J9295				
Praxbind (idarucizumab)	6/15/2016		Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 143.0
Currently this drug is billed with and unlisted procedure code				
Prialt® (ziconotide intrathecal infusion)	01/01/08		Briefly December 2007	MBP 58.0
J2278				
Privigen (intravenous immune globulin)	01/01/06	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 4
J1459				
Probuphine (buprenorphine implant)	1/1/2017		Postcard February 2017	MBP 146.0
J0570				
			Operational Bulletin (01-07),	
Procrit® (epoetin alpha)	06/15/07		Erythropoietin Stimulating Agents and Briefly June 2007	MBP 49.0
J0885				



Prosterics 0301/13 Prior Authorization for Medicaid. Prostard June 2017-Annual Policy Review MBP 81.0					
Protestatin® (human alpha,-proteinase inhibitor) 0401/07 Briefly March 2007 MBP 43 02055 Protein (denosumab) 0101/11 Prior Authorization for Medicaid. Prior Authorization for Medicaid. 9700 L5010, L5020, L5060,	Procedure/Service		Comments		Associated Medical Policy #
Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review MBP 81.0		,			
Protial™ (denosumab) 01/01/11 Prostard June 2017-Annual Policy Review MBP 81.0 MBP 82.0 MBP 82.0	Prolastin® (human alpha₁-proteinase inhibitor)	04/01/07		Briefly March 2007	MBP 43
	J0256				
Prosthetics 03/01/13 Prior Authorization for Medicaid. Prior Authorization for School L6500.	Prolia™ (denosumab)	01/01/11			MBP 81.0
5000, L5010, L5020, L5050, L5060, L5100, L5100, L5100, L5100, L5100, L5200, L5201, L5200, L5230, L5250, L5270, L5280, L5201, L5331, L5341, L5341, L5341, L5340, L5400, L5410, L5420, L5430, L5450, L5460, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5500, L5505, L55	J0897				
5000, L5010, L5020, L5050, L5060, L5100, L5100, L5100, L5100, L5100, L5200, L5201, L5200, L5230, L5250, L5270, L5280, L5201, L5331, L5341, L5341, L5341, L5340, L5400, L5410, L5420, L5430, L5450, L5460, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5505, L5500, L5500, L5505, L55					
.5535, L5540, L5560, L5570, L5580, L5695, L5690, L5691, L5601, L5611, L5611, L5611, L5612, L5612, L5622, L5622, L5628, L5	Prosthetics	03/01/13	Prior Authorization for Medicaid.		
Provenge® (sipuleucel-T) O1/01/11 Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review MBP 79.0 O2/043 Remicade® (infliximab) O3/01/01 Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only Review MBP 05 MBP 05 MBP 05 MBP 05 MBP 05	L5643, L5644, L5645, L5646, L45647, L5648, L5649, L5660, L5651, L5652, L5653, L5654, L5655, L5656, L5656, L5666, L5666, L5666, L5666, L5666, L5667, L5671, L5712, L5714, L5716, L5772, L5774, L57678, L5679, L5786, L5786, L5780, L5780, L5780, L5780, L5780, L5790, L5790, L5790, L5791, L5710, L5711, L5712, L5714, L5716, L5714, L5716, L5722, L5724, L5726, L5726, L5726, L5780, L5781, L5822, L5824, L5824, L5824, L5826, L5828, L5830, L5840, L5845, L5845, L5855, L5856, L5857, L5856, L5857, L5858, L5859, L5910, L5920, L5925, L5930, L5940, L5950, L5960, L5961, L5962, L5964, L5966, L5968, L5968, L5969, L5970, L5971, L5972, L5973, L5974, L5975, L5978, L5979, L5980, L5981, L5882, L5834, L5844, L5846, L5848, L5859, L5844, L5846, L5848, L5859, L5858, L5859, L5858, L5859, L5858, L5859, L59810, L5920, L5920, L6920, L6020, L6026, L6050, L6055, L6100, L6110, L6120, L6130, L6200, L6205, L6250, L6300, L6310, L6320, L6350, L6300, L6382, L6384, L6386, L6388, L6400, L6450, L6500, L6550, L6570, L6582, L6584, L6586, L6588, L6590, L6600, L6605, L6611, L6615, L6616, L6620, L6621, L6623, L6624, L6625, L6628, L6629, L6630, L6632, L6634, L6638, L6640, L6641, L6642, L6645, L6646, L6647, L6648, L6650, L6655, L6660, L6665, L6670, L6672, L6675, L6676, L6677, L6680, L6682, L6684, L6686, L6684, L6688, L6689, L6691, L6691, L6893, L6694, L6695, L6695, L6690, L6695, L66910, L6915, L6920, L6930, L8040, L8041, L8042, L8044, L8044, L8045, L8044, L8045, L8049, L8300, L8310, L8320, L8330, L8400, L8410, L8415, L8417, L8420, L8435, L8440, L8460, L8487, L8480, L8489, L8500, L8501, L8507, L8509, L8507, L8509, L8507, L8509, L8507, L8509, L8507, L8509, L8600, L8691, L8693, L8690, L8693, L8690, L8694, L8669, L8690, L8691, L8693, L8690, L8690, L8691, L8693, L8690, L8690, L8691, L8693, L8690, L8690, L8691, L8690, L8460, L8485, L8440, L8485, L8449, L8500, L8501, L8507, L8507, L8509, L8507, L8507				
Provenge® (sipuleucel-T) O1/01/11 Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only Remodulin® (treprostinil) Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review MBP 79.0 MBP 79.0 MBP 05	Proton Beam Radiation	07/01/09		•	MP 226
Provenge® (sipuleucel-T)	77520, 77522, 77523, 77525, \$8030				
Remicade® (infliximab) 03/01/01 Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only Review Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review MBP 05 11745 Remodulin® (treprostinil) Briefly December 2008 MBP 62.0	Provenge® (sipuleucel-T)	01/01/11			MBP 79.0
Remicade® (infliximab) 03/01/01 Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only Review MBP 05 MBP 05 Remodulin® (treprostinil) 01/01/09 Briefly December 2008 MBP 62.0	Q2043				
Remodulin® (treprostinil) 01/01/09 Briefly December 2008 MBP 62.0	Remicade® (infliximab)	03/01/01	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	-	MBP 05
	J1745				
	Remodulin® (treprostinil)	01/01/09		Briefly December 2008	MBP 62.0
3285	J3285				



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #		
Restorative or Reconstructive surgical procedures due to their potential cosmetic or limitation of benefit	Contract Dependent		Briefly March 2006	Not Applicable		
Rhinoplasty as a stand alone procedure or Rhineoplasty, with or without septal repair, in conjunction with other planned medically necessary surgeries.	11/01/02		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 204		
30400, 30410, 30420, 30430, 30435, 30450, 30520, 30620						
Rhinoplasty including major septal repair	11/01/02		Postcard June 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 204		
30400, 30410, 30420, 30430, 30435, 30450, 30520, 30620						
Risperdal Consta® (risperidone)	08/15/13		Postcard September 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 106.0		
J2794						
Rituxan® (rituximab)	10/01/07	Per policy, Rituxan for Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma does not require prior authorization	Briefly September 2007	MBP 48.0		
J9310						
Ruconest® (C1 esterase inhibitor, recocmbinant)	07/01/15		Postcard June 2015	MBP 124.0		
J0596						
Sacral Nerve Stimulation - Interstim (including trial implantation)	05/01/03	Prior authorization is required prior to the trial implantation (the implantation prior to the device becoming permanent); providers may also refer to this as Interstim	Briefly March 2006	MP 91		
64561, 64581, 64590						
Sacroiliac Joint Fusion	01/15/16		Postcard December 2015	MP 301		
27279						
Sacroiliac Joint Injection	05/01/15		Postcard December 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 295		
27096, 64493, 64494, 64495						
Sandostatin LAR® (Octreotide acetate)	04/01/13		Briefly March 2013	MBP 99.0		
J2353						
Septoplasty as a stand alone procedure or septoplasty in conjunction with other planned medically necessary surgeries	11/01/02		Postcard June 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 204		
30520, 30620						



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #		
			Postcard July 2016-Annual Policy			
Signifor® LAR (pasireotide)	01/01/16		Review	MBP 133.0		
J2502						
Simponi® Aria (golimumab)	10/01/14		Postcard September 2014	MBP 112.0		
J1602						
Sivextro® (tedizolid phosphate)	03/01/15		Postcard February 2015	MBP 122.0		
J3090						
		Participating providers are also required to notify the Health Plan of an intermediate level of care admission(s)/discharge(s); PRECERT INFORMATION IS TO BE CALLED TO THE UTILIZATION MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT AT 855-429-1024				
Skilled Level of Care Admission	01/01/96		Briefly March 2006	Not Applicable		
Soliris® (eculizumab)	10/01/08	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 54.0		
J1300						
Speech Generating Devices			Postcard March 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 275		
E2500, E2502, E2504, E2506, E2508, E2510, E2511, E2512, E2599						
Spinal Fusion (Elective)	04/01/13		Postcard August 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 269		
22533, 22534, 22558, 22585, 22612, 22614, 22630, 22632, 22633, 226	22533 22534 22558 22585 22612 22614 22630 22632 22633 22634					
Spinraza (nusinersen)	7/1/2017			MBP 151.0		
C9489						
	07/01/10		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy			
Stelara™ (ustekinumab)	07/01/10		Review	MBP 75.0		
J3357, Q9989						



	Effective Date for		Most recent Communication to	
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
Supartz™ (hyaluronate sodium)	10/01/09		Briefly September 2009	MBP 13.0
	10/01/00			10.0
J7321	I I			
Supprelin® LA (histrelin acetate implant)	07/01/09		Briefly June 2009	MBP 67.0
J9226			Postcard December 2016-Annual	1
Suprascapular Nerve Block	03/01/15		Policy Review	MP 297
64418	•			
Sustol (granisetron extended release)	4/15/2017		Postcard April 2017	MBP 150.0
C9486				
	00/04/45			
Sylvant™ (siltuximab)	03/01/15		Postcard February 2015	MBP 120.0
J2860	1			
Summath atia Namua Diagle	03/01/15		Postcard December 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 292
Sympathetic Nerve Block	03/01/15		Policy Review	IMP 292
64505, 64510, 64520, 64530				
Synagis® (palivizumab)	10/01/05		Briefly March 2006	MBP2
	10/01/00			INDI Z
90378	ı		Destand hims 2047 Americal Delleri	
Synribo™ (omacetaxine mepesuccinate)	04/01/13		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 102.0
			1	
J9262	I			
Tecentriq™ (atezolizumab)	10/15/2016		Postcard September 2016	MBP 144.0
C9483				



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
Termination of Pregnancy (Abortion)	02/01/14		Postcard March 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 282
59840, 59841, 59850, 59851, 59852, 59855, 59856, 59857, S0199				
Torisel™ (temsirolimus)	04/01/09		Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 65.0
J9330				
Transplant evaluation services (pre-transplant services) and surgical tranplantation of organs, bone marrow or stem cells (Solid Organ)	08/01/03		Postcard February 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 20
32850, 32851, 32852, 32853, 32854, 32855, 32856, 33930, 33933, 33 44136, 44715, 44720, 44721, 47133, 47135, 47140, 47141, 47142, 47' 50547, 86367, 86807, 86808, 86812, 86813, 86816, 86817, 86821, 868	143, 47144, 47145, 47	146, 47147, 48160, 48550, 48551, 48552, 48554, 48556, 50300,		
				•
Tumor Treatment Fields	8/15/2016		Postcard September 2016-Annual Policy Review	MP 306
77299, E0766, A4555				



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
Tysabri® (natalizumab)	01/01/08	Restricted to Preferred Facilities Only	Briefly December 2007	MBP 57.0
J2323	•			
Unituxin (dinutuximab)	01/01/16		Postcard October 2015	MBP 135.0
There is no code at this time for this drug. This drug should be reported	d with an unlisted proce	edure code.		
Vagal Nerve Stimulation	12/01/01		Briefly March 2006	MP 51
61885, 61886, 64568				
Varicose Vein Treatments	02/01/03	Endovenous Radiofrequency Ablation, Sclerosing, Stab Phlebectomy, Vein ligation, Vein Stripping, Transilluminated Power Phlebectomy (Trivex)	Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 33
36470, 36471, 36473, 36474, 36475, 36476, 36478, 36479, 37700, 37	718, 37722, 37735, 3	7760, 37761, 37765, 37766, 37780, 37785		
Vectibix® (panitumumab)	07/01/07		Briefly June 2007	MBP 50.0
J9303				
Velcade® (bortezomib)	08/01/04		Briefly March 2006	MBP 23
J9041				
Veletri® (epoprostenol)	07/01/12		Briefly December 2008	MBP 61.0
J1325				
Vimizim® (elosulfase alfa)	12/01/14		Postcard November 2014	MBP 114.0
J1322				
	1	T	T	



Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
Procedure/Service	providers	Comments	Fioviders	Associated Medical Policy #
Viscosupplemention (Hyalgan®, Orthovisc®, Supartz™, Monovisc® and Gel-One®)	10/01/09	Hyalgan®, Orthovisc®, Supartz™, Monovisc®, Gel-One® GenVisc 850 and Hymovis require prior auth. (Synvisc®, Synvisc One™, Euflexxa™ DOES NOT require prior auth.)	Briefly September 2009	MBP 13.0
J3473, J7321, J7324, J7326, J7327				
Vision Services(For Medicaid Only)-Low Vision Aids, Eye Occluder	04/27/15	Prior authorization for Medicaid Only.	Department of Human Services- What's New	Medical Assistance Bulletin # 99-15-05
V2600, V2610, V2615, V2770				
Vision Therapy/Orthoptics	09/01/13	Prior authorization for Medicaid Only.	Postcard August 2013	MP 277
92065				
Vitrasert® (ganciclovir intravitreal implant)	07/01/05		Briefly March 2006	MBP 34
67027, J7310				
Voraxaze® (glucarpidase)	01/01/14		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 96.0
C9293				
VPRIV® (velaglucerase alfa)	01/01/14		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 105.0
J3385				
White Blood Cell Stimulating Factors (Neulasta®, Neupogen®, Leukine®, Granix® and Zarxio®)	04/01/08	All locations require prior authorization except emergency room locations.	Briefly March 2008	MBP 59.0
J1442, J1447, J2505, J2820				
Whole Exome Sequencing	05/15/16		Postcard May 2017-Annual Policy Review	MP 280
81415, 81416, 81417				
Xeomin® (Botulinum toxin Type A)	01/01/12		Briefly December 2011	MBP 11.0
J0588				
Xgeva™ (denosumab)	07/01/11		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 89.0
J0897				

Procedure/Service	Effective Date for providers	Comments	Most recent Communication to Providers	Associated Medical Policy #
iaflex® (collagenase clostridium histolyticum)	01/01/11		Briefly December 2010	MBP 80.0
0527, J0775				
Cofigo® (radium Ra 223 dichloride)	09/01/13		Postcard August 2013	MBP 110.0
9606				
olair® (omalizumab)	02/01/04		Briefly March 2006	MBP 22
2357				
∕ervoy™ (ipilimumab)	10/01/11		Postcard May 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 91.0
9228				
ondelis® (trabectedin)	7/1/2016		Postcard March 2016	MBP 137.0
9352				
Zarxio (filgrastim- sndz)	1/1/2016		Postcard January 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 59.0
25101				
altrap® (ziv-aflibercept)	04/01/13		Postcard June 2017-Annual Policy Review	MBP 101.0
9400				
emaira® (human alpha₁-proteinase inhibitor)	04/01/07		Briefly March 2007	MBP 43
0256				
evalin® In-111 and Zevalin® Y-90 (ibritumomab)	01/01/03		Briefly March 2006	MBP 15
9542, A9543				
inplava (bezlotoxumab)	7/1/2017			
9490				
'yprexa Relprevv® (olanzapine)	08/15/13		Postcard September 2016-Annual Policy Review	MBP 106.0



Behavioral Health Services	
Inpatient Services: All in-network and out-of-network inpatient services – PA & concurrent review	
Outpatient Services: Select non-routine outpatient services to include: OP ECT; IOP; PHP; Psychological Testing; rTMS; ABA; - PA & concurrent review	

SERVICES AND/OR SUPPLIES REQUIRING PRECERTIFICATION:

(Failure to obtain Precertification could result in balance billing for services and/or supplies listed below)

- 1. Advanced Molecular Topographic Genotyping *
- 2. Autologous Chondrocyte Implantation
- 3. Bioengineered Skin Equivalents (including, but not limited to, Dermagraft TM and Apligraf TM (Graftskin) a type of skin graft)
- 4. Blepharoplasty (plastic surgery of the eyelids)
- 5. Carotid Artery Stenting
- 6. Cochlear Implants (surgically implanted hearing device)
- 7. Comparative Genomic Hybridization (CGH) or Chromosomal Microarray Analysis (CMA) for Evaluation of Developmental Delay*
- 8. Deep Brain Stimulation
- 9. Durable Medical Equipment (DME)
- 10. Dorsal Column Stimulation (spinal column stimulation)
- 11. Electrical Stimulation to aid bone healing; invasive procedure (surgical procedure related to bone growth stimulator)
- 12. External Counterpulsation Therapy
- 13. Extracorporeal Shock Wave Treatment (ESWT) for Musculoskeletal Indications
- 14. Extraction of Teeth, Alveoloplasty, and Excision of Tori (limited to extractions performed by an oral surgeon that are required prior to organ transplantation, cardiac or radiation procedures)
- 15. Fetal Surgery (surgery on the unborn child)
- 16. Gastric Electrical Stimulation
- 17. Gene Expression Profiling for Breast Cancer (Oncotype DX)*
- 18. Gene Expression Profiling for Colon Cancer (Oncotype DX)*
- 19. Genetic Testing for BRCA1 or BRCA2 for Breast or Ovarian Cancer*
- 20. Genetic Testing Related to Colorectal Cancer*
- 21. Health Care Services Associated with Non-Covered Services (such as anesthesia related services to noncovered dental extractions)
- 22. Home Health Services (including home infusion services)
- 23. Hospice
- 24. Injection Therapy for Back Pain*
- 25. Inpatient Facility Admission
- 26. Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services:
 - i) **Inpatient and Partial Hospitalization Services**. Precertification is required when mental health and Substance Abuse inpatient and partial hospitalization services are obtained from a Provider who does not participate in the Designated Behavioral Health Benefit Program.
 - ii) **Outpatient Services**. Precertification is required for the following outpatient services:
 - a. Intensive outpatient program treatment
 - b. Outpatient electro-convulsive treatment

EXHIBIT E -- EMHS EMPLOYEE HEALTH PLAN PRECERTIFICATION LIST 2018

- c. Psychological testing
- d. Outpatient treatment of Opioid dependence
- e. Extended outpatient treatment visits beyond 45-50 minutes in duration with or without medication management
- f. Outpatient treatment provided in the Member's home
- g. Biofeedback
- h. Applied Behavioral Analysis (ABA) for the treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorder
- 27. Obesity Surgery*
- 28. Orthognathic Surgery (including, but not limited to mandibular and maxillary osteotomies)
- 29. Osseointegrated Hearing Device (BAHA Hearing Device)
- 30. Outpatient Rehabilitation Services (occupational, physical or speech therapy)
- 31. Pectus Excavatum or Carinatum (surgical correction of chest deformity)
- 32. Proton Beam Radiation
- 33. Restorative or Reconstructive Surgical Procedures (except for a Medically Necessary mastectomy as set forth in Section 3.14 of this Plan Document which is not subject to Precertification)
- 34. Rhinoplasty as stand alone procedure or Rhinoplasty with or without Septal Repair in conjunction with other planned Medically Necessary surgeries
- 35. Sacral Nerve Stimulation (treatment to improve bladder control)
- 36. Septoplasty as stand alone procedure/Septoplasty in conjunction with other planned Medically Necessary surgery
- 37. Skilled Nursing Facility Admission
- 38. Stereotactic Radiosurgery (including but not limited to Cyberknife, GammaKnife, LINAC, Neuromate, Nerhkoordinaten Manipulator (MKM))
- 39. Transmyocardial Laser Revascularization (TMLR) (when performed as a stand-alone procedure–process to increase blood supply to the heart)
- 40. Transplant evaluation services (pre-transplant services) and surgical transplantation of organs, bone marrow or stem cells. *
- 41. Vagal Nerve Stimulation (electrical stimulation for seizure control)
- 42. Varicose Vein Procedures (including injection of sclerosing solution into varicose leg veins and vein stripping)
- 43. Ventricular Assist Device (VAD)

Those items with an asterisk (*) are not covered when performed by a Non-Preferred Provider.

**Referral for services at out-of-network providers must receive prior approval by the Plan in order to be covered at the in-network level.

EXHIBIT E -- EMHS EMPLOYEE HEALTH PLAN PRECERTIFICATION LIST 2018

Agents and/or Medications Requiring Precertification:

- 1. Abraxane TM (paclitaxel protein-bound particles)
- 2. ActemraTM (tocilizumab)
- 3. Aldurazyme TM (laronidase)
- 4. Aloxi TM (palonosetron)
- 5. Amevive TM (alefacept)
- 6. Aralast TM (human alpha₁-proteinase inhibitor)
- 7. Aranesp TM (darbepoetin alfa)
- 8. Arranon TM (nelarabine)
- 9. ArzerraTM (ofatumumab)
- 10. Avastin TM (bevacizumab)
- 11. BenlystaTM (belimumab)
- 12. BerinertTM (C1 esterase inhibitor)
- 13. BexxarTM (tositumomab and iodine 131 tositumomab)
- 14. BotoxTM (botulinum toxin A and B)
- 15. Cerezyme TM (imiglucerase)
- 16. Cimzia TM (certolizumab pegol)
- 17. CinryzeTM (C1 esterase inhibitor)
- 18. Clolar TM (clofarabine)
- 19. Dacogen TM (decitabine)
- 20. Elaprase TM (idursulfase)
- 21. Elitek TM (rasburicase)
- 22. Eloxatin TM (oxaliplatin)
- 23. Epogen TM (epoetin alfa)
- 24. Eraxis TM (anidulafungin)
- 25. Erbitux TM (cetuximab)
- 26. Erythropoietin Stimulating Agents
- 27. Fabrazyme TM (agalsidase beta)
- 28. Flonan TM (epoprostenol)
- 29. Glassia TM (human alpha₁-proteinase inhibitor)
- 30. Hyalgan TM(hyaluronate sodium)
- 31. Halaven-TTM (eribulin mesylate)
- 32. IlarisTM (canakinumab)
- 33. Intravenous (IV) Boniva (ibandronate sodium)
- 34. Intravenous Immune Globulin (IVIG)
- 35. IstodaxTM (romidepsin)
- 36. Ixempra TM (ixabepilone)
- 37. JevtanaTM (cabazitaxel)
- 38. KalbitorTM (ecallantide)
- 39. Leukine TM (sargramostim)
- 40. LumizymeTM (alglucosidase alfa)
- 41. Mozobil TM (plerixafor)

EXHIBIT E -- EMHS EMPLOYEE HEALTH PLAN PRECERTIFICATION LIST 2018

- 42. Myozyme TM (alglucosidase alfa)
- 43. Naglazyme TM (galsulfase)
- 44. Neulasta TM (pegfilgrastim)
- 45. Neupogen TM (filgrastim)
- 46. Nplate TM (romiplostim)
- 47. Nulojix TM(belatacept)
- 48. Off Label Drug Use for Oncologic Indications
- 49. Ontak TM (denileukin diftitox)
- 50. Orencia TM (abatacept)
- 51. Orthovisc TM (hyaluronate sodium)
- 52. Prialt TM (ziconotide intrathecal infusion)
- 53. Procrit TM (epoetin alfa)
- 54. Prolastin TM(human alpha₁-proteinase inhibitor)
- 55. ProliaTM (denosumab)
- 56. ProvengeTM (sipuleucel-T)
- 57. RemicadeTM (infliximab)
- 58. Remodulin TM (treprostinil)
- 59. Rituxan TM (rituximab)
- 60. Soliris TM (eculizumab)
- 61. StelaraTM (ustekinumab)
- 62. Supartz TM(hyaluronate sodium)
- 63. Supprelin TM LA (histrelin acetate implant)
- 64. Synagis TM (palivizumab)
- 65. ToriselTM (temsirolimus)
- 66. Treanda TM (bendamustine)
- 67. Tysabri TM (natalizumab)
- 68. Vectibix TM (panitumumab)
- 69. Velcade TM (bortezomib)
- 70. Veletri TM (epoprostenol)
- 71. Viscosupplementation
- 72. Vitrasert TM (ganciclovir intravitreal implant)
- 73. Vivitrol TM (naltrexone microspheres)
- 74. White Blood Cell Stimulating Factors
- 75. XgevaTM (denosumab)
- 76. XiaflexTM (collagenase clostridium histolyticum)
- 77. Xolair TM (omalizumab)
- 78. Yervoy TM (ipilimumab)
- 79. Zemaira TM(human alpha₁-proteinase inhibitor)
- 80. Zevalin TM (ibritumobab tiuxetan)

EMHS - System Policy

Policy #: 17-025 Date: 2/4/2016

Date last reviewed: 2/2016 Supersedes#: New Dated:

Title: Affordable Care Act

Author: Peter Close, VP HR Operations & Rewards

Executive Sponsor: VP & General Counsel (For Human Resources)

EMHS President/CEO

APPLICABILITY

ALLECADILITI
⊠ EMHS adopts the following Policy (and any Attachment(s)) for all its Member
Organizations, specifically including those listed below:
☐ EMHS adopts the following Policy (and any Attachment(s)) for its Member Organizations
selected below:
☐ Acadia Healthcare ☐ Lakewood Continuing Care Center
☐ Acadia Hospital ☐ Maine Coast Memorial Hospital
☐ Affiliated Lab ☐ Mercy Hospital
☐ Beacon Health ☐ Meridian Mobile Health
☐ Blue Hill Memorial Hospital ☐ Miller Drug
☐ CA Dean Memorial Hospital ☐ Sebasticook Valley
☐ Eastern Maine Medical Center ☐ The Aroostook Medical Center
☐ EMHS Foundation ☐ VNA Home Health & Hospice
☐ EMHS Home Office ☐ WorkHealth
☐ Inland Hospital ☐ Other (list):
This policy was approved by those noted below on the date(s) as noted: EMHS Leadership Council, 01/19/2016
HR Policy Standardization Task Group, 11/20/2015
RELATED REFERENCE(S)
System Policy 17-022, Non-Statutory Leaves of Absence

DEFINITIONS

Employee Status

ACA: The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.

Employee Health & Welfare Benefits

System Policy 17-023, Federal and State Military Leaves of Absence

System Policy 17-024, Federal and State Family and Medical Leaves of Absence

ACA FT Employee: An employee who either i) is hired to work 130+ hours per month (30+ hours per week) or ii) averages 130+ hours per month (30+ hours per week) during a

Measurement Period. All hours worked, including OT, plus paid leave and statutory leave are included.

ACA PT Employee: An employee who is neither i) hired to work 130+ hours per month (30+ hours per week) nor ii) averages 130+ hours per month (30+ hours per week) during a Measurement Period. All hours worked, including OT, plus paid leave and statutory leave are included.

ACA Seasonal Employee: An employee hired into a position for which the customary annual employment is six months or less. "Customary" means that: 1) by the nature of the position an employee typically works for a period of six months or less, and 2) the period of employment should begin each calendar year in approximately the same part of the year, such as summer or winter.

ACA Variable Hour Employee: A newly hired employee whose hours are variable or uncertain such that, based on the facts and circumstances on the employee's start date, an employer cannot determine whether such employee is reasonably expected to work an average of at least 30 hours per week during the initial Measurement Period.

Administrative Period: The period during which employers are to process the measurement period numbers and offer coverage to ACA FT Employees. EMHS uses a 2 month Administrative Period.

Break-in-Service: A period of 13 consecutive weeks during which an ACA FT Employee has no hours worked and/or is on non-statutory, unpaid leave. If an ACA FT Employee returns after a Break-in-Service, he or she is treated as a new employee for benefits enrollment purposes.

Hours of Service: Each hour for which an employee is paid, or entitled to payment, for the performance of duties for an EMHS Member Organization, and each hour for which an employee is paid, or entitled to payment, by an EMHS Member Organization for a period of time during which no duties are performed due to vacation, holiday, illness, incapacity (including disability), layoff, jury duty, military duty, or leave of absence.

On-Going Employee: Incumbent employees.

Plan: The EMHS Employee Medical Plan.

Measurement Period: The period used to calculate average hours in order to determine whether an employee is an ACA FT Employee. EMHS uses a 12 month Measurement Period.

Stability Period: A period equal in duration to the Measurement Period during which an employee's status must remain set as an ACA FT or PT Employee regardless of whether the employee's hours change.

Temporary Employees: Referred to as short-term employees under the ACA, are those employees hired into a position that is less than 12 months in length. If reasonably expected to

average 130+ hours per month (30 hours per week), temporary employees should be classified as ACA FT and eligible for medical coverage and offered coverage the first day of the month following 60 days from date of hire.

For more information on temporary employees, refer to the HR policy on Employee Status.

POLICY EFFECTIVE: January 1, 2016

PURPOSE

To offer medical insurance coverage in accordance with the ACA.

POLICY

All new employees expected to work an average of 130 hours or more a month when hired are eligible to participate in the Plan beginning the first of the month following date of hire. On-Going Employees who average 130 hours or more per month during a Measurement Period will be eligible to participate in the Plan during a Stability Period. This policy does not change the existing EMHS Member Organization benefits eligibility as stated in the HR policy "Employee Status" to the extent such policy is more generous.

EMPLOYEES COVERED BY COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENTS

Collective bargaining agreements may contain provisions that either supersede or are supplemental to the provisions of this policy. Managers with staff covered by a collective bargaining agreement should refer to the provisions of the applicable collective bargaining agreement.

PROCEDURE

- 1. This policy does not change the existing EMHS Member Organization benefits eligibility as stated in the HR policy "Employee Status" to the extent such policy is more generous.
- 2. Determining ACA FT Employees:
 - a. EMHS has adopted the look back measurement method in order to determine whether or not an employee is an ACA FT Employee.
 - b. Variable Hour and ACA PT Employees will be measured according to the initial Measurement Period, described below. EMHS will continue to track employee hours under the Measurement Period for On-Going Employees as long as the employees are employed.
- 3. ACA FT Employees, who are not in EMHS benefits-eligible budgeted position, will be offered coverage under the Plan at an EMHS system-wide employee-only cost-share premium. These employees may add their dependent children to their coverage without an employer subsidy. Premiums will be communicated directly to employees at the time the EMHS HR Service Center contacts them to offer medical insurance coverage.
- 4. Measurement, Stability, and Administrative Periods On-Going Employees: EMHS has adopted a look back Measurement Period in order to determine whether or not an On-

Going Employee is an ACA FT Employee. During the Measurement Period, EMHS will average an employee's Hours of Service in order to determine whether he/she is an ACA FT Employee. The Measurement Period is followed by a subsequent Stability Period during which the employee will be deemed to have worked the same hours as he or she did during the Measurement Period. The Administrative Period gives EMHS time to measure whether an employee is an ACA FT Employee. The use of this look back method avoids fluctuations in full-time status for employees during the Stability Period. The beginning and ending dates for these periods are as follows:

- Measurement Period: The Measurement Period for On-Going Employees is November 1 through October 31 of each year.
- Administrative Period: The Administrative Period for On-Going Employees will begin on November 1 and will end on December 31 of each year.
- Stability Period: The Stability Period for On-Going Employees will start on January 1 and end on December 31 of each year.
- 5. Measurement, Stability, and Administrative Periods New Employees:

New variable, part-time and seasonal employees who are not considered ACA FT Employees on their start date will be monitored during an initial Measurement Period to determine whether they will be ACA FT Employees during the subsequent Stability Period. Once an employee has been employed for an entire standard Measurement Period, the employee will be considered an On-Going Employee for subsequent Measurement Periods.

- Measurement Period: The initial Measurement Period will begin on the first day of the month following the new employee's date of hire and will end on the last day of the 11th month following date of hire.
- Administrative Period: The Administrative Period for New Employees is two months following the end of the Initial Measurement Period.
- Stability Period: The initial Stability Period is the 12 month period beginning on the first day of the third calendar month after the end of the initial Measurement Period.
- 6. Change in Status for On-Going Employee: An employee changing from EMHS benefits-eligible to ACA PT Employee status will continue to be eligible for coverage for three months at the EMHS system-wide employee-only cost-share premium and cover his or her dependent children at 100% cost without employer subsidy. At the end of the three months, if the employee did not average 130+ hours per month, the employee will cease to be eligible for medical insurance coverage. If the employee averages 130+ hours per month during the three month period, medical insurance coverage will continue through the Stability Period and be treated as an On-Going Employee, eligible to receive the EMHS system-wide employee-only cost-share premium and cover his or dependent children at 100% cost without employer subsidy.

ATTACHMENT(S): None.

EMHS Employee Health Plan Medical Benefit Claims and Appeals Procedures

1. Introduction

1.1 Introduction

Under Department of Labor ("DOL") regulations, claimants are entitled to full and fair review of any claims made under the EMHS Employee Health Plan (the "Plan"). The procedures described in this document are intended to comply with DOL regulations by providing reasonable procedures governing the filing of claims for Plan benefits, notification of benefit decisions, and appeal of adverse benefit determinations.

1.2 Purpose of This Document

This document, which is a separate document that accompanies the EMHS Employee Health Plan Document and Summary Plan Description ("SPD"), describes how benefit claims and appeals are made and decided under the Plan. The SPD describes the benefits provided under the Plan. For a description of the appeals process for pharmacy claims, please see Plan's Appeals Process – Pharmacy attached to the SPD Exhibit H.

2. Definitions

Certain words and phrases that are used frequently throughout this document are explained below. If you are uncertain about the meaning of a word or phrase, contact the Plan Administrator for further clarification.

2.1 Claim

A "Claim" is any request for a Plan benefit or benefits made in accordance with these claims procedures. A communication regarding benefits that is not made in accordance with these procedures will not be treated as a Claim under these procedures. Any request for Plan benefits that is not made in accordance with these claims procedures is considered an incorrectly filed claim.

2.2 Claimant

You become a "Claimant" when you make a request for a Plan benefit or benefits in accordance with these claims procedures.

2.3 Plan

The "Plan" is the EMHS Employee Health Plan.

2.4 Plan Administrator and Named Fiduciary

EMHS is the "Plan Administrator" and "Named Fiduciary" under the Plan with the ultimate responsibility for making claim and appeal decisions. EMHS has the discretionary authority to interpret the Plan in order to make benefit decisions as it may determine in its sole discretion. EMHS also has the discretionary authority to make factual determinations as to whether any individual is entitled to receive any benefits under the Plan. EMHS has contracted with Beacon Health to assist in the claims processing and appeals process, but has not delegated final decision making to Beacon Health.

3. Types of Claims

3.1 Different Rules Apply

As described below, there are four categories of Claims that can be made under the Plan, each with somewhat different claim and appeal rules. The DOL regulations set different requirements based on the type of Claim involved. The primary difference is the timeframe within which claims and appeals must be determined. It is very important to follow the requirements that apply to your particular type of Claim. If you have any questions regarding what type of Claim and/or what claims procedure to follow, contact the Plan at the address indicated under "General Filing Rules."

3.2 Four Claim Types

3.2.1 Pre-Service Claim

A Claim is a pre-service claim if the SPD specifically conditions receipt of the benefit, in whole or in part, on receiving approval in advance of obtaining the medical care-unless the Claim involves urgent care, as defined below. Benefits under the Plan that require approval in advance are specifically noted in the SPD as being "subject to prior authorization" and "pre-certification." For benefits not noted as being "subject to "prior authorization" or "pre-certification," no advance approval is necessary, and any request for advance approval will not be treated as a Claim.

3.2.2 Urgent Care Claim

An urgent care claim is a special type of pre-service claim. A Claim involving urgent care is any pre-service claim for medical care or treatment with respect to which the application of the time periods that otherwise apply to pre-service claims could seriously jeopardize the Claimant's life or health or ability to regain maximum function, or would-in the opinion of a physician with knowledge of the Claimant's medical condition-subject the Claimant to severe pain that cannot be adequately managed

without the care or treatment that is the subject of the Claim.

On receipt of a pre-service claim, the Plan will make a determination as to whether it involves urgent care; in any event, a Claim will be treated as an urgent care claim if a physician with knowledge of the Claimant's medical condition indicates that the Claim involves urgent care.

3.2.3 Post-Service Claim

A post-service claim is any Claim for a benefit under the Plan that is not a pre-service claim, an urgent care claim, or a concurrent care claim.

3.2.4 Concurrent Care Claim

A concurrent care decision occurs where the Plan approves an ongoing course of treatment to be provided over a period of time or for a specified number of treatments. There are two types of concurrent care claims: (a) where reconsideration of previously approved care results in a reduction or termination of the initially approved period of time or number of treatments; and (b) where an extension is requested beyond the initially approved period of time or number of treatments.

3.3 Change in Claim Type

The Claim type is determined initially when the Claim is filed. However, if the nature of the Claim changes as it proceeds through the claims process, the Claim may be recharacterized. For example, a Claim may initially be an urgent care claim. If the urgency subsides, it may be re-characterized by the Plan as a pre-service claim.

4. How to File a Claim for Benefits

4.1 General Filing Rules

Except for urgent care claims, discussed below, a Claim for Plan benefits is made when a Claimant submits a written Claim for Benefits form to:

The EMHS Employee Health Plan C/o Beacon Health PO Box 21116 Eagan, MN 55121 Attention: Claims Department

Phone 855-429-1023

Claim forms may be obtained by contacting 1-855-429-1023. A Claim for Benefits form will be treated as received by the Plan on the date that it is deposited in the U.S. Mail for first-class delivery in a properly stamped envelope addressed to the above name and address. The postmark on any such envelope will be proof of the date of mailing. Claims must be submitted by the applicable deadlines for the type of Claim as indicated in these procedures. Unless otherwise indicated, when used in these claims procedures, the term "day" means a calendar day. Any questions about these claims procedures may be directed to the Plan at the above address and phone number.

4.2 Designating an Authorized Representative

An authorized representative may act on behalf of a Claimant with respect to a benefit Claim or appeal under these claims procedures. No person (including a treating health care professional) will be recognized as an authorized representative until the Plan receives an Appointment of Authorized Representative form signed by the Claimant, except that for urgent care claims the Plan shall, even in the absence of a signed Appointment of Authorized Representative form, recognize a health care professional with knowledge of the Claimant's medical condition (e.g., the treating physician) as the Claimant's authorized representative unless the Claimant provides specific written direction otherwise.

An Appointment of Authorized Representative form may be obtained from, and completed forms must be submitted to, the Plan at the address indicated under "General Filing Rules." Once an authorized representative is appointed, the Plan shall direct all information, notification, etc. regarding the Claim to the authorized representative. The Claimant shall be copied on all notifications regarding decisions, unless the Claimant provides specific written direction otherwise. Where appropriate, references in these claims procedures to Claimant include the Claimant's authorized representative.

An assignment for purposes of payment (e.g., to a health care professional) does not constitute appointment of an authorized representative under these claims procedures.

4.3 Special Filing Rules for Certain Claim Types

4.3.1 Post-Service Claims

A post-service claim must be filed within 90 days following receipt of the medical service, treatment or product to which the Claim relates unless (a) it was not reasonably possible to file the Claim within such time; and (b) the Claim is filed as soon as possible and in no event (except in the case of legal incapacity of the Claimant) later than 12 months after the date of receipt of the service, treatment, or product to which the Claim relates.

4.3.2 Urgent Care Claims

In light of the expedited timeframes for decision of urgent care claims, an urgent care claim for benefits may be submitted by telephone at 1-855-429-1023. The Claim should include at least the following information:

- the identity of the Claimant;
- · a specific medical condition or symptom; and
- a specific treatment, service, or product for which approval or payment is requested.

4.4 Incorrectly Filed Claims

These claims procedures do not apply to any request for benefits that is not made in accordance with these claims procedures, except that (a) in the case of an incorrectly filed pre-service claim, the Claimant shall be notified as soon as possible but no later than 5 days following receipt by the Plan of the incorrectly filed claim; and (b) in the case of an incorrectly filed urgent care claim, the Claimant shall be notified as soon as possible but no later than 24 hours following receipt by the Plan of the incorrectly filed claim. The notice shall explain that the request is not a Claim and describe the proper procedures for filing a Claim. The notice may be oral unless written notice is specifically requested by the Claimant.

4.5 Incomplete Claims

If any information needed to process a Claim is missing, as determined by the Plan, the Claim shall be treated as an incomplete claim.

4.5.1 Incomplete Urgent Care Claims

If an urgent care claim is incomplete, the Plan shall notify the Claimant as soon as possible, but no later than 24 hours following receipt of the incomplete claim. The notification may be made orally to the Claimant unless the Claimant requests written notice. The notification will describe the information necessary to complete the Claim and specify a reasonable time, no less than 48 hours, within which the Claim must be completed. The Plan shall decide the Claim as soon as possible but not later than 48 hours after the earlier of (a) receipt of the specified information; or (b) the end of the period of time provided to submit the specified information.

4.5.2 Other Incomplete Claims

If a pre-service or post-service claim is incomplete, the Plan may deny the Claim or may take an extension of time, as described below. If the Plan takes an extension of time, the extension notice shall include a description of the missing information and shall specify a period, of no less than 45 days, within which the necessary information must be provided. The timeframe for deciding the Claim shall be suspended from the date the extension notice is received by the Claimant until the date the missing necessary information is provided to the Plan. If the requested information is provided, the Plan shall decide the Claim within the extended period specified in the extension notice. If the requested information is not provided within the time specified, the Claim may be decided without that information.

5. Deciding Initial Benefit Claims

5.1 Benefit Interpretation and Administration

In its consideration of a Claim, the Plan or Beacon Health as the case may be, will consult the Plan documents and governing instruments, and all other documents that may have a bearing on the interpretation of the Plan or benefit, including past interpretations or claims of the same general type. The Plan or Beacon Health as the case may be, may also, where appropriate, consult applicable guidance from the Internal Revenue Service, the Department of Labor, or other governmental or private publications or authorities that may assist in interpreting language or administrative procedures of the Plan.

5.2 Adverse Benefit Determination

A decision on a Claim is "adverse" if it is (a) a denial, reduction, or termination of; or (b) a failure to provide or make payment (in whole or in part) for a Plan benefit. A rescission of coverage is treated as an adverse benefit determination (whether or not the rescission has an adverse effect on any particular benefit at that time). A rescission is a retroactive cancellation of coverage, other than for failure to pay premiums.

5.3 Standard Timeframes for Deciding Initial Benefit Claims

5.3.1 Pre-Service Claims

The Plan shall decide an initial pre-service claim within a reasonable time appropriate to the medical circumstances, but no later than 15 days after receipt of the Claim.

5.3.2 Urgent Care Claims

The Plan shall decide an initial urgent care claim as soon as possible, taking into account the medical exigencies, but no later than 72 hours after receipt of the Claim.

5.3.3 Concurrent Care Extension Request

If a Claim is a request to extend a concurrent care decision (defined above) involving urgent care and if the Claim is made at least 24 hours prior to the end of the initially approved period of time or number of treatments, the Claim shall be decided within no more than 24 hours after receipt of the Claim. Any other request to extend a concurrent care decision shall be decided in the otherwise applicable timeframes for pre-service, urgent care, or post-service claims.

5.3.4 Concurrent Care Early Termination

A decision by the Plan to reduce or terminate an initially approved course of treatment is an adverse benefit decision that may be appealed by the Claimant under these claims procedures. Notification to the Claimant of a decision by the Plan to reduce or terminate an initially approved course of treatment shall be provided sufficiently in advance of the reduction or termination to allow the Claimant to appeal the adverse decision and receive a decision on review under these procedures prior to the reduction or termination.

5.3.5 Post-Service Claim

The Plan shall decide an initial post-service claim within a reasonable time, but no later than 30 days after receipt of the Claim.

5.4 Extensions of Time

Despite the specified timeframes, nothing prevents the Claimant from voluntarily agreeing to extend the above timeframes. In addition, if the Plan is not able to decide a pre-service or post-service claim within the above timeframes due to matters beyond its control, one 15-day extension of the applicable timeframe is permitted, provided that the Claimant is notified in writing prior to the expiration of the initial timeframe applicable to the Claim. The extension notice shall include a description of the matters beyond the Plan's control that justify the extension and the date by which a decision is expected. No extension is permitted for urgent care claims.

6. Notification of Initial Benefit Decision by Plan

6.1 Pre-Service and Urgent Care

Written notification of the Plan's decision on a pre-service or urgent care claim shall be provided to the Claimant whether or not the decision is adverse.

6.2 Notification of Adverse Benefit Decision

Written notification shall be provided to the Claimant of the Plan's adverse decision on a Claim (for any type of Claim). The information set forth in the notice will be provided in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant (including, if necessary, in a culturally and linguistically appropriate manner according to applicable requirements), and will include the following:

- information sufficient to identify the Claim involved, including the date of service, health care provider, and claim amount (if applicable);
- a statement of the specific reason(s) for the adverse benefit determination, including any denial code and its corresponding meaning and any Plan standard used in denying the claim;
- reference(s) to the specific Plan provision(s) on which the decision is based;
- a statement advising the Claimant of the right to request diagnosis and treatment codes and their corresponding meanings;
- a description of any additional material or information necessary to perfect the Claim and why such information is necessary;
- a description of the Plan procedures and time limits for appeal of the decision, external review rights, the right to obtain information about the claims procedures, and the right to sue in federal court after exhausting the Plan's claims procedures;
- a statement disclosing any internal rule, guidelines, protocol or similar criterion relied on in making the adverse decision (or a statement that such information will be provided free of charge upon request);
- if the decision involves scientific or clinical judgment, either an explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment applying the terms of the Plan to the Claimant's medical circumstances or a statement that such explanation will be provided at no charge upon request;
- if the decision is based on a Plan standard (such as a medical necessity standard), a description of that standard;
- in the case of an urgent care claim, an explanation of the expedited review methods available for such Claims; and
- contact information for the DOL's Employee Benefits Security Administration and any applicable state consumer assistance program.

Notification of an adverse decision by the Plan on an urgent care claim may be provided orally, but written notification shall be furnished not later than three days after the oral notice.

7. Appeal of an Adverse Benefit Determination

7.1 How to File an Appeal

For a description of the appeals process for pharmacy claims, please see Plan's Appeals Process – Pharmacy attached to the SPD Exhibit H.

A Claimant has a right to appeal an adverse benefit determination related to medical claims under these claims procedures. Except for urgent care claims, discussed below, an appeal of an adverse benefit determination is filed when a Claimant submits a written Request for Review form (available from the Plan) to:

EMHS Employee Health Plan C/O Beacon Health Attn: Appeals Department 9601 Amberglen Blvd, Ste. 225 Austin, TX 78729

A Request for Review form will be treated as received by the Plan on the date that it is deposited in the U.S. Mail for first-class delivery in a properly stamped envelope containing the indicated name and address. The postmark on any such envelope will be proof of the date of mailing.

7.2 Submission of Comments and Other Information

A Claimant has the right to submit documents, written comments, or other information in support of an appeal. A Claimant also has the right to review the Claim file, and is permitted to present evidence and testimony as part of the appeals process. If the Plan has considered, relied upon, or generated any new or additional evidence in deciding the Claim, the Claimant will be provided with such evidence sufficiently in advance of the due date for filing the appeal to afford the Claimant an opportunity to respond to such additional evidence.

7.3 Appeal Deadline

The appeal of an adverse benefit determination must be filed within 180 days following the Claimant's receipt of the notification of adverse benefit decision. In the case of an appeal of a decision by the Plan to reduce or terminate an initially approved course of treatment (see the description above of concurrent care claims) if the Claimant does not file the appeal within 30 days of the Claimant's receipt of the notification of the Plan's decision to reduce or terminate, the Plan may reduce or terminate the approved course of treatment. Failure to comply with this important deadline may cause the Claimant to forfeit any right to any further review of an adverse decision under these

procedures or in a court of law.

7.4 Urgent Care Appeals

In light of the expedited timeframes for decision of urgent care claims, an urgent care appeal may be submitted to the Plan by telephone at 1-855-429-1024 or by fax at 1-877-403-7162. The appeal should include at least the following information:

- the identity of the Claimant;
- a specific medical condition or symptom;
- a specific treatment, service, or product for which approval or payment is requested; and
- any reasons why the appeal should be processed on a more expedited basis.

8. How Appeals Will Be Decided

8.1 Review of Decision

The appeal of an adverse benefit determination will be reviewed and decided by the Plan as Named Fiduciary under the Plan. The person who reviews and decides an appeal will be a different individual than the person who made the initial benefit decision and will not be a subordinate of the person who made the initial benefit decision. The review by the Plan will take into account all information submitted by the Claimant, whether or not presented or available at the initial benefit decision. The Plan will give no deference to the initial benefit decision.

8.2 Consultation With Expert

In the case of a Claim denied on the grounds of a medical judgment, the Plan will consult with a health professional with appropriate training and experience. The health care professional who is consulted on appeal will not be the same individual who was consulted, if any, regarding the initial benefit decision or a subordinate of that individual.

8.3 Access to Relevant Information and Rationale

A Claimant shall, on request and free of charge, be given reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records, and other information relevant to the Claimant's Claim for benefits. The Plan will determine which information is relevant in accordance with applicable law. If the advice of a medical or vocational expert was obtained in connection with the initial benefit decision, the names of each such expert shall be provided on request by the Claimant, regardless of whether the advice was relied on by the Plan. Before issuing a final decision on appeal that is based on a rationale that was

not included in the initial determination, the Plan will provide the Claimant, free of charge, with the rationale as soon as possible and sufficiently in advance of the final internal adverse benefit determination to give the Claimant a reasonable opportunity to respond.

8.4 Expedited Methods for Urgent Care

All necessary information in connection with an urgent care appeal shall be transmitted between the Plan and the Claimant by telephone, fax, or email.

9. Timeframes for Deciding Appeals

9.1 Pre-Service Claims

The Plan shall decide the appeal of a pre-service claim within a reasonable time appropriate to the medical circumstances, but no later than 30 days after receipt by the Plan of the Request for Review form.

9.2 Urgent Care Claims

The Plan shall decide the appeal of an urgent care claim as soon as possible, taking into account the medical exigencies, but no later than 72 hours after receipt by the Plan of the Request for Review.

9.3 Post-Service Claims

The Plan shall decide the appeal of a post-service claim within a reasonable period, but no later than sixty (60) days after receipt by the Plan of the Request for Review form.

9.4 Concurrent Care Claims

The Plan shall decide the appeal of a decision by the Plan to reduce or terminate an initially approved course of treatment (see the definition of concurrent care decision) before the proposed reduction or termination takes place. The Plan shall decide the appeal of a denied request to extend any concurrent care decision in the appeal timeframe for pre-service, urgent care, or post-service claims described above, as appropriate to the request.

10. Notification of Decision on Appeal

10.1 Written Notification

Written notification of the decision on appeal shall be provided to the Claimant whether or not the decision is adverse.

10.2 Notification of Adverse Appeal Decision

The notification provided to the Claimant of an adverse determination on appeal shall include the following, written in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant (including, if necessary, in a culturally and linguistically appropriate manner according to applicable requirements):

- information sufficient to identify the Claim including the date of service, the health care provider, and the claim amount (if applicable);
- the specific reason(s) for the appeal decision including any denial code and its corresponding meaning and any Plan standard used in denying the claim, including a discussion of the decision;
- a reference to the specific Plan provision(s) on which the decision is based;
- a statement advising the Claimant of the right to request diagnosis and treatment codes and their corresponding meanings;
- a statement disclosing any internal rule, guidelines, protocol, or similar criterion relied on in making the adverse decision (or a statement that such information will be provided free of charge upon request);
- a description of the available external review process;
- a statement of the right to sue in federal court;
- a statement indicating entitlement to receive on request, and without charge, reasonable access to or copies of all documents, records, or other information relevant to the determination;
- if the decision involves scientific or clinical judgment, either an explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment applying the terms of the Plan to the Claimant's medical circumstances or a statement that such explanation will be provided at no charge upon request; and
- contact information for the DOL's Employee Benefits Security Administration and any applicable state consumer assistance program.

Notification of an adverse determination on appeal of an urgent care claim may be provided orally, but written notification shall be furnished not later than three days after the oral notice.

11. Right to Request External Review

11.1 Requesting External Review

A Claimant may request external review of an adverse benefit determination by filing a request for external review within 4 months after the date of receipt of a notice of a final adverse benefit determination. The request for external review must be made in writing to the Plan by telephone at 1-855-429-1024, by fax at 1-877-403-7162 or mailed to:

EMHS Employee Health Plan C/O Beacon Health Attn: Appeals Department 9601 Amberglen Blvd, Ste. 225 Austin, TX 78729

11.2 Standard External Review

Within 5 business days following the date of receipt of the external review request, a preliminary review of the request will be performed to determine whether the Claim is eligible for external review. Claims eligible for external review are only those that involve (a) medical judgment (excluding those that involve only contractual or legal interpretation without any use of medical judgment) as determined by the external reviewer; or (b) rescission of coverage (whether or not the rescission has any effect on any particular benefit at the time). Furthermore, a Claim is not eligible for external review if:

- the Claimant is (or was) not covered under the Plan at the time the health care item or service was requested or, in the case of a retrospective review, the Claimant was not covered under the Plan at the time the health care item or service was provided;
- the adverse benefit determination is based on the fact that the Claimant was not eligible for coverage under the Plan (except where the Claim relates to a rescission of coverage);
- the Claimant has not exhausted the Plan's internal appeal process (unless exhaustion is not otherwise required); or
- the Claimant has not provided all the information and forms required to process an external review.

The Claimant will be notified of the results of the preliminary review within one business day after completion of the preliminary review. If the request is incomplete, the notice must describe the information, materials, etc. needed to complete the request, and set forth the time limit for the Claimant to provide the additional information needed (the longer of the initial four-month period within which to request

an external review or, if later, 48 hours (or such longer period specifically identified in the notice) after the receipt of the notice).

If the Claim is eligible for external review, an Independent Review Organization (IRO) will be assigned to conduct the external review.

11.3 Expedited External Review

Expedited external review may be requested when:

- an adverse benefit determination involves a medical condition where the timeframe for completing an expedited internal appeal under the interim final regulations would seriously jeopardize the Claimant's life, health, or ability to regain maximum function, and a request for an expedited internal appeal has been filed: or
- a final internal adverse benefit determination involves (a) a medical condition
 where the timeframe for completing an expedited internal appeal under the
 interim final regulations would seriously jeopardize the Claimant's life, health, or
 ability to regain maximum function; or (b) an admission, availability of care,
 continued stay, or health care item or service for which the Claimant received
 emergency services, but has not been discharged from a facility.

The request for an expedited external review must be made by contacting the Plan by phone at 1-855-429-1024 or by fax at 1-877-403-7162. Immediately upon receipt of the request for an expedited external review, a determination will be made as to whether the request meets the requirements described above for a standard external review, the Claimant will be notified of the determination, and, if the request meets the requirements, an IRO will be assigned as described above for a standard external review.

11.4 External Review by IRO

11.4.1 Providing Information to IRO

The Plan will timely (in the case of an expedited external review, expeditiously) provide to the IRO documents and any information considered in making the adverse benefit determination. The Claimant may submit additional information in writing to the IRO within 10 business days of the IRO's notification that it has been assigned the request for external review.

11.4.2 IRO Review

The IRO will review all of the information and documents timely received. In making its decision, the IRO is not bound by the Plan's prior determination. To the extent

additional information or documents are available and the IRO considers them appropriate, the IRO may also consider the following in reaching a decision:

- the Claimant's medical records;
- the attending health care professional's recommendation;
- reports from appropriate health care professionals and other documents submitted by the Plan, the Claimant, or the Claimant's treating health care provider:
- the terms of the Claimant's summary plan description;
- evidence-based practice guidelines;
- any applicable clinical review criteria developed and used by the Plan; and
- the opinion of the IRO's clinical reviewer or reviewers after considering information noted above, as appropriate.

11.4.3 Notification of IRO Decision

The IRO will provide written notice of the final external review decision to the Claimant and the Plan within 45 days after the IRO receives the request for external review. The notice will contain a general description of the reason for the request for external review and a discussion of the principal reason or reasons for its decision, including the rationale for its decision and any evidence-based standards that were relied on in making its decision. To the extent the final external review decision reverses the Plan's decision (as was reflected in the notice of adverse benefit determination), the Plan shall follow the final external review decision of the IRO (but may initiate judicial review, as described below).

In the case of an expedited external review, the IRO will provide the notice of the final external review decision as expeditiously as the Claimant's medical condition or circumstances require, but in no event more than 72 hours after the IRO receives the request for an expedited external review. If the IRO's notice of decision is not in writing, the IRO must provide written confirmation of the decision within 48 hours.

12. Judicial Review

Upon completion of the Plan's internal review procedures or the external review procedures, either the Claimant or the Plan may request judicial review of the final decision on the Claim. Any action brought by, or on behalf of, a Claimant for Plan benefits must be filed not later than 24 months after completion of the Plan's claims process (including, if applicable, external review).

EMHS Employee Health Plan Appeals Procedures – Pharmacy Claims

1. Introduction

1.1 Introduction

Under Department of Labor ("DOL") regulations, claimants are entitled to full and fair review of any claims made under the EMHS Employee Health Plan (the "Plan"). The procedures described in this document are intended to comply with DOL regulations by providing reasonable procedures governing the appeal of adverse benefit determinations for pharmacy claims.

1.2 Purpose of This Document

This document, which is a separate document that accompanies the EMHS Employee Health Plan Document and Summary Plan Description ("SPD"), describes how appeals of pharmacy claims are made and decided under the Plan. The SPD describes the benefits provided under the Plan.

2. Definitions

Certain words and phrases that are used frequently throughout this document are explained below. If you are uncertain about the meaning of a word or phrase, contact the Plan Administrator for further clarification.

2.1 Claim

A "Claim" is any request for a Plan benefit or benefits made in accordance with the claims procedures set forth in the Plan. A communication regarding benefits that is not made in accordance with these procedures will not be treated as a Claim.

2.2 Claimant

You become a "Claimant" when you make a request for a Plan benefit or benefits in accordance with the Plan's claims procedures.

2.3 Geisinger

"Geisinger" means Geisinger Health Options

The "Plan" is the EMHS Employee Health Plan.

2.4 Plan Administrator and Named Fiduciary

EMHS is the "Plan Administrator" and "Named Fiduciary" under the Plan with the ultimate responsibility for making claim and appeal decisions. EMHS has the

discretionary authority to interpret the Plan in order to make benefit decisions as it may determine in its sole discretion. EMHS also has the discretionary authority to make factual determinations as to whether any individual is entitled to receive any benefits under the Plan. EMHS has contracted with Geisinger to assist in the appeals process, but has not delegated final decision making to Geisinger.

2. Appeal of an Adverse Benefit Determination - Pharmacy

A Claimant has a right to appeal an adverse benefit determination made by Geisinger under these claims procedures. Except for urgent care claims, discussed below, a request for an appeal must be submitted **in writing** and received by Geisinger within **one hundred eighty (180) days** following receipt of the notification of an adverse benefit determination. It is important to let Geisinger know whether or not the requested services have been received.

Appeals are to be sent to

Geisinger Health Options Appeal Department 100 North Academy Avenue Danville, PA 17822-3220

FAX: 570-271-7225

A Claimant has the right to submit documents, written comments, or other information in support of an appeal. A Claimant also has the right to review the Claim file, and is permitted to present evidence and testimony as part of the appeals process. If the Plan has considered, relied upon, or generated any new or additional evidence in deciding the Claim, the Claimant will be provided with such evidence sufficiently in advance of the due date for filing the appeal to afford the Claimant an opportunity to respond to such additional evidence.

A. Pre-Service Appeal

1). Pre-Service Appeal Review for Denials not based on Medical Judgment (Complaint): A Pre-Service Appeal of an adverse benefit determination that is not based in whole or in part on a medical judgment will be reviewed by the Member Satisfaction Review Committee. The Member Satisfaction Review Committee shall consist of a minimum of three (3) or more individuals who did not previously participate in the matter under review and shall not be subordinates of the person(s) who made the adverse benefit determination or of previous reviewers. At least one-third of the Member Satisfaction Review Committee shall not be employed by Geisinger or its related subsidiaries or affiliates.

The Member Satisfaction Review Committee will fully and fairly consider all available information relevant to the Claimant's appeal including any material submitted by the

Claimant to Geisinger. Geisinger shall provide at least fifteen (15) days advance written notification of the review procedures, date and the Claimant's right to attend the Member Satisfaction Review Committee meeting.

- (2). Pre-Service Appeal Review for Denial Based on Medical Judgment (Grievance): A Pre-Service Appeal of an adverse benefit determination that is based in whole or in part on a medical judgment will be reviewed by the Internal Review Committee. The Internal Review Committee is comprised of three (3) or more individuals, one of which is a licensed physician, who did not previously participate in the decision to deny coverage or payment for the service and shall not be subordinates of the person(s) who made the adverse benefit determination. The Internal Review Committee shall include the written input and/or presence of a licensed physician or approved licensed pharmacist in the same or similar specialty that typically manages or consults on the health care service, condition, performs the procedure or provides the treatment and who was not previously involved in the matter under review. The Committee will consider the full record including any aspects of clinical care involved and make an independent and fair decision regarding the appeal. Upon request from the Claimant or a health care provider with the Claimant's written consent, Geisinger shall provide the Claimant or the health care provider with access to the information relating to the matter being grieved at no cost and shall permit the member and such health care provider to provide additional verbal or written data or other material to support the appeal. The Claimant and/or the health care provider who filed the appeal have the right to appear before the Internal Review Committee. Geisinger and the Claimant have the right to be represented by an attorney or other individual before the Internal Review Committee. Geisinger shall provide the Claimant and/or health care provider at least fifteen (15) days advance notification, in writing, of the hearing procedures, date, and of their right to attend the Internal Review meeting.
- (3). Pre-Service Appeal Time Frame for Decision. A Pre-Service Appeal, whether denied in whole or in part based on a medical judgment, or whether denied in whole or in part not based on a medical judgment, will be reviewed and a decision made no later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the Claimant's written request. Geisinger shall provide the Claimant with a written notification of Geisinger's decision no later than thirty (30) days from receipt. The written notification from Geisinger will include:
 - a) the basis for the decision in easily understandable language;
 - b) reference to the specific Plan provisions on which the decision is based;
 - notification of the fact that the Member is entitled to receive, upon verbal or written request and free of charge, copies of all documents, records and other information relevant to the appeal including instructions for requesting a written statement of clinical rationale
 - d) including clinical review criteria used, if applicable;

- e) contact information for the DOL's Employee Benefits Security Administration and any applicable state consumer assistance program;
- the Member may have the right to request an external appeal review conducted by an Independent Review Organization; and
- g) A statement of the right to sue in federal court

B. Post-Service Appeal

- (1). Post-Service Appeal Procedure. A Post-Service Appeal is a request to change an adverse benefit determination for care or services that have already been received by the Claimant. A Claimant may request a Post-Service Appeal in writing to Geisinger. Geisinger will provide a full and fair review of the appeal.
- (2). Post-Service Appeal Review for Denials not based on Medical Judgment. A Post-Service Appeal of an Adverse Benefit Determination that is not based in whole or in part on a medical judgment will be reviewed by the Member Satisfaction Review Committee. The Member Satisfaction Review Committee shall consist of a minimum of three (3) or more individuals who did not previously participate in the matter under review and shall not be subordinates of the person(s) who made the adverse benefit determination or of previous reviewers. At least one-third of the Member Satisfaction Review Committee shall not be employed by Geisinger or its related subsidiaries or affiliates. The Member Satisfaction Review Committee will fully and fairly consider all available information relevant to the Claimant's appeal including any material submitted by the Claimant to Geisinger. Geisinger shall provide at least fifteen (15) days advance written notification of the review procedures, date and the Claimant's right to attend the Member Satisfaction Review Committee meeting.
- (3). Post-Service Appeal for Denials based on Medical Judgment. A Post-Service Appeal of an Adverse Benefit Determination that is based in whole or in part on a medical judgment will be reviewed by the Internal Review Committee. The Internal Review Committee is comprised of three (3) or more individuals, one of which is a licensed physician, who did not previously participate in the decision to deny coverage or payment for the service and shall not be subordinates of the person(s) who made the adverse benefit determination. The Internal Review Committee shall include the written input and/or presence of a licensed physician or approved licensed pharmacist in the same or similar specialty that typically manages or consults on the health care service, condition, performs the procedure or provides the treatment and who was not previously involved in the matter under review. The Committee will consider the full record including any aspects of clinical care involved and make an independent and fair decision regarding the appeal. Upon request from the Claimant or a health care provider with the Claimant's written consent, Geisinger shall provide the Claimant or the health care provider with access to the information relating to the matter being grieved at no cost and shall permit the Claimant and such health care provider to provide additional verbal or written data or other material to support the appeal. The Claimant and the

Exhibit H – Pharmacy Appeals Process

health care provider who filed the appeal have the right to appear before the Internal Review Committee. Geisinger and the Claimant have the right to be represented by an attorney or other individual before the Internal Review Committee. Geisinger shall provide the Claimant and/or health care provider at least fifteen (15) days advance notification, in writing, of the hearing procedures, date, and of their right to attend the Internal Review Committee meeting.

- (4). Post-Service Appeal Time Frame for Decision. A Post-Service Appeal, whether denied in whole or in part based on a medical judgment, will be reviewed and a decision made no later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the written request. Geisinger shall provide the Claimant with written notification of Geisinger's decision no later than thirty (30) days from receipt. The written notification from Geisinger shall include:
 - a) the basis for the decision in easily understandable language;
 - b) reference to the specific Plan provisions on which the decision is based;
 - notification of the fact that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon verbal or written request and free of charge, copies of all documents, records and other information relevant to the appeal including instructions for requesting a written statement of clinical rationale including clinical review criteria used, if applicable;
 - d) contact information for the DOL's Employee Benefits Security Administration and any applicable state consumer assistance program;
 - e) the Claimant may have the right to request an external appeal review conducted by an Independent Review Organization; and
 - f) a statement of the right to sue in federal court

C. Urgent Care Appeal

- (1). Urgent Care Appeal Procedure. A claim involving Urgent Care is any claim for medical care or treatment with respect to which the application of the time periods for making non-urgent care determinations:
 - a) could seriously jeopardize the life or health of the Claimant, or the ability of the Claimant to regain maximum function as determined by an individual acting on behalf of the plan applying the judgment of a prudent layperson who possesses an average knowledge of health and medicine; or
 - in the opinion of a physician with knowledge of the Claimant's medical condition, would subject the Claimant to severe pain that cannot be adequately managed without the care or treatment that is the subject of the request.

- (2). Request of an Urgent Care Appeal. A Claimant or a Claimant's health care provider may request an Urgent Care Appeal either orally or in writing. The Claimant or the Claimant's health care provider requesting the Urgent Care Appeal may contact Geisinger by telephone, fax or other methods that will expedite receipt of the information by Geisinger. Geisinger will contact the requestor by telephone, fax or other prompt method to resolve the Claimant's appeal. Geisinger will provide a full and fair review of the appeal.
- (3). Review of an Urgent Care Appeal. Geisinger shall perform an Urgent Care Appeal Review and render a decision within seventy two (72) hours of receipt of the Claimant's request. The Claimant shall be responsible to provide information to Geisinger in an expedited manner to allow Geisinger to conform to the Urgent Care Appeal requirements. The Urgent Care Internal Review Committee shall be comprised of three (3) or more individuals one of which is a licensed physician, who did not previously participate in the decision to deny coverage or payment for the service and who are not subordinates of the person(s) who made the adverse benefit determination.

The Urgent Care Appeal review shall include the written input and/or presence of a licensed physician or approved licensed pharmacist in the same or similar specialty that typically manages or consults on the health care service, condition, performs the procedure, or provides the treatment and who was not previously involved in the matter under review. Geisinger shall provide the Claimant with written notification of Geisinger's decision that shall include:

- a) the basis for the decision in easily understandable language;
- b) reference to the specific Geisinger provisions on which the decision is based;
- notification of the fact that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon verbal or written request and free of charge, copies of all documents, records and other information relevant to the appeal including instructions for requesting a written statement of clinical rationale including clinical review criteria used, if applicable; and
- d) contact information for the DOL's Employee Benefits Security Administration and any applicable state consumer assistance program;
- e) the Claimant may have the right to request an external appeal review conducted an Independent Review Organization; and
- f) A statement of the right to sue in federal court

D. External Review

- (1). External Review Procedure. If an external review request is filed with the Plan within four months after the date of receipt of a notice of an adverse benefit determination or final internal adverse benefit determination, the Plan will assign an independent review organization (IRO) as required by and in accordance with all applicable State and Federal regulations. Within five (5) business days of the Plan's date of receipt of an external review request, the Plan shall (i) complete a preliminary review of the request and (ii) issue a notice to the Claimant within one (1) business day after completion of the preliminary review. If the request is complete but not eligible for external review, the notification will include the reasons for its ineligibility and contact information for the Employee Benefits Security Administration. If the request is not complete, the notification will describe the information or materials needed to make the request complete. The IRO will notify the Claimant of acceptance for external review and will inform the Claimant that they may submit in writing, within ten (10) business days, any additional information the Claimant would like the IRO to consider in the review. The IRO will perform an independent claim review and will not be bound by decisions or conclusions reached during the Plan's internal claims and appeals process. In addition to the documents and information provided, the assigned IRO, to the extent the information or documents are available and the IRO considers them appropriate, will consider the following in reaching a decision:
 - a) The Claimant's medical records;
 - b) The attending health care professional's recommendation;
 - c) Reports from appropriate health care professionals and other documents submitted by the Plan, Claimant, or the Claimant's treating provider;
 - d) The terms of the Claimant's Plan to ensure that the IRO's decision is not contrary to the terms of the Plan, unless the terms are inconsistent with applicable law;
 - e) Appropriate practice guidelines, which must include applicable evidence-based standards and may include any other practice guidelines developed by the Federal government, national or professional medical societies, boards, and associations;
 - f) Any applicable clinical review criteria developed and used by the Plan unless the criteria are inconsistent with the terms of the Plan or with applicable law; and
 - g) The opinion of the IRO's clinical reviewer or reviewers after considering information described in this section to the extent the information or documents are available and the clinical reviewer or reviewers consider appropriate.
- (2). Time Frame for Decision. The IRO will provide written notice of the final external review decision to the Claimant and the Plan within forty-five (45) days after the IRO

receives the request for external review. The decision will be in writing and will include the following:

- a) A general description of the reason for the request for external review, including information sufficient to identify the claim (including the date or dates of service, the health care provider, the claim amount (if applicable), the diagnosis code and its corresponding meaning, and the reason for the previous denial);
- b) The date the IRO received the assignment to conduct the external review and the date of the IRO's decision;
- c) References to the evidence or documentation including the specific coverage provisions and evidence-based standards, considered in reaching its decision;
- d) A discussion of the principal reason for its decision, including the rationale for its decision and evidence-based standards that were relied on in making its decision:
- e) A statement that the determination is binding except to the extent that other remedies may be available under State or Federal law to either the PPO or the Member:
- f) A statement that judicial review may be available to the Claimant; and
- g) Current contact information, including phone number, for any applicable office of health insurance consumer assistance or ombudsman.
- (3). Binding Decision. The Claimant and the Plan will be bound by the final decision of the IRO except to the extent that other remedies are available under State or Federal law. The requirement that the decision be binding shall not preclude the Plan from making payment on the claim or otherwise providing benefits at any time, including after a final external review decision that denies the claim or otherwise fails to require payment or benefits.

The Plan must provide any benefits (including making payment on the claim) pursuant to the final external review decision without delay, regardless of whether the Plan intends to seek judicial review of the external decision and unless or until there is a judicial decision.

(4). Expedited External Grievance/Adverse Benefit Determination Review Procedure. The Claimant or the health care provider with the Claimant's written consent, who is dissatisfied with the decision of the Plan's Expedited Grievance Review, may appeal

orally or in writing to the Plan within two (2) business days of receipt of the Expedited Grievance Review decision.

NOTE: Under certain circumstances, which will be outlined to the Claimant in the Plan's appeal correspondence, an expedited external review may be requested at the same time the Claimant requests an expedited appeal.

- (5). Preliminary Review. If the Plan determines the expedited external review request meets the Expedited External Grievance requirements, notice will be sent to the Claimant within one (1) business day after completion of the preliminary review. If the request is complete but not eligible for external review, the notification will include the reasons for its ineligibility and contact information for the Employee Benefits Security Administration. If the request is not complete, the notification will describe the information or materials needed to make the request complete.
- (6). External Review Procedure. If an external review is warranted, the Plan will assign an IRO as required by and in accordance with all applicable State and Federal regulations. The Plan will provide all the necessary documents and information considered in making the final adverse benefit determination to the external IRO by any available expeditious method. The IRO, to the extent the information or documents are available and the IRO considers them appropriate, will consider the information or documents as set forth in Section D(1). In reaching a decision, the IRO will review the claim de novo and shall not be bound by any decisions or conclusions reached during the Plan's internal appeal procedures.
- (7). Notice of the Final External Review Decision. The IRO will provide notice of the final external review decision as expeditiously as the Claimant's medical condition requires, but in no event later than seventy-two (72) hours after the IRO receives a request for an expedited external review.

If the notice from the IRO to the Claimant is not in writing, within forty-eight (48) hours after the date of providing the notice, the IRO will provide written confirmation of the decision to the Claimant and the Plan.

Upon completion of the Plan's internal review procedures or the external review procedures, either the Claimant or the Plan may request judicial review of the final decision on the Claim. Any action brought by, or on behalf of, a Claimant for Plan benefits must be filed not later than 24 months after completion of the Plan's claims process (including, if applicable, external review).